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ILLINOIS
Robert M. Farthing, Mount Vernon.
INDIANA

Frank B. Rowley, Augola.
Benjamin F. Pitman, Bedford.
William B. Thornley, Jeffersonville,
Sam J, Bufkin, Newcastle,
Taylor H. Johnson, Plainfield.
Edward M. Ray, Scottsburg.
George B, Young, Shelbyville,
KANSAS
Philip F, Grout, Almena.
Jacob L. Ritter, Bronson.
Wiley Caves, Inman.
Charles O, Bollinger, Tola.
Gilbert B. Goodson, La Cygne.
David D. MeIntosh, Marion.
Louella M. Holmes, Mound City.
John F. Oliver, Oxford. 4
Walter R. Dysart, Parker.
Belford A. Likes, Pomona.
Besszie W, Brennan, Strong,
William A, Walt, Thayer.
Ezra E. Shields, Wathena.
Lee Mobley, Weir.
William B. Hart, Westmoreland.
Elmer Alban, Westphalia.
< MICHIGAN
Arthur B. Backus, Harbor Springs.
MISSISSIPPI
Preston T. Smith, Itta Bena,
NEW HAMPSHIRE
Russel B. Henchman, East Jaffrey.
Nellie L. Mason, Greenfield.
Frank BE. West, Lyme.
Orriman K, Whipple, Sugar Hill
Carlton E, Sparhawk, Walpole.
- NEVADA
Carl ¥. Erickson, Lovelock.
NEW YORK
Edward J. Woods, Bayport.
Willinm ¥. Winterbotham, Old Forge.
William A, Eagleson, Staten Island.

NORTH CAROLINA

Ella E. Meshaw, Council.
Pat L. Whitehead, Enfield.
Fred H. Morris, Kernersville,
Nollie M. Patton, Morganton,
John L. Dixon, Oriental.
John L. Vest, Rosemary.
Lula M. Choate, Sparta.

OHIO

Jennie B, Coburn, Amherst,
(Cleona M. Dunnick, Ashville.
Charles E. McClelland, Attica.
Velma T. Dunlap, Avon Lake.
Emmanuiel M. Flower, Blackfork,
J. Schuyler Hossler, Bloomville,
James U. Riley, Brookville.
William H. Lambert, Delta,
Harry 8. Juday, Eldorado.
Robert J. Pollock, Fairpoint.
Jumes M. Leatherman, Hoytyille,
Charles 8. Case, Jefferson.
Howard J. Swearingen, Kensington.
Ida (0, Steinman, Logan.

Joseph Jameson, Lorain,

Harvey C. Wilson, Lyons,

Earl C. Mikesell, New Paris.
Stanley O. Kerr, Ottawa.

Harry E, Cahill, Pandora.

Bert E. Woodward, Stryker.
Dora D. Doughty, Walbridge.
Ross H. Hartsock, Waynesville.

TENNESSEE

Samuel N. Barr, Baxter.

William 8. Brooks, Cumberland Gap.
Sam A, Winstead, Dresden.

John M. Thompson, Englewood.
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Mary E. Ferguson, Gates,
Mary P. McNeely, Humboldt,
William H, Jones, Lancing.
TEXAS
Robert L. Jones, Celeste.
Sallie E. St. Jacque, Higgins.
William E. Singleton, Jefferson.
William A. Gatlin, Lakeview.
Fannie Stieber, Rocksprings.
George E. Longacre, Tyler.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

Moxbay, December 13, 1926

The House met at 12 o’clock noon.
The Chaplain, Rev, James Shera Montgomery, D. D., offered
the following prayer:

Holy! Holy! Holy! Lord God Almighty, we come to Thee
with hnmble confidence, which is inspired by Thy unfailing
providential care. How amazingly free is Thy bountiful mercy !
Do Thou continue with us, blessed Lord, that we may rise to
the highest plane of life, where all lower feelings cease to rule,
We would accept our duties with cheerfulness. Teach us how
to use the world with wisdom and how to make all things serve
our fellow men. May there be essential unity of purpose
throughout our country and the blessing of peace and good will
in all the earth. In the adorable name of Jesus. Amen.

The Journal of the proceedings of Saturday, December 11,
was read and approved.

AGRICULTURAL APPROPRIATION BILL

Mr. MAGEE of New York, from the Commitiee on Appro-
priations, by direction of that committee, reported the hill
(H. R. 15008) making appropriations for the Department of
Agriculture for the fiscal year ending June 30. 1928, and for
other purposes (Repf. No. 1619), which, with the accompanying
papers, was referred fo the Committee of the Whole House on
the state of the Union and ordered printed.

Mr, BYRNS reserved all points of order.

BESSIONS OF COMMITTEE ON MILITARY AFFAIRS

Mr, JAMES. At the unanimous suggestion of the House
Committee on Military Affairs, Mr. Speaker, I ask unanimous
consent that the Committee on Military Affairs of the House,
and its subcommittees, be allowed to sit while the House is in
session for the holding of hearings and for the consideration of
bills,

The SPEAKER. Is there objection to the request of the
gentleman from Michigan?

There was no objection,

INTERIOR DEPARTMENT APPROPRIATION BILL

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Speaker, I move that the House re-
solve itself info the Committee of the Whole House on the
state of the Union for the further consideration of the bill
(H. R. 14827) making appropriations for the Department of the
Interior for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1928, and for other
purposes.

The motion was agreed to.

Accordingly the House resolved itself into the Committee of
the Whole House on the state of the Union for the considera-
tion of the bill H. R. 14827, with Mr. MicHEexER in the chair,

The Clerk read the title of the bill

The CHAIRMAN. The Clerk will read,

The Clerk read to line 14, on page 5.

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, I offer an amendment, which
I send to the Clerk’s desk. £

The CHAIRMAN, The gentleman from Michigan offers an
amendment, which the Clerk will report.

The Clerk read as follows:

Amendment offered by Mr. CramTON : On page 5, line 11, strike out
* $135,000 " and insert in lien thereof “$125,000."

Mr, CRAMTON. This is to correct a typographical error or
a clerical error and to make the amount conform to the appro-
priation named in the paragraph.

The amendment was agreed to.

The Clerk read as follows:

Surveying public lands: For surveys and resurvevs of public lands,
examination of surveys heretofore made and reported to be defective
or fraudulent, inspecting mineral deposits, coal flelds, and timber dis-
tricts, making fragmentary surveys, and such other surveys or examina-
tions as may be required for identification of lands for purposes of
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evidence In any sult or proceeding in behalf of the United States, under
the supervision of the Commissioner of the General Land Office and
direction of the Secrctary of the Interlor, $800,000: Provided, That the
gum of not execeeding 10 per cent of the amount hereby appropriated
may be expended by the Commissioner of the General Land Office, with
the approval of the Secretary of the Interior, for the purchase of metal
or. other equally durable monuments to be used for publicland surver
corncrs wherever practicable : Provided further, That not to exceed
$10,000 of this appropriation may be expended for salaries of employees
of the field surveying service temporarily detailed to the General Land
Office: Provided further, That not to exceed $15,000 of this appropria-
tion may be used for the survey, classification, and sale of the lands
and timber of the so-called Oregon & California Railroad lands and
the Coos Bay Wagon Road lands: Provided further, That not to exceed
$50,000 of this appropriation way be used for surveys and resurveys,
under the rectangular system provided by law, of publie lands deemed
to be valuable for oil and oil shale: Provided further, That no part
of this appropriation shall be available for surveys or resurveys of
publie lands in any State which, under the act of August 18, 1864
(128 Stats. p. 305), advances money to the United States for such
purposes for expenditure during the fiscal year 1028 : Provided further,
That whenever the Commissioner of the General Land Office shall find
that the expense of travel can be reduced thereby he may, in leu of
sctual operating expenses, under such regulations as he may prescribe,
anthorize the payment of not to exceed 7 cents per mile for an auto-
mobile used on officlal business: Provided further, That this appro-
priation may be expended for surveys made under the supervision of
the Commissioner of the General Land Office, but when expended for
gnrveys that would not otherwise be chargeable hereto it shall be
reimbursed from the applicable appropriation, fund, or special deposit,

Mr. COLTON. Mr. Chairman, I make a point of order
against the proviso on page 9, lines 21 to 25, that it is legislation
on an appropriation bill; and if there is any question about my
point being well taken, I would like to be heard.

The CHAIRMAN. The Chair will be pleased to hear the
gentleman. .

Mr. COLTON. Mr. Chairman, I understand if this proviso
is justified at all, it is justified on the ground of being a limita-
tion on an appropriation, and if it is a limitation under the
Holman Rule it must be bottomed upon one of three proposi-
tions. It must either reduce the salaries of employees of the
United States, or it must reduce the number of employees or it
must reduce the amount appropriated in this bill

It is obvious, Mr. Chairman, that it does not do either one
of these three things. If these words are continued in the bill,
that will not reduce the amount appropriated in the bill at all
The fact of the matter is, Mr. Chairman, I think it must be
admitted that this is an attempt to nullify or in effect repeal
the provisions of an existing statute, namely, the act of August
18, 1804. This can not be done on an appropriation bill. I may
gay, incidentally, Mr. Chairman, that a bill to repeal the statute
of August 18, 1804, is already being cousidered by a regular
standing committee of this House, and this attempt to do indi-
rectly what the rules forbid directly can not be justified.

I take it the Chair is familiar with the reading of subdivicion
2 of Rule XXI. I only need, perhaps, to call the Chair's atten-
tion to it. The part of subdivision 2, Rule XXI, to which I
want to call the Chair’s especial attention, is this:

Nor ghall any provizion in any such bill or amendment thereto chang-
ing existing law be in order, except such as being germane to the sub-
ject matter of the bill shall retrench expenditures by the reduction of
the number and salary of the officers of the United States, by the
reduction of the compensation of any person paid out of the Treasury
of the United States, or by the reduection of amounts of money covered
* by the biil,

This, of course, refers to appropriation bills.

Now, Mr. Chairman, if a provision in an appropriation bill,
which is an attempt at a limitation, is not bottomed on one of
these three propositions it must fail, and I think it is perfectly
obyvious that this language is not bottomed on any one of those
three propositions, and in my judgment it is clearly and
obviously out of order. ;

There are a number of rulings by previous occupants of the
Chair, one particularly by the distingnished minority leader,
which T believe is found on page 502 of the Book of Rules,
which expressly states in clear language the point I have tried
to bring to the attention of the Chair here this morning. It is
admitted, in view of the statement of the chairman of the sub-
committee, that this is intended to, in effect, nullify the provi-
sions of the aet of August 18, 1804

Mr. CRAMTON. Tle whole difficulty with the gentleman's
argunment lies in hiz assumption that the provise in question
does change existing law. As a matter of fact the proviso does
not change existing law. If this bill becomes a law, the act of
1894 continues in full force and effect. Under this proviso it is
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stated that no part of the $800,000 carried in this paragrsph
shall be available for use in any State that makes advances fo
the Government nuder the act of 1804, If the DIill becomes a
law as presented to the House, what is the cffect? The act of
1894 continues in effect, and the State of Utah can continue to
make advances and the Interior Department can continue to
accept the advances, and the General Laud Office can continue
to use the money, and immediately after they have used the
money the State of Utah can present the item for reimburse-
ment, and it would be in order in an appropriation bill to
reimburse it. There is no change made in the law by this
proviso. All the proviso does is to limit the object and expendi-
ture and use of the money. That is the function of the Appro-
priations Committee, to recommend to the House, within lawful
purposes, for what purpose the money shall be used.

It would have been entirely in order for the commiitee to
have recommended to the House that of this $800,000 no part
should be used in the State of Utah. Whether it was wise or
not, that would be within the jurisdiction of our committee.
On the confrary, it would have been within the jurisdiction of
the committee to provide that the whole $800,000 should be used
in the State of Utah and carry no money for any other State.
In other words, all we have done is to say that the $£300,000
shall not be used in States that do a certain thing. That
involyes no task on the discretion of any official, that changes
no law; it is purely a designation of the purpose for which the
appropriation can be nsed and is entirely in order.

Mr. COLTON. Mr. Speaker, if I may reply to the gentleman,
I presume that the Chair is familiar with the act of August 18,
1894, which provides that a State may advance money for the
survey of public lands within its borders and that the Govern-
ment shall reimburse the State for such advances. The only
object of that provision is to enable the State to hasten the
survey of public lands within its borders. This limitation pro-
vides that if they do that they shall not share in the bencfits of
this fund.

The gentleman from Michigan gets away from the guestion:
he admits that it is a limitation. If it is a limitation, it must
be bottomed on one of the three propositions set forth in
Rule XXI.

Mr. CRAMTON. The gentleman fails to distinguish be-
tween legislation and limitation. If it was legislation, it
would have to be bottomed on the provision that the gentleman
speaks of. This is not legislation.
ﬂl[:‘. COLTON. The gentleman admits that this 18 a limita-

on?

Mr. CRAMTON. Tt is certainly a limitation, and within the
jurisdiction of the Appropriations Committee.

Mr, COLTON. I submit that if it is a limitation that nulli-
fies a statute, it comes squarely within the provisions of Rule
XXI, and must either reduce the number of employees or
reduce the salaries of employees, or reduce the amount appro-
priated in the bill.

The CHAIRMAN. The Chair is familiar with the rule, and
appreciates the logic of the gentleman from Utah. However,
it seems to the Chair that the holdings in the past have clearly
been that a limitation is not necessarily required to retrench
expenditures to be held in order. It has been held in a num-
ber of cases that the designation of the purpose for which
an appropriation is to be spent is in order. Since the House
may decline to appropriate for a purpose authorized by law,
it may by limitation prohibit the nuse of the money for a part
of the purpose while appropriating for the remainder of it. The
Chair feels that that is all that this particular provision in the
bill does. It simply designates where this money shall not be
spent, and if the Chair is right in that conclusion, then the
provision is in order, and the Chair therefore overrules the
point of order

Mr. COLTON. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the last
word. Mr. Chairman, inasmuch as the chairman of the sub-
committee in his remarks the other day spoke especially against
the State of Utah, I want fo make this statement: Under the
provisions of the act of August 18, 1804, the State of Utah
has only once made an advance for the survey of public lands
within its borders. It did advance at one time the sum of
$100,000, becaunse it was specially anxious that the survey of
certain public lands should be made. That has been reim-
bursed in three different installments, one of $30,000, one of
$40,000, and one of $10,000, respectively. So that the practice,
so called, as pointed out by the Chairman the other day has
been carried ont only to the extent that I have indicated.
Only once was such an appropriation made. 1 believe, how-
ever—and, Mr. Chairman, what I say is said with due respect
for the distinguished Chairman—that a dangerous precedent
has been established. When a subcommittee of the Committee
on Appropriations can come in here and in effect nullify an
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existing statute by a limitation of this kind, we are treading
on dangerous ground. It simply means that if any State ad-
vances money under the act of August 18, 1804, to hasten the
survey of its public lands, which really is of great benefit to
the Government, then that State shall not participate in the
general fund appropriated for the survey of public lands, and
to all intents and purposes that does nullify and set aside an
existing statute—substantive law. I believe it is a dangerous
precedent, and I regret very much that the language of this bill
has been held in order by our esteemed Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN. The time of the gentleman from Utah has
expired,

Mr. COLTON. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the pro-
viso included within lines 21 to 25, on page 9.
The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from
amendment, which the Clerk will report.

The Clerk read as follows:

Amendment offered by Mr. CoLrox: Page 9, beginning in line 21,
sirike out the proviso ending in line 25,

Mr. COLTON. Mr. Chairman, in effect I have already spoken
upon this amendment, so I only have a few things to =ay in
addition to what I have already said. Am I allowed additional
time under my amendment?

The CHAIRMAN. Without objection, the gentleman will be
recognized.

My. COLTON. I do not want to take up the time of the com-
mittee if it is not a matter of right.

The CHAIRMAN,. Without objection, the Chair will recog-
nize the gentleman.

Mr. COLTON. Mr. Chairman and gentlemen, I think before
the committee goes on record and leaves in an appropriation
bill language of this kind that it should really understand the
sitnation.
Congress could well afford to do this, but, as I pointed out, there
has been no abuse of the act of August 18, 1894, My State has
made use of its provisions onece in 10 years. That is not a
habit. It has been a very great benefit to the States of the

Utah offers an

West to have the public lands in their borders surveyed, but it

is also a very great benefit to the Government itself. The
policy of the Government is fo get these lands into private
ownership as soon as possible. The act of August 18, 1804, was
passed in aid of that policy, and because my State on one ocea-

sion only has advanced money and has had sarveyed for the

benefit of the Government and the people of the State a part
of the public domain, it is now openly sought to penalize that
State by providing that if it does that again it shall not partici-
pate in the funds appropriated for the survey of the public
lands, I can not conceive of a plainer case of an attempt on
the part of the Appropriations Committee to nullify an existing
law.

Mr. CHINDBLOM. Mr. Chairman, will the gentleman yield?

Mr. COLTON. Yes,

Mr. CHINDBLOM. Under the act of 1894, as I understand
it, the State of Utalh has determined itself what lands shall be
surveyed, ¥4

Mr. COLTON. Oh, no. It simply makes application to the
General Land Office thuat the Government sghall survey the
publie lands.

Mr. CHINDBLOM. But the State of Utah determines what
lands it wants sarveyed.

Mr. COLTON. No. It makes application for a survey of
these lands, and then the dizcretion is with the department as
to whether it shall survey them or not. My State once ap-
propriated $100,000 to secure a survey of certain lands., It
made application and had the land surveyed. Then, under the
provisions of the act of August 18, 1884, it made application for
reimbursement, and the State was reimbursed in three install-
ment payments. Because it did that it is now attempted by this
limitation to say that if it ever does that again it shall not par-
ticipate in this fund appropriated for the survey of public land.

Mr. HUDSON. Mr. Chairman, will the gentleman yield?

Mr. COLTON. Yes.

jh”elr. HUDSON. About how many States would be affected by
this?
Mr. COLTON. Any State having public land. within its

border may be affected by it. :

Mr. CHINDBLOM. Is the gentleman quite certain that the
effect of this legislation is that if the State of Utah ever does
this again, it will be barred from participating?

Mr. COLTON. Until 1928.

Mr. CHINDBLOM. Of course. It applies only to this ap-
propriation,

Mr, COLTON. Ah, but you are setting a precedent, and it

will be continued next year and the next year and so on. Why
make the limitation at all? The principle is not wrong.

In case of an emergency or an abuse of a statute,
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Mr. CHINDBLOM. That is a matter for the future.

Mr. COLTON. It was stated here that it was for the pur-
pose of nullifying the work done under the act of Augnst 18,
1894,

The CHAIRMAN, The time of the gentleman from TUtah
has expired.

Mr. TAYLOR of Colorado. Mr. Chairman and members of
the committee, I rise to say only a few words in supplement
of what the chairman, Mr. CRAMTON, has said. This is a propo-
sition primarily as to whether the States or the Congress shall
appropriate the Federal money for the public land surveys, and
determine what land shall be surveyed and when, and also
whether or not it or any of it shall be surveyed. We do not
feel that the State of Utah or any other State has the right to
interfere with the orderly survey of the public domain in the
West by simply advancing a large sum of money—=$100,000 or
$1,000,000—if they want to, and, having done so, practically
compelling the Government to make such survey, and where and
when and to what extent as they see fit, and when the survey
is made by the Government surveyors, then compelling the Fed-
eral Government to promptly pay back to the State all the
money that it has advanced.

Mr. COLTON. Mr. Chairman, will the gentleman yield?

Mr. TAYLOR of Colorado, I can not; I have only five
minutes. We do not feel.that we ought to surrender that Fed-
eral governmental function to any State, It is true that no
State has ever taken advantage of that act of Congress of
August 18, 1894, except the State of Utah, but that is one
reason why we put this limitation in during the period of this
year. Utah has advanced $100,000. We have been compelled
to promptly refund all that money to Utah, and our Federal
public-land surveyors have been compelled to quit work at other
places just as deserving and go and survey Utah lands and leave
a large part of the rest of the States without a survey. Nearly
every other western State has public lands urgently needing
a survey, and every such State wants its lands surveyed as well
as Utah. Of course, if they would come in under this bill and
advance the money, the Government would have to stop surveys
already begun and go and survey for the States that advanced
the money.

It is a proposition wholly unfair to the otlier States. Tt dis-
organizes the orderly survey of the public domain by the Fed-
eral Government. It is palpably unjust to every other Western
State and unfair to the Government of the United States to
compel the United States surveying officers to go and survey
any one State simply because it temporarily advances the
money and gets the survey and gets the money right back
again. I do not understand that Utah has got any interest on
her temporary advancement in addition to getting her lands
surveyed in preference to all the other Western States. Maybe
she will bring in a bill for that later.

Mr. HUDSON. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. TAYLOR of Colorado. I will.

Mr. HUDSON. How much does the bill carry for surveying
the public lands?

Mr. TAYLOR of Colorado. I have forgotten the exact sum.
My recollection is it is over $800,000.

Mr. HUDSON. This does not cut down the survey of the
publie lands?

Mr. TAYLOR of Colorado. No; not at all. This provision
in the bill simply prevents the State of Utah from appropriat-
ing another $100,000 and then saying to the Government of the
United States, “ Here, we have raised this money and we insist
under that act that you again drop your work in the other
States and come and survey Utah and also pay us back that
money very quick,”

Mr. TIMBERLAKE. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. TAYLOR of Colorado, I will

Mr. TIMBERLAKE. Do I understand the gentleman to say
if any State under the provisions of the act of 1894 advances
a sum of money for a resurvey that they can have a prefer-
ential right?

Mr. TAYLOR of Colorado. Yes; they can under that act
advance the money and practically compel a prompt survey
and also a very prompt refund of their money. Any State can
create a revolving fund sufficient to get all her lands surveyed
ahead of all the other States and at the expense of Uncle Sam,
and gef all of her money back. All the State is out is the use
of her money for a while during the survey.

Mr, COLTON. If the gentleman will permit, in the interest
of accuracy the gentleman does not want us to infer there is
no diseretion upon the part of the Government. It is optional.

Mr. TAYLOR of Colorado. Under the provisions of that law
obligations of the Government to make the survey is practically
mandatory, and the act says the Government “shall promptly
refund the money to the State.”
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Mr, COLTON. It is mandatory to pay it back and not as to
the survey ; that is optional with the department.

Mr. TAYLOR of Colorado. I do not think the General Land
Office has very much option.

The CHATRMAN. The time of the gentleman has expired.

Mr. TAYLOR of Colorado. I feel that the provision we have
inserted in the bill is eminently fair and just to the rest of the
States and to the Federal Government. That act of August 18,
1894, should be repealed. It permits a species of favoritism
that should not be tolerated.

Mr., CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, my colleague well stated
the conditions of this work of survey as a result of the policy
the State of Utah entered upon, so I want to emphasize just
what the policy seems to be for which my friend from Utah is
contending, Under the act of 1894 that State can tender money
to the Federal Government to be used in surveying the land of
that State, and they insist the Government must accept their
tender when it is made, fo be spent in that State, and as soon
as it is spent the State presents their bill and the Government
pays it back to the State of Utah. For instance, in 1924 they
advanced $50,000; in 1925, $40,000; and in 1926, $10,000; at
least those are the years when the money was refunded, making
a total of $100,000, and now they have created a revolving fund
of $100,000 which they propose to feed to the Federal Govern-
ment as fast as we take it, with the result that the State of
Utah determines how much money the Federal Government will
spend on surveys instead of the Congress determining that fact.
Now we are offering $800,000 in appropriation, of which some
$50,000 or $60,000 will be allotted to the State of Utah under
the provisions in the bill. It does not provide they can not
make advanees, but if they do they will have to get along with
the advance instead of getting any allocation out of the $800,000,

Mr. COLTON. Does the gentleman understand the Interior
Department is bound to comply with the request of the State
for a survey of lands when application is made? Is it not en-
tirely within the discretion of the Secretary of the Interior?

Mr. CRAMTON. The law does not say. I assume there is
some degree of discretion, but if the gentleman will say and
has authority for his State to say that the department is not
bound to accept advances unless they want to, I will be guite
contented.

The CHAIRMAN, The guestion is on agreeing to the amend-
ment offered by the gentleman from Utah.

The question was taken, and the amendment was rejected.

The CHATRMAN. The Clerk will read.

The Clerk read as follows:

GENERAL EXPENSES

For transportation and incidental expenses of ‘officers and clerks of the
Office of Indian Affairs when traveling on official duty; for telegraph
and telephone toll messages on business pertaining to the Indian Serv-
jee sent and received by the Burean of Indian Afairs at. Washington,
and for other necessary expenses of the Indian Serviee for which no
other appropriation is available, $16,000: Provided, That not to exceed
$1,000 of this appropriation may be used for continuing the work of the
competency commission to the Five Civilized Tribes of Oklahoma: Pro-
vided further, That not to exceed $1,000 of the amount herein appropri-
ated may be expended out of applicable funds in the work of determin-
ing the competency of Indians on Indian reservations outside of the
Five Civilized Tribes in Oklahoma,

Mr. HASTINGS. Mr. Chairman, I offer an amendment,

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from Oklahoma offers an
amendment, which the Clerk will report.

The Clerk read as follows:

Amendment offered by Mr. HasTiNGs: Page 12 line 17, strike out
#$1,000" and insert in lieu thereof “§3,000.”

Mr. HASTINGS. Mr. Chairman, if I may have the atten-
tion of the chairman of the subcommittee, let me say that the
item carried in the current law is $5,000. This is not required
to be expended. It is only permissive, and it may be expended
if it is thought necessary.

If T may have the attention of the chairman of the sub-
committee and the Members of the House I want to call at-
tention to the reason why this appropriation for this year
should be increased.

Mr. CRAMTON. Mpr. Chairman, if the gentleman will yield,
I want to make one statement, then if the gentleman wants to
increase the limitation I want to speak further, There was an
item of £90,000, with a limitation that $5,000 shall be used
for this purpose and £15,000 for the purpose named in the next
sentence. But we found there was $75,000 in that item for
employees. We have transferred that to a place elsewhere
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in the bill, Teaving only $15,000 as a total under this provision.
It did not look good to leave $5,000 available for one purpose
and $15,000 for another. That is more than the bureau needs
this year. Of course, to raise the amount to $3,000 does uot
raise: the amount to be expended. I do not see any purpose
in the gentleman's amendment.

Mr. HASTINGS. I will explain to you, if you will bear with
me, in a moment. Under the several agreements with the
Five Civilized Tribes all restrfetions upon the Indians expire
in 1931. There is legislation introduced and pending before
the Committee on Indian Affairs to extend that restrictive
period. The sentiment in the State of Oklahoma—and I ex-
press to some degree the sentiment of the Oklahoma delega-
tion—is that there should be an intensive survey made of
those who need to have their restrictions extended prior to the
enactment of legislation further extending the restrictive
period beyoud 1931. In the last year the Indian Bureau has
taken a ecensus of the restricted Indians of the Five Civilized
Tribes. The report shows that there are 9,100 enrolled re-
stricted members of the Five Civilized Tribes of full Indian
blood, and this report also shows that there are 2286 of
half or more Indian bloed, making a total of 11,386 living
enrolled restricted members of the Five Civilized Tribes.

I think I speak for the Oklahoma delegation and the people
of Oklahoma when I say that it is the general belief that the
competency commission should further survey the living mem-
bers of the Five Civilized Tribes with a view of defermining
what members should be released from the supervision of the
department before this pending legislation is acted upon.

Now, I know that this expenditure is only permissive. I
hope the chairman of the subcommittee will not oppose it. If
it is not thought desirable to be used

The CHATRMAN, The time of the gentleman from Okla-

Mr. HASTINGS. I am going to ask for two additional
minutes.

The CHAIRMAN. The geuntleman from Oklahoma asks to
proceed for two additional minutes, Is there objection?

There was no objection.

Mr. HASTINGS. If it is not thought desirable to use it by
the department within the next year, of conrse it will not be used,

In connection with my remarks, Mr. Chairman, I want to
insert a table which I have already referred to, showing the
number of living restricted Indian members of the Five Civi-
lized Tribes. .

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, I rise to oppose the amend-
ment. In the first place, the Indian Bureau says they will
not need any money for this purpose at this time, and in the
next place the item does not really make any money available
for that purpose. The amount given is necessary for alloca-
tions for another purpose. When it is proposed to do some-
thing under this commission, then the estimate would come
through the Indian Bureau and through the Budget in the
regular way.

Mr. HASTINGS. If the gf.ntleman will yield, I did not get
a copy of these hearings until Saturday. I had no opportunity
to appear before the committee. I did not know that this
appropriation was reduced.

1 might be frank enough to say to the Members of the House
that if this appropriation is going to be cut down to only a
thousand dollars and only a thousand dollars can be used by the
competency commission for the Five Civilized Tribes after June
30, next, you might as well eliminate the whole appropriation.

Mr. CRAMTON. Does the gentleman know how much has
been expended heretofore for this purpose?

Mr. HASTINGS. I know: but it has not been impressed
on the Bureau of Indian Affairs that this intensive survey
should be made before action is had on pending legislation
to extend the restrictive period, and it is important that we
should have that information if the Indian Office expects to
secure favorable action on their recommendation, We want
to eliminate those that are competent to atiend to their own
affairs.

Mr. CRAMTON. I will ask the gentleman if the amount
in the mext paragraph is satisfactory to the gentleman? Is
this the only amendment that the gentleman has in mind to
offer to this paragraph? If the gentleman confines himself
only to that amendment and accepts the understanding that
our action is not to be taken as directing the Indian Burean
to make a larger expenditure, but simply make the money
available, I will accept the amendment,

Mr. HASTINGS. I accept the gentleman's suggestion,

The report of the living restricted members of the Five Civil-
ized Tribes is as follows:
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List of licing enrolled vestricted members of the Five Civilized Tribes, | List of living enrolled restricted members of the Five Civilized Tribes,
by counties by counties—Continued
Nlm N’lﬁnber
Number | Number | yan fui)
County oftull |fhanfoll} mo County of full |fhanfull | m,y
bloos |blcod but bloods [blood but
or more Or more
80 504 | The Creek Nation—Continued
23 100 Seminole. . _....... : 50 16 ]
30 ﬂ Muskogee_ . i 47 | 31 8
SZ o gaabiemil o g snd —n 2221 9| 2,70
Is 31 | The Seminole Nation: Seminole. .....o.o..m.ce... 470 147 | 617
62 379 SUMMARY
60 388
96 505 | Cherokee Nation. . .....ceeecoeeenooenan < e | 2,621 0 3,341
110 601 | Choctaw Nation_____ o SR 445 2,972
47 124, { Chickasaw Nation 1,261 435 1,696
55 o B T R e e e 2,221 539 2,760
24 L e o e e R e e e 470 147 617
163 797
149 583 O s el Ak oy N el Mo (e 9,100 | 2,285 | 11,383
i
;g The CHAIRMAN. The question is on agreeing to the amend-
iz ment,
}% % The amendment was agreed to.
35 216 Mr. LAGUARDIA. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the
- 18 | last word. Coming from the East and from a district where
30 182 | the only contact I have with Indians is the Tammany Braves,
13 87 | I am simply wondering when the Indian Bureau will be able
g % to close its doors and discontinue its affairs. Here we appro-
et 146 | priate $12,901,000 for the Indian Burean. I remember 35 years
9 38 | ago, and 30 years ago, when I went to school in Arizona, that
o 3% | the Indian children went to school with us and lived right next
o 328 | door to us. They have grown up now, and they have been edu-
52 818 | eated. I wonder how much of this guardianship the Indians
g; .f,;‘g really want. It seems to me they wounld be far better off if the
5 366 | Indian Bureaun would simply close its doors. Of course, it may
50 34 | result in the loss of a good many jobs, but would not the Indians
be better off if we could turn over the property to them that
Total. e esrimnenrneas el _a.m L they properly own and discontinue all of this supervision? It
The Cherokee Nation: must be very irksome and unpleasant to them, I should think,
}“"}'@--- ------- - “7; % % to Lave an army of job holders supervise them. The Indians
TRIR - - — . ot
NS  r ais 17 30 47 | now own considerable property, and I believe that they are well
[3) 17 e =T A R B, TR 7 8 15 | able to manage it. Why should we continne the same system
N B - - %% | that was created many, many years ago, after the frontier days,
Rogers_ ... 15 16 31 | a system which is the same to-day as it was 40 years ago? We
Washington__.._......._.__. S 121 43 169 [ have educated a new generation of Indians in the meantime
b - o " 7 | and yet insist upon treating them as incompetents. When I
134 149 533 | was a boy out in Arizona I remember that the worst thing yon
3%’ f}} 3:2 could call 2 man was a “ horse thief,” and then the next thing
50 1 61 | Was to say that “he was as crooked as an Indian agent” I
do not suppose the Indian agents to-day are as crooked as they
2,621 720 3,341 | were then—at least, I hope not—but I should like to know
The Choctaw Nation: from some of you gentlemen whoe are experts in this matter how
Iianlr vy Rl e H e s T AR 143 62 205 | long it will be before the Indians of this country can come into
o g 133 | their own and the entire Indian Bureau closed, and give the
100 10 110 | Indians the chance and the opportunity they should have,
200 55 264 Mr. LOWREY. Will the gentleman yield?
o > | Mr. LAGUARDIA. Yes.
738 30 777 | Mr. LOWREY. Does the gentleman know how many In-
313 53 366 | dians there are now under this burean?
o 50 # | Mr. LAGUARDIA. There can not be very many.
2,577 445 2,072 Mr. LOWREY. T ask that for information.
Mr, LAGUARDIA. I am informed that there are something
150 55 an5 | like 300,000.
181 3% 216 Mr. LOWREY. And we appropriate $12,000,000 annually
‘; 2 13 | to_take care of 300,0007
173 5 152 Mr. LAGUARDIA. Yes. Would it not be better to give
72 15 87 | them an annual allowance and close the bureau? They cer-
5? - 2 | tainly would be better off.
104 2 146 Mr. McKEOWN. Will the gentleman yield?
20 9 38 Mr, LAGUARDIA. Certainly.
I 44 %o | Mr. MCKEOWN. I suggest to the gentleman that if they
734 o1 328 | would spend a litile money on turning loose the competent
Indians from under the bureau it would result in reducing
431 4% L% | the appropriations,
Mr. LAGUARDIA. That Is exactly what I am trying to
g} §% say. I may be entirely wrong in this, but from my recollec-
398 388 | tion as a boy and everything that confronts us now it seems
400 06 505 | to me there is something wrong somewhere,
- o 5% | Mr. HASTINGS. I do not care to enter into a general dis-
430 91 521 | cussion, but let me say to the gentleman from New York that
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there were enrolled 101,506 members of the Five Civilized
Tribes. The Government now has under supervision about
11,386, so the gentleman will see that about 90,000 of the
101,506 have been entirely turned loose and are free of any
supervision by the Indian Bureau. I do not have the exact
figures as to the other tribes, but from time to time Indians
in all of the tribes are being released from Government super-
vision. The report of the Indian Bureaun indicates that there
are about 349,000 Indians in the United States, but a very
large number of them have been freed of any governmental
gupervision, the exact number of which I do not now recall.

Mr. LAGUARDIA. But the gentleman will concede that the
per capita cost is enormous. I think we have too much
Government supervision over them.

Mr. HASTINGS. The gentleman must understand, of
course, that in the making of these rolls, in the allotment of
their lands and having this individual supervision over them,
the cost, of necessity, must greatly increase and be much more
than if there was collective supervision over them, as was the
case when they were on reservations.

Mr. LAGUARDIA. But my query is, would not the Indians
be better off without it?

The CHAIRMAN. The time of the gentleman from New
York has expired. .

Mr. FREAR. Mr. Chairman, I rise in opposition to the gen-
tleman’s amendment gimply for the purpose of making a brief
statement. Commissioner Sells, in his report seven years ago,
said that there were 220,000 Indians known as incompetent
Indians who were then under the supervision of the depart-
ment. I believe 1 have stated those figures correctly.

The Indian Commissioner states in the present report,
as 1 understand it, that the number of incompetent Indians at
the present time is 225,000; in other words, that they have in-
creased from 220,000 seven years ago under Commissioner Sells
to 225,000 under the present Indian Commissioner. Is that
right?

Mr. CRAMTON. I am not familiar with those figures and
1 do not care to agree or disagree with the figures, but I
do want to make this one suggestion: That there has been &
great deal of guess work as to the number of Indians, especially
the Navajoes; they have never been able to get any real census
of the Navajoes and they have just been guessing how many
Indians there were in those thonsands of miles of desert waste,
and, necessarily, their guesses from time to time have varied.

Mr. FREAR. Right in line with that suggestion, the hear-
ings we have here disclose the fact that there are gomething
like 300,000 Indians, or something over 300,000, showing that
they have had some way of making a fairly accurate count.

Mr. TAGUARDIA. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. FREAR. Yes.

Mr. LAGUARDIA. When the gentleman says there are
295,000 incompetent Indians he does not use the word “in-
competent ” in a strict legal sense, does he?

Mr. FREAR. Absolutely.

Mr. LAGUARDIA. Does the gentleman mean to say that
225,000 Indians are incompetent in the same degree of mentality
that would have to exist before a citizen would be declared
incompetent?

Mr. FREAR. Not in the same degree of mentality but the
same legal limitation.

Mr. LAGUARDIA. But they are not actually incompetent.

Mr. FREAR. No: but they are so held. They can not
appeal to the courts and there is no way in which their com-
petency can be determined.

Mr, LAGUARDIA. That is
Indians. -

Mr. FREAR. That is what I have been suggesting, accord-
ing to my limited nnderstanding of the subject.

The pro forma amendment was withdrawn.

The Clerk read as follows:

For pay of special Indian Service inspector and two Indian Service
inspectors, and actual traveling and incidental expenses, and mnot to
exceed $4 per diem in lien of subsistence when actually employed on
duty in the field away from home or designated headquarters, $16,000.

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, I offer the amendments,
which I send to the Clerk’s desk. :

The CHAIRMAN (Mr, Dowerr). The gentleman from Michi-
gan offers amendments, which the Clerk will report.

The Clerk read as follows:

Amendments by Mr. CraMTON : Page 14, lines 2 to 5, in line 2, strike
out the word “actual”; In line 8, after the word * expenses,” strike
out everything down te and including the word “ headquarters” in
line 5.

manifestly unfair to these |
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Mr. CRAMTON. Mr, Chairman, the langnage which we pro-
pose there to strike out is unnecessary by reason of the general
legislation on the matter of expenses,

The amendments were agreed to.

The Clerk read as follows:

For pay of judges of Indian courts where tribal relations now cxist,
at rates to be fized by the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, £105,000.

Mr. FREAR. Mr, Chairman, I move to strike out the last word.

On this occasion 1 want to state that, with the brief examina-
tion I have made of the hearings, I find more information on
the subject of the Indian Office and its departments in the
hearings than can be ascertained from any other place, and I
mmp]imfent the chairman of the subcommittee, who has eharge
of this bill, because of the fairly exhaunstive investigation he has
made ; but I do not agree with him, of course, on all the items.
1 appreciate he could take no other course, but this Indian-
jndge appropriation is one of the items which I do not believe
is warranted, for reasons I have stated before in the House.
There Indian judges are given $10 a month, and I understand
from the hearing that the complaint has been made that criti-
cisms were lodged against them becanse they are given only £10
a month. For that reason, possibly, the pay has been increased
by this bill to approximately $15 a month for T0 of these
so-called judges.

This is not the basis of criticism against Indian judges at all.
The criticism is based on the fact that the Indians who are
chosen for judges by the agent are usually friends of the
Indian agent who appoints them and who determines whether
or not their work is satisfactory to him. In some cases they
have no proceedings at all, I was informed, on many reserva-
tio_ns, nothing is before them during the year, and yet they are
paid monthly this amount of money. In North Dakota and
South Dakota, for instance, I know they do work up there and
1 know they are entitled to some pay, if you are willing to
concede for the sake of the argument that they have any right
to exist under the law.

Under the system the Indian agent to-day appoints the
Indian judge. The Indian has no law to go by or observe, only
rules from the bureau, so far as I can learn. He is subject
to whatever action is taken by the so-called judge at that time.
He can be inecarcerated, made to work on highways, or can be
jailed withont any attorney, without any jury, without any
right of appeal, without bail. These are points which I have
heretofore raised, and I do not believe there is any justifica-
tion for such judges.

To meet this sitnation, during the last session I offered a
bill which I believed to be a fairly constructive bill, H. R.
9315, giving the Indian a right to jury trial and to appeal to
higher courts in certain cases. Under existing law there are
seven or eight caunses of action where the Federal court passes
upon the charges against the Indian in cases of felony and
he has a jury trial and can claim all rights the same as other
¢itizens. Now he is taken without any law before an Indian
judge, oceasionally without any apparent justification—I be-
lieve I can substantiate that statement—and yet we are paying
here for 70 different judges a compensation of about $15 each,
which is an increase over what they have been pald, namely,
$10. This is all I eare to say about the matter at this time.
I want to make a motion afterwards to strike it out.

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, if the gentleman intends
to make that motion, I would be glad if he would make it now
and then I ean talk on the motion.

Mr. FREAR. I want to make it on a different point.

Mr. CRAMTON. I wish the gentleman would conclude his
discussion first.

Mr. FREAR. Then, Mr. Chairman, if I may withdraw the
pro forma motion, I will submit a motion fo strike out the
paragraph.

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from Wisconsin offers an
amendment, which the Clerk will report.

The Clerk read as follows:

Amendment by Mr, Frear: Page 14, lines 6 to 8 inclusive, strike out
the paragraph.

Mr. FREAR. This motion is made, Mr. Chairman, in order
to be consistent with the claim that there is no law for and no
justification for the existence of these Indian judges to-day,
and that the Indian who is a citizen should have the same
rights to a hearing and the same rights of jury trial that other
citizens have. In this connection let me give you an illustra-
tion from my ovm State, which I have disclosed heretofore
on this floor. An Indian, Moon by mame, was chained with a
ball and chain by an Indian agent, named Hammit{, in the
Lac du Flambeau Reservation, Wis. For six months he was
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sentenced and, according to a telegram from Governor Blaine,
held in a foul, ill-smelling cell. Four affidavits were put in the
record to show these faets, and Hammitt, the Indian agent who
did this illegal act and who had charge of the case through

the Indian judge, is to-day the man in charge of the reserva-.

tion, and no punishment has occurred for the chaining of the
Indian. No new condition has been brought about on the res-
ervation so far as we know, or has anything been done to
remedy this situation. This jailing and chaining occurred
without a law. If the Indian had disobeyed the law, there is
no doubt but that he ought to have been punished. The courts
wounld deal with the case if a felony, but he was sentenced
by an Indian judge.

I believe we should refuse to make this appropriation that is
without any justification in law. The amount is about 50 per
cent larger than it was last year or practically so. It was
$8,200 last year, and the proposed appropriation' here is
$£15,000. If we refuse to make the appropriation we will then
probably enact some construective legislation giving Indians the
right to appear before a real court and jury and have proper
hearings,

Mr. Chairman, let me repeat, this case of the mistreatiment
of Indians by an Indian agent. Take the Wisconsin case.
Governor Blaine, of Wisconsin, sent to President Coolidge the
following telegram:

Mapisox, Wis., February 15, 1926,
Pregident Canviy CooLnince,
Washington, D, (.

Responsible woman, whose word 1 believe, reports that Paul Moore,
an Indian, charged with a misdemeanor, was found on January 26 at
Lac du Flambeau (Wis.) Agency jail, in a cell 6 by 8 feet, with
clogged toilet, and with ball and chain fastened to ankle. In same
jail were incarcerated Indian women. This condition is abhorrent
to the dictates of decency and our vaunted clvilisation, This is the
tyranny of the Dark Ages and the practice of the deégenerate dominate
to terrorize the Indian who needs help more than a jail, In the name

of humanity, I beg that that sort of thing cease.
: Jonx J. BLAINE, Governor,

As excuse of such action Mr. Burke says (p. 26 of the hear-
ings) before the Indian Committee:

Paul Moore, together with two other Indians, took three Indian
girls of the Lac du Flambean Reservation and spent three nights
with them. ©One girl is now in a delicate condition and alleges Paul
Moore is responsible therefor. He was apprehended, together with
the others, and they confessed their guilt. Moore was sentenced by
the court of Indian offenses and was assigned to the potato farm
and set to digging potatoes. IHe escaped and was later returned,
when a ball and chain were placed on him. He again escaped and
has not yet been returned.

Commissioner Burke admits the ball-and-chain punishment,

No judge or jury would accept the other statements un-
supported by proof., No one will condone the offense, if true,
although Commissioner Burke assumes that anyone objecting
to Spanish inguisition punishment does so because of sympathy
for the offender. Any attorney would inguire, Is if true that
Moore and his associates were with the women; if so, what
evidence is to be had that Moore was responsible for subse-
gquent conditions, and what proof was had and what was the
influence used, if so, to secure any plea of guilty which is
alleged—but nothing furnished to confirm that statement. This
is not to excuse in any degree any offense, if an offense was
committed, but to get some facts in a case where letters to
Senator LA ForiLerTe state that Moore was brought before
Superintendent Hammitt of the ageney; that an Indian named
Sawgetchwayghezis, posing as a judge, was present, who counld
not read or write or talk English. He certainly would be
forgiven for misspelling his own name. That Hammitt pre-
pared and read Moore's sentence to six months' imprisonment
in the agency jail. All this appears in the letter foupd in
Recorp of March 4.

COMMISSIONER BUREE APPROVES BALL AXD CHAIN USED BY AGENTS

Assuming that all the facts were as claimed by Commis-
sioner Burke, I submit his own statement (p. 27 of the hear-
ings) :

I say 1 have no sympathy for Paul Moore, and I think he ought

to be in chains for not the time of the sentence of the Imdian court
but for a much longer period.

Commissioner Burke approves the hall-and-chain treatment,
which is undenied ; but he would have it continued for a much
longer period than six months, No one knows just what his
judgment would determine for ball-and-chain treatment, but
that is his standard set for Indian agents throughout the
country. The commissioner approves ball-and-chain penalties
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and unlimited sentences by his agents who write the findings
of the $10-a-month courts, :

A Rév. Mr. Murray at the agency, who presumably may be
nnder many obligations to the local agent, also is gquoted by
Commissioner Burke in support of his agent. Murray writes
(p. 27, hearings) :

I know Mr., Hammitt to be a clean, pure-minded, and fair-minded
executive, alwaye kind and pollte to all, Including lawbreakers who
come before him from time to time,

Not before the Indian judge, you will note, but before
Hammitt. I make no comment on this whitewash letter
whether written from a pail of hypocrisy or ignorance that
attempts to justify the ball-and-chain czar of the Lac du
Flambean (Wis.) Agency.

The following affidavits from those who acquainted them-
selves with the facts are sufficient to give a fair understanding
of Hammitt and his “kind and polite” methods. They were
sent me without suggestion on my part as to any particular
matters to be covered. Only a brief statement of facts was
asked. These facts sworn to by witnesses are as follows:

THE LAC DU FLAMBEAU BALL-AXD-CHAIN CASB

BTATE 0F WISCONSIN,
County of Ashland:

Cecelin 8, Rabideaux, being first duly sworn, on oath deposes and
says: I am now 24 years of age and reside in the village of Odanah,
within the Bad River Reservation, in Ashland County, Wis. On the
21st day of Janunry, 1926, I was informed that my brother, Panl
Moore, had been seized by the Indinn police of said village, and, to-
gether with Maggie Crowe, who I asked to go with me, called on said
police at the office of the Government farmer in said village and there
asked to be advised as to what the warrant read for the arrest of I’aul
Moore. One Bawdee Marksman, who at times acts as a police, sald,
“It is not necessary that we have a warrant.” I then asked, * How
is that?" Bawdee Marksman then in substance further stated% “ Tha
Indian agent at Lac du Flambean wrote to the Indinn agent at Ashland,
Mr. P. 8, Everest, and that be in turn wrote to the Government farmer,
Mr. A. L. Doan, who directed us fo take Paul Moore the first time we
saw him.”

Paul Moore was put in jail at Odanah and there kept until the npext
morning, January 22, when he was taken to Lac du Flambean, so
then formed, by one Albert SBnow, an Indian police for the Lae du
Flambeau Reservation Agency. I asked Maggie Crowe to accompany
me to Lae du Flambean. We boarded the train therefor Tuesday
morning, January 26, 1926, arriving at the said agency at 12 o'clock
noon. We entered the agency office, and I introduced myself to the
superintendent, Mr. Hammitt, with saying that I was Panl Moore's
gister from Odanah, and was there to see Paul, and also asked as to
what he Intended to do with him. He stated that he intended to keep
him there, and that we would find him in the jail or in the dining room
of the school, a8 he did not know where they would feed him. We
then went out to the jall and there found Paul Moore in one of the
cells therein, the size of which was about 6 by 8 feet. The same
contained two bunks, and also in one corner thereof was a clogged
toilet, from which came a stench that filled the room, Fasfened to
Paul Moore's ankle was a ball and chain.

In the same room, but outside of cells, were three men and a woman,
all Indians, whose names we there learned were William Roy, Harry
King, Charles Boneosh, and Mrs. Boneosh, who were all served with
lunch soon after we were there by children of the school. 1 was in-
fornied by Mrs. Bopeosh that, by reason of an arrest previous to the
one for which they were then there, she and her husband were sen-
tenced by Superintendent Hammitt to pay a fine of $75 each; that that
was all the money they had, and her husband handed It to said super-
intendent for her release, and he served time, along with several other
prisoners, in work of repair about the said agency.

Croenia 8, RaABIDEAUX.

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 30th day of Mareh, A. D,
1926,

0. A. PEARROXN,
Notary Public, Ashland Connty, Wis.

{My commission expires September 2, 1928.)

Mrs. Rabideaux I am informed is chairman of the local
League of Women Voters of my State,
ANOTHER AFFIDAVIT O¥ THE WISCONSIN BALL-AND-CHAIN AGEXCY

STATE oF WISCONSIN,
County of Ashland, ss:

Maggie Crowe, being first duly sworn, on oath deposes and says I am
of part Chippewa Indlan blood, now 29 years of age, and reside in the
village of Odanah, Wis.

1 was on the 21st day of January, 1926, with Mrs, Cecelin 8. Rabi-
deaux when she called on the police of said village at the Goveroment
farmer’s office in Odanah, and heard ber ask to be informed as to what
the warrant read for the arrest of Paul Moore, The police sald that
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they had nmo warrant, that the Indian agent of Lac du Flambean had
written to the Indian agent at Ashland, Mr. P. S, Everest, and that be

in turn had written to Mr. A. L. Doan, the farmer, who directed them,

the police, to take Paul Moore as soon a8 they saw him.

Paul Moore was locked up on this 21st day of Jannary in jail at
Odanah, and on the following morning taken to the depot handeuffed
and put onto the southbound 6.50 a. m. Northwestern train in charge
of one Albert Snow, an Indian police from the Lac du Flambeau Indian
Reservation.

1 sccompanied Mrs, Cecella 8. Rabideaux Jamuary 26, 1926, to the
Lae du Flambeau Indian Agency on a vigit to her brother, Paul Moore,
who we found in a cell within the agency jail. The air therein was
very offensive, and on Mrs, Rabideanx’s Inquiry as to what smelled go,
Paul Moore remarked that it was the toilet in the corner of the cell
he was Iu, and showed us that it would not flush, This cell was about
6 by 8 feet and had two bunks therein, and to Mr. Moore’s ankle was
fastened a ball and chain. Outside of the cells in the same roony was
four other Indian prisoners, whose names we learned were Willlam Roy,
Harry King, Charles Boneosh, and Mrs. Boneosh. The woman told us
that slie and her husband had been, before this sentence for which they
were now there, each fined $75, that being all the money they had.
Her husband handed it to the said Lac du Flambeau Indian agent for
her release, and he served time io labor about the agency premises along
with others, for which he got no pay.

Macere CROWE.

Snbseribed und sworn to before me this 15th day of March, A. D.
1926. s

0. A. PransoN,
Natary Public, Ashiand County, Wis.
(My eommission expires September 2, 1928.)

CONFISCATES CLOTHES AND LEAVES BALL-AND-CHAIN OEBNAMENTS

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
County of Ashland, ss:

Mrs. Mifry Moore, being first duly sworn, on oath deposes and says:
1 am a mixed-blood Chippewa Indian, now 46 years of age, residing in
the village of Odanah, Wis,, and the mother of 11 living children, 1 of
them being Paul Moore, now 26 years of age.

On the 21st day of Janmary, 1926, my son, Paul Moore, was arrested
without warrant by the Indian police of this village and held in jail
in eaid village until the following morning, when he was delivered by
them, handcuffed, at the depot of the Northwestern Railway to one
Albert Snow, who, I was there told, was an Indian pelice of the Lac dn
Flambeau Indian Reservation, and who took with him aboard the south-
bound G.50 train Paul Moore.

1 was informed by Paul Moore that he was first detained by the
superintendent of the Lac du Flambeau Indian School and Agency in a
jail at such agency for five days after the 27th day of October last,
and at which time he was made to take off his clothes, the same of
which the superintendent of said agency took in charge, and furnished
old clothes for him to put on. r

1 am now Indirectly advised that since the 22d day of January,
1928, the superintendent of the Lac du Flambeaun School and Agency
has sold Paul Moore's clothes, the same of which was an overcoat pur-
chased in said October last at a cost of $45 and a suit bought about a
month before at a cost of $35, together worth $80.

Many MooRg.

Subseribed and sworn to before me this 15th day of March, A. D.
1928.
0. A, PEARSON,
Notary Public, Ashland County, Wis.
(My commission expires September 2, 1928.)

THE INDIAN AGENT SELLS MOORE'S CLOTHES, WITH A BALL AND CHAIN FOR
SECURITY
STATE OF WISCONSIN,
County of Ashland, ss:

Charles La Casse, being first duly sworn, on oath deposes and says:
1 am now 20 years of age, and a member of the Lac du Flambeau
Band of Chippewa Indians, on the Lac du Flambean Reservation, in
Vilas County of said State, where I have resided about all my life, ex-
cept for the time of my attendance at the Tomah Sehool, in this State,
and at the Mount Pleasant School, in the State of Michigan, until the
evening of Japuary 22, 1926,

With the view of asking the superintendent in charge of the Lac du
Flambeau Indian Agency, Mr. J. 8. Hammitt, for an allowance out of
my trust fund, though baving been at a former request denied, T was
at the said agency office to again make such a request through the
so-called chiel of police, a Mr. Willlam Mattigosh, on the 22d day of
January, 1026, While there, and before Mr. Mattigosh could speak
for me, he was given charge of one Paul Moore, who he conducted to
the jail of said agency. I followed him there and into the jail and
saw Mr. Mattigosh place said Paunl Moore in one of the cells thercin
and also saw him fasten @ ball and chaip to Paul Moore’s ankle. Mr,
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Mattigosh then closed the door of the eell in which was the said Paul
Moore and locked it, a5 he did also the outer door of safd jail after we
had come out, 2
We then went jnto the agency office, T there heard the superintend-
ent of the said agency say to the clerk thereof, a Mr, W. H. Shawnee,
that they would sell Iaul Moore's clothes, I was soon therenfter given
a check on m bank of Wisconsin Rapids, Wis., for $15, and then asked
by said superintendent to buy Paul Moore's clothes, This I declined to
do; but I understand that they were sold to Mr. Mattigosh, who offered
$12 for them, an overcoat and a full suit, which I tbink from my
exnmination of them must be worth at least $40,
CranLEs La CASSE,
Subseribed and sworn to before me this 15th day of March, A, D,
1026,
0. A. PRARBON,
Notary Public, Ashland County, Wis.
(My commissfon expires September 2, 1928.)

Four affidavits from responsible Indian wiinesses have been
submitted. p

Mr. Burke, on his own statement, approved such conditions
and such treatment of Indians. I do not know whether Ham-
mitt took Moore's elothing in a moment’s aberration when the
religious influenee of Reverend Murray was quiescent or how
much he got for Moore's elothes, but the significant fact is noted
that when the trail got hot and Hammitt became uncertain of
results, Moore was allowed to eseape from his eage minus his
clothes, but carrying his ball-and-chain ornaments away as a
gouvenir of the place and of his “ kind and polite ” jailer.

This is a case from my own State. 1 do not know wheiler
Moore committed any offense, neither does Mr., Burke. With-
out attorney, jury, or right to any bail or appeal, he was kid-
naped without papers aud brought back T0 miles, where a ball
and chain was placed on him while locked up in a foul-smelling
cell. Then he “escaped,” ball and chain and all excepting $75
in good clothes kept by Hammitf, These facts seem undis-
puted; yet the most serious part of the whole outrageous
travesty on justice is that Commissioner Burke approves such
ball-and-chain treatment by his agents.

1 have submitted undisputable evidence that one Indian youth
in Wiseonsin was hanled before a $10 Indian judge on the Lac
du Flambeau Reservation. Without legul hearing or trial by
jury or otherwise, without any attorney so far as appears,
without bail or any offer of appeal, this Indian boy, Moore, was
thrown into an ill-smelling, insanitary cell, and only when the
governor of the State wired the President of the ball-and-chain
treatment was Moore allowed to “eseape.”

Hammitt, the Indian agent, is still on the job, and this is
emphasized by an insolent leiter couched in terms of affected
politeness which I received last week from him, and is as

follows :
DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,

UxiTep STATES INDIAN SERVICE,
Lac po FLAMBEAU SCHOOL AND AGENCY,
Lgo du Flambeaw, Wis., December 7, 1926
Mr. James A, Frean,
House of Representatives, Washington, D. €.

My Dear Mg, Freir: As vou probably kwow, the funds allowed by
the Government are not sufficient to enable me ty purchase any extras
or luxuries, and at this season of the year I woubl like to be in a poel-
tion to make the little ehildren at this schoel feel that the Santa Clans
of the white child iz as deeply interested in his red children as those of
his more fortunate brothers and sisters. To this end T am asking
whether you may be able to forward to this sehool svme slight token
of Christmas cheer which would assist me in making the Christmas
time a little happier for the many small children 1 have envolled here,
With sincere wishes for a very happy Christmas, T am

Very truly yours,
Joux 8. R. Hassirr, Superintendent.

To this T answered that if Hammitt has any explanation or
excuse to offer for his high-handed outrage that made him
Hable to eriminal action he could present the subject before an
investigating ecommittee, and that should be done.

WasHisaToN, D. C., December 8, 1926,
Mr. J. 8 R. HAMMITT,
Superintendent Lac du Flambean Scliool and Syency,
Lae du Flambeaw, Wis,

My DEan Sir: Your letter asking me to make some contribution o
Christmas presents for Indian e¢hildren on the Lac du Flumbean Ileser-
vation is received. As this Is the only letter thus far received by me
during 14 years' service in Congress from any of the 2000 Indian reser-
vation agents, and as none of the other Members of Congress, so far-as
1 can learn, have been asked by you or other ngents to make contribu-
tions to your ageney or to other agencfes, I naturally as<ume that any
gpeclal interest on your part In writing me comes from the record fn
the Moore case,
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If T remember eorrectly, that oceurred on the Lac du Flambean |
Reservation, and, through complaints from Governor Blaine, supported i
by four affidavits which were filed stating that Moore was confined with |
ball and chain in his cell on your reservation. This is the only case
of the kind reported, to my knowledge, from Wisconsin or any other |
State this year.

If an investigation is bad of Indian matters undoubtedly yon would |
have the right to give your aown version of the facts. With that, like
other complaints, I have no personal concern, exeepting to relieve
Indians in a small way from unjust treatment whenever able to do so.

During the past year I spent a fairly large amount of my own
personal funds in examining Indian reservations in Western States:
and at some places where food, medicine, and other necessities for
Indians are said to be required I am ready to contribute from personal
funds as much as anyone in my position, and thereafter I would he
willing, if able, to give to any of your wards as much as yon have
called for from other Members,

I trust my letter shows my deep interest in the Indian question and
also in the little ones on your reservation, not limited, however, to
Christmas giving but to the general welfare of all Indian tribes.

Yery sincerely,
JaMes A, FrEAR.

I submit that while this case of Hammitt and the Indian boy
Moore may be an unusual proceeding the most significant part
of the case is the fact that Hammitt is still on the job, a fair
representation of the policy and standards of the Indian
Bureau, if any conclusions can be drawn from that fact and
also from Commissioner Burke's defense of his course, which
I have submitted.

No more illegal or high-handed proceeding will be found in
the records of any department of Government, I apprehend,
and yet with these facts before us we are asked to continue
this illegal and indefensible Indian-judge system.

Indians are now citizens and should be treated as such by
the Government and not as felons to be worked on roads or
chained in cells by the mandate of an arbitrary Indian agent
throungh a judge whom he appoints at will and in thig case
could neither read nor write. |

Why are not Indians entitled to be tried like white 1119:1I
with a jury of their peers and by a judge who at least can read
and write and is not subject to the control of an Indian
agent? ;

If so, it is time to discontinne these Indian-judge appropria-
tions and to discontinue many other actiyities of the Indian
Bureaun of the same character.

The bill T have introduced to give Indians their day in court
with regular court proceedings ought to be passed or some other
weasure of like character.

Mr, CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, I hope the amendment will
not prevail. First, I want to correct the impression of the
gentleman from Wisconsin as to the purpose of this increase,
For the current year there was an appropriation of $8400 for
paying 70 judges. That has been held to require that they
shall pay every judge the same amount of money, which was
$10 a month, The committee has felt, from our contact with
the problem in the field, that these judges ought not to be paid
the same sum. Take a Hopi village in Arizona, where there |
are a few hundred Indians gathered together, $10 a month is |
suflicient. The cases before the judge are few and unimportant, |
and he may at most have to walk across the village street; |
very little time is consumed, ®

Up in South Dakota I remember the Pine Ridge Reservation
where there is a great area of territory involved—where the
county organization can not take care of all the matters,
because the Indian reservation prevents settlement—these three
jndges come down and meet together at one point, coming 50 to
5 miles, spending several days in court, and the laws of South |
Dakota are such that many important offenses are not handled |
in any other way except in the courts of the Indian reserva-
tion. We felt that it was unjust to those judges to receive
only $10 a month. So the reason for the increase is not be- |
cause of any criticism that has been made against having |
Indian jndges nor because of any eriticism outside of it, but
because the committee felt that a judge in South Dakota spent
days and days, traveling many miles, that he ounght to have
more pay than a judge in one of these Hopi villages.

We bave not limited the number of judges, increased the
amount to $15,000, with the expectation that the Indian Bureau
will give the increase where it is justified.

Mr, FREAR. That leaves the bureau to determine the num- |
ber of judges as it desires. I agree that the present system is |
wWrong. :

Mr. CRAMTON. I can give the gentleman assurance, be-
cause the office of the Indian Bureau cooperates very fully
with Congress and endeavors to carry out the wishes of the
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Congress—and I can assure the gentleman that there is likely
to be fewer judges and more equitable pay.
The CHAIRMAN (Mr. DowkLr). The question is on the

| amendment offered by the gentleman from Wisconsin,

The question was taken, and the amendment was rejected.
The Clerk read as follows:

That not to exceed $150,000 of applicable appropriations made herein
for the Bureau of Indian Affairs shall be available for the maintenance,
repair, and operation of motor-propelled and horse-drawn passenger-
carrying vehicles for the use of superintendents, farmers, physicians,
field matrons, allotting, irrigation, and other employees in the Indian
field service: Provided, That not to exceed $3,000 may be used in the
purchase of horse-drawn passenger-carrying vehicles, and not to excesd
$35,000 for the purchase of motor-propelled passenger-carrying vehicles,
and that such vehicles shall be used only for official service.

Mr. FREAR. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the last
word. I do not desire to go into details on muany of these
propositions, but this motion is for the purpose of geiting in-
formation from the chairman. I understand that $100.000 or
a little more were taken from the Indian tribal fund for this
same purpose. That is right, is it not?

Mr. CRAMTON. I do not reeall the exnct amount,

Mr. FREAR. The question in my mind is this: What au-
thority does the Indian Bureau have to take from the tribal
fund $100,000 or $50,000 or any other amount? Is it under
any specific statute, or what is the limitation and how is the
money to be expended when it is taken from the tribal fund?

Mr. CRAMTON. The gentleman does not question the au-
thority of the bureau to use the tribal fund for the expense of
administration? There would be the same right to use the
money to purchase an automobile that there would be to use
the money for putting up an ageney building,

Mr. FREAR. The question arises, Is there any limitation to
the amount that could be expended for automobiles, for in-
stance, and would it be necessary to furnish automobiles for

| that particnlar reservation, or could they be used for any

reservation?

Mr. CRAMTON, Generally speaking, they have no right to
use tribal funds except as authorized by Congress. We anthor-
ize the appropriation. There are a few exceptions and a few d
specific purposes which T have not in mind just now.

Mr. FREAR. They took in this case $100,000 from the tribal
funds.

Mr. CRAMTON. The statute provides that no money shall he
expended from Indian tribal funds without appropriation by
Congress, except to equalize allotments for the education of
the children in accordance with existing law, all of which are
continued in full force and effect, provided it shall not change
existing law as to the Five Civilized Tribes, Otherwise the
money can not be used from tribal funds except through
appropriations by Congress.

Mr. FREAR. On page 51 of the hearings the table there
states from tribal funds for motor cars, in addition to what
comes from appropriations, $100.370. The gentleman will
notice that in the last statement tabulated.

Mr, CRAMTON. But there must be an authorization some-
where. I have not that just in mind.

Mr., FREAR. The question I had in mind is to ascertain
what authority or limitation of authority there is upon the
burean in cases of that kind, and from where the expenditures
may be made.

Mr. CRAMTON. The particular point the gentleman asks
about is on page 51 of the hearings, of $100,000 for purchase
of vehicles and their repairs and operation. I have not in
mind now any express authorization or limitation, but it must
come in this way. That hundred thousand dollars can only be
expenditures under authorized appropriations. For instance,
if there is an authorization of $100,000 for the cost of adminis-
tration of a certain tribe, a portion of that $100.000 might be
available for the purchase of antomobiles and their operation.

Mr. FREAR. Under an item of this kind.

Mr. CRAMTON. I think this $100,000 must be made up in
this way, but if it is satisfactory to the gentleman I shall check
that up and make an addition to my remarks and give the
gentleman the information he asks.

Mr. FREAR. It is not becanse of objection to the particular
automobile item, but I want to know what is the general law
and power of the bureau under reimbursable funds.

Mr., CRAMTON. I have asked them to make a definite
statement as to what expenditures were made from tribal funds
without authorization of Congress, but I have not carried the
exceptions in my mind. I am satisfied this item is drawn from
an authorized appropriation of tribal funds, but I shall put in
a formal statement, -




The CHAIRMAN, Without objection, the pro forma amend-

ment will be withdrawn and the Clerk will read.
The Clerk read as follows:

That to mect possible cmergencles, not exceeding $100,000 of the
approprintions made by this act for support of reservation and non-
reservation schools, for scheol and agency buildings, and for preserva-
tion of health among Indiaus, shall be available, upon approval of the
Secretary ‘of the Interior, for replucing any buildings, equipment, sup-
plivs, livestock, or other property of those activities of the Indian
Rervies above referred to which may be destroyed or rendered unservice-
ahle by fire, flood, or storm : Provided, That the limit of $7,500 for new
construction contained in the appropristion for Indian scheol buildings
shall not apply to such emergency expenditures: And procided further,
That any diversions of appropriations made hereunder shall be reported
to Congress in the annual Budget.

Mr. FREAR. AMr. Chairman, I move to strike ont the last
word to make another inguiry. That is a new provision, is
it not? I have a note here that it is new in the bill

Mr. CRAMTON, No; it was new a year ago. This is the
second time it has been in the bill.

Mr. FREAR. Have there been any expenditures under that

jtem?

Mr. CRAMTON. There was one expenditure made under it
this year.

Mr. FREAR. That is about $5,000%

Mr. CRAMTON. Five thonsand dollars for a building some-
where,

Mr. FREAR. If it comulative, so that this money will con-
tinue to accumulate?

Mr. CRAMTON. It is not. Nothing accumulates. This is
not an appropriation; it is an authority to transfer not more
than $100,000 in the course of a year, Of course, at the end
of the year, that ends that. The committee believe it is a
desirable provision. For instance, on a reservation or at an
Indian school a building may burn. Say, a dairy barn burns.
Instead of waiting six months for Congress to make an appro-
priation for a mew dairy barn, if the department feels it is
urgent enough, it ean fransfer the five or six thounsand dollars
from some other appropriation, and, of course, have that much
less to spend for other purposes, and repair the barn.

Mr. FREAR. There is no question about the purpose of it.
1t was only a question of whether it is cumulative.

Mr. CRAMTON. It is not cumulative.

The Clerk read as follows:

EXPENSES OF INDIAN COMMISSIONERS

For expenses of the Board of Indian Commissioners, £11,000, of
which amount not to exceed $7,800 may be expended for personal
services in the District of Columbia,

AMr. FREAR. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the last
word. That amount of $11,000, which I understand is an
inerease of $1,000 over last year, page 57 of the hearings, pro-
vides for $7,800, or not to exceed that, in the District of
Columbia, which leaves $3,200 only for this investigation. In
other words, more than double the amount authorized for in-
vestigation purposes. is used for salaries. What is this com-
mission doing? 1 am not criticizing it at all, but ask whether
that is a fair distribution of the $11,000.

Mr, CRAMTON. The gentleman understands that the Board
of Indian Commissioners is a board of civilians. It is a board
of high standing throughout the country, who serve without
compensation, who give more or less limited time to investiga-
tions in the field. The members of the board are men and
women of standing. They go wherever they desire in the
field—to reservations, schools, or hospitals. They are entirely
free of any supervision of the Indian Bureau. One commis-
sloner goes this year to one reservation and another to another,
They make their reports and render a report, which is in my
hands. During the year they have made a number of investi-
gations and visits, They present their recommendations as
to changes needed, and each year when our committee holds
hearings we ask the secretary of that board fo sit in while
the Indian bill is before us and present such suggestions as
he may desire, and in the hearings will be found a statement
from him and such recommendations., The expenditure, it is
true, is mainly for the salary roll. There is $4,000 for the sec-
retary, Mr. McDowell; $2,100 for one clerk, and $1,560 for
another. The total salary roll is $7,660. Then there is an
item of $100 for sundry supplies and $75 for communication
gervice and $3.165 for traveling expenses. That impresses me
as being sufficient for the board’s traveling expenses, going the
way they do.

Mr. FREAR. That is the point I had in mind—whether that
was sufficient for them, with 200 reservations. If they do
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much traveling around, it occurred to me $3,200 was a limited
amount.

Mr. CRAMTON. It is not feasible for them to spend all of
their time or any great proportion, the whole board not going,
but just one to this reservation and another to that. Their
expenses are not large, and I suppose when they are on the
reservations there is no charge to the Government, They are
taken care of by the regular transportation facilities, There
has been no complaint from the board with refercnce to that.

Mr, FREAR. Mr, Chairman, on March 4, 1926, I submitted to
the House a resolution for an investigation of the management
of the Indian Dureau by a congressional committee, and gave
detailed testimony to support definite and serious charges of
maladministration made against the burean management. I be-
lieve all charges so made were true, and, if so, a thorough in-
vestigation of the Indian Burean should be had. Many of the
charges were based upon information received from Indians,
from a study of the laws now governing the Indians of the
country, from statements of other Members, and in the case of
palpable frauds like the $100,000 Navajo Indian charge for a
Lees Ferry bridge from Senators personally familiar with the
facts. In other cases information was furnished by officials
of the Indian Defense Association and other organizations. In
several speeches I set forth affidavits and evidence then avail-
able to support the charges.

All witnesses and complainanis stated to me substantially

“the facts as then given to the House.

On April 10 following Indian Commissioner Burke in a three-
hour speech before the Indian Affairs Committee of the ITouse
gave what purported to be a defense of the Indian Bureau.
His speech was a curious admission by confession and avoidance
of my charges of maladministration.

On April 23, in the House, I answered specifically the speech
made by Commissioner Burke the previous week and therein
restated and repeated every charge of neglect and oppression
made against the Indian Bureau in resolution of March 4, 1926,
which asked for an investigation of the burean.

I therein charged—

First, That the Indian Bureau, without possible excuse, ree-
ommended the confiseation of $100,000 of Navajo Indian funds.

Second. The Indian Bureau has recommended and sccured
from Congress other Indian reimbursement charges against
the Navajos, Pueblos, and other Indian tribes as reprehensible
and indefensible as the £100,000 Navajo item.

Third. The Indian Bureau approved and helped manage a
scandalous settlement of over §1,000,000 of the property of
Jackson Barnett, a half-witted Indian, the terms of which were
as reprehensible of an allotted Indian's property as charges
made against tribal property,

Fourth. The Indian Bureau has practically exelusive control
of $00,000,000 of money and securities and $1,650,000,000 of
Indian property held in trust for what it terms 225,000 “in-
competent " Indians. No right of court review or appeal from
the burean's arbitrary decision is given to a single Indian,

Fifth. A telegram by Governor Blaine, of Wisconsin, to
President Coolidge was ungualifiedly true wherein he com-
plained that a Wisconsin Indian charged with a misdemeanor
was fastened with ball and chain in a foul, insauitary cell
6 by 9 feet in size. Evidence of this fact is practically
undisputed.

Sixth. I charged that a ball andechain were used for punish-
ing an Indian on the Fort Peck Reservation, charged with
a misdemeanor,

Seventh, Evidence that Commissioner Burke and Mr. Meritt by
threats and intimidation endeavored to smother the facts last
cited, and starfling affidavits of the Indian Dureau’s Intimida-
tion of Indian witnesses in Washington were also submitted.

Eighth. The Indian Bureau has possession of an amazing
report by the American Red Cross on Indian Burean neglect
and inefficiency affecting the health of Indian tribes, which
has been smothered, and Senators and Members who have
asked to inspeet the report have been refused that right.

Ninth. The Indian Bureau has failed and neglected the
health and care of Indians in Wisconsin, California, Arizona,
and other States, as set forth in statements of reputable medi-
cal witnesses and commissions, none of which were disputed
in Commissioner Burke's three-hour speech, excepting a refer-
ence by him to the Pima Tribe, that was incorrect,

Tenth. The Indian Burean has caused to be introduced bill
H. R. 7826, that as prepared provides all Indians on reser-
vations may be tried by $10 a month “ judges” and sentenced
to six months in jail in addition to a $100 fine for disobeying
rules or regulations of the bureau. No right to a jury trial,
attorney, bail, or appeal guaranteed under the Constitution
is afforded by that bill, which was opposed by every Indian
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tribe represented in Washington, excepting one white attorney
for some Indians in South Dakota, the home State of Mr, Burke,

Eleventh, The Indian Burean approved a grossly unjust
Indian oil leasing bill, affecting 22,000,000 acres of Indian res-
ervations, and while oil men and bureau officials urged its
passage before House and Senate committees, not one Indian
representative of any tribe was called or heard on the bill

Twelfth. The Indian Bureau under existing law and custom
has practically unlimited control of the person and property of
225,000 Indians, excepling in case of eight felonies, withont right
to jury, court appeal, or judicial review in determining matters
of *competency ” or rights guaranteed every other American
citizen.

Thirteenth. Complaints against the Indian Burean lodged by
Menominee Indians of Wisconsin, Blackfeet and Flathead In-
dians of Montana, and Pueblo Indians of New Mexico, and
other tribes, were not answered or referred to by Commis-
sioner Burke in his three hours of uninterrupted speech.

Again I ask that my resolution of investigation of the Indian
Bureau by Congress be passed and all facts disclosed in order
that remedial legislation may be had and the Indians of Amer-
ica given a self-supporting, self-respecting, and constructive
program to fit them for duties of citizenship, which citizenship
Congress has conferred on them by law.

THE INDIAN BUREAU'S IRON-HAND CONTROL

In speech of April 23 I further stated that under the Indian
Burean's iron-handed control the American Indian is abso-
lutely unable to help himself and will remain perpetually under
harsh bureau control, even as he has for over T0 years, with
worse conditions confronting him than ever before. I set forth
this coutrol specifically as follows: The present commissioner
has $£90,000,000 in money and securities and $1,650,000,000 of
Indian property, according to his own report, which he admin-
isters.

Indian fribal lands can not be leased or sold by him with-
out the tribe's or congressional consent, nor can tribal funds
be expended save by the consent of Congress. But when
Navajo bridge items and irrigation, highway, and other laws
unknown fo the Indians are recommended by the bureau and
passed by Congress this eonsent is of litfle value to the Indian.
A protest is all he could make in any event. Indians who have
been given their citizenship, and that includes all Indians
since 1924, are still kept in leading strings. The 225,000 “re-
stricted " Indians, including those holding allotments, have no
rights of property excepting in name.

Let uns see what the facts disclose: The allotted lands can
all be leased by the Indian Bureaun without the consent of
their Indian owners. These lands can be secretly leased, they
can be leased without competition and sometimes without con-
sideration, save the supposed improvement resulting from the
white man’s use of the land.

The land of a dead Indian allottee can be gold by the Indian
Bureau without the consent of the heirs. That is the custom.

The will of an allotted Indian has no validity until approved
by the Indian Bureau, and the bureau can destroy the will
without court review.

The Indian Bureau determines the heirs of an allottee, and
there is no court review.

The allotted Indian can not hypothecate his property, which
is held or controlled by the Indian Bureau.

The allotted Indian’s contracts or leases are void until
approved by the Indian Burean in so far as they involve trust
property.

The allotted Indian’s funds are in the hands of the Indian
Bureau, and can be disposed of by the bureau without inter-
ference by the Indian or reference to Congress, except where
special laws direct cash payments to be made, !

The allotted Indian can have no accounting from the Indian
Bureau, his official guardian,

The Indian tribe can not hire lawyers to represent its
interests without the approval of the Indian Bureau.

The allotted Indian can not be declared eompetent or able to
care for his own property or secure possession therefor without
the approval of the Indian Bureau.

I believe I have fairly stated the Indian’s rights, or rather
Iack of rights, that go with bis new American citizenship.

The fact that no court review or oversight is permitted in
any of the above cases, save in a partial way in Oklahoma, and
that the Indian and his property are under exclusive bureau
control, even to the determination of *competency,” is a mon-
gtrous proposal not found elsewhere in the world.

During last summer I traveled over many reservations on a
journey by automobile of about 4,500 miles and covered about
20 Indian reservations in the States of Montana, Idaho, Utah,
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New Mexico, Arizona, and Californin. ‘I saw conditions of
maladministration that can not be successfully defended before
any congressional committee or before any other intelligent
audience, These I will disenss later,

The three-hour uninterrupted defense of Commissioner Burke
last April before the Indian Committee was of especial inferest
because his lengthy discourse of confession and avoidance
furnished confirmation of my charges hereinbefore set forth.
However much I have differed from AMr. Burke as to the facts
when critieizing his administration of Indian Affairs, I have
given him credit for some attempt at honest statement, how-
ever much we differ in our views on Indian welfare.

ME., MERITT AND ME. BURKER

Mr. Meritt, his assistant, has been in the Indian Office for a
number of years, serving under both Commissioner Sells and
Commissioner Burke, Meritt claims Mr, Burke is the best
chief he has served under, which is a proper tribute to every
new superior. Mr. Meritt is generally regarded by Senators
and Members not satisfied with Indian Burean administration
to be the real power in the bureau and to be responsible for
econditions that bave invited much eriticism, although done in
the names of Mr. Burke or BSecretary Work, who approved
matters formally placed before them.

Such Senators and Members dissatisfied with Indian affairs
quite generally agree that the pname of the assistant chief
should be written Demerit and not Meritt and they point to
many cases, each within his own observation, that leads them
to that opinion,

Mr. Meritt recently traveled 6,000 miles to California and
back to appear before several audiences in the West for the
avowed purpose of defending the Indian Bureau. The unique
“ defense” he read from manuscript was largely a dispute of
some of my alleged criticisms of the burean. No notices of his
defense so made would deserve the attention of the House
excepting to the extent that it gives further incight info the
conduct of the Indian Bureau. Prior to reading his prepared
address Mr. Meritt was handed a list of questions by the Oak-
land Forum to which he was asked to speak. These he did not
answer. I have attached them to my remarks and they are an
indictment of the Indian Burean that should be answered before
a congressional committee, where answers can be entered.

A brief examination of Meritt's bureau defense which oe-
cupied over an hour in its reading disclosed that his paper
prepared in Washington apparently in collaboration with Com-
missioner Burke, is not responsive to any of the direct charges
of bureau maladministration hereinbefore set forth. Nor does
it attempt to answer any of the 100 questions presented to Mr,
Meritt by the California people. The bureaun’s second defense
now read by Meritt is a curions attempt to select sentences from
isolated remarks I am alleged to have made without specifying
where or when such remarks were made. It does not approach
the dignity of a smoke screen but is important because it shows
the character and purposes of men who now control the Indian
Burean. Evasion and misstatement disclose that such agencies
are nnsafe and untrustworthy in any governmental capacity.
To leave Indians to their tender mercies is to abandon all
responsibility which Congress and the country owes to these
wards of the Government.

The most inane example of artful dodging ever sprung on
innocent though not unsophisticated aundiences was disclosed
when Mr. Burke's representative, Mr. Meritt, discussed Indian
welfare before the gatherings in California. No reply was
offered by him to definite charges directed against the Indian
Burean and specifically made on the floors of Congress.
Childish evasive generalities were alone offered. One hundred
questions touching conditions of Indians in California and else-
where were signed and presented to Mr, Meritt by leading
citizens of that State, practically all of which were ignored in
his discussion of purported remarks I was alleged by him to
have made at some time and some unknown place, and which,
on questioning, he admitted were gleaned from newspapers or
some other source—but none faken from the express specifie
charges made by me before the House. The Oakland Forunm
questions, still unanswered, are attached to these remarks.

The stenographic record of Mr. Meritt's speech recently re-
ceived, covering 124 pages of typewriting, I believe will give a
better insight into Indian Bureau methods and misleading
propaganda than any charges, however well confirmed from
outside sources. That record, together with the alleged defense
of the bureau by Mr. Burke, and the failure of both men to an-
swer charges of malfeasance, makes up a record worthy of the
study of any congressional investigating committee, though it
might escape a whitewashing “ research” if conducted by a
group of Mr, Burke's or Mr, Work’s friends,



MR, MERITT AROUSED INTEREST IN THE WEST

The highest testimonial accorded Mr. Meritt's carefully pre-
pared readings came in the form of increased activities by the
California Indian Defense Association, comprehensively, and
resentfully, as disclosed by the line of guestioning from Meriit's
auditors. Following his reading and questioning in Los Angeles
the immediate effect, I am informed, was evidenced by the or-
ganization in Pasadena of an enthusiastic and vigorous branch
of the Indian Defense Association with the daughter of former
Indian Commissioner Leupp for its secretary. During Com-
missioner Leupp’s administration steps toward emancipating
the Indians and improving their status and condition were
taken and promised well for these wards of the Nation.
Under the present “ hard-boiled " administration as it is gen-
erally termed, the Indian's future is hopeless, while apart from
bulletins of paper prospects, the present Burke-Meritt bureau-
cratic control has been worse than ever before,

No more positive evidence of misconduct and maladministra-
tion by the Indian Bureau could be asked than discloséd by
Meritt’s bureau statement and answers to questions propounded
by his andiences, I have no purpose of answering his personal
eriticisms but will briefly analyze his * defense,” which in itself
confirms the charges I have made by the palpable half truths it
contains.

This I submit is a correct picture of Indian Burean adminis-
tration methods. I shall briefly disenss every point or quotation
in their order as presented by Meritt. This is not becaunse of
any influence exerted by him on any andience but that in any
investization by a committee of Congress the charges, answer,
and reply will make an Indian welfare issue to be determined by
the committee,

Again I ask for an exhaustive investigation into the Indian
problem by a congressional committee that will at the outset be
made acquainted with the methods and views of both Mr. Burke
and Mr, Meritt.

MR, MERITT READ FOR MR, BUREE

Meritt read his address in California at the direction  of
Burke (see p. 418, hearing, 69th Cong., 2d sess., Interior Depart-
ment appropriation bill, 1928) and Mr, Burke doubtless reviewed
Meritt’s proposed remarks, which were generously furnished in
advance to the press so that the Bureau of Indian Affairs,
already indicted by the previous “defense” made before the
committee, is responsible for the carefully prepared * defense”
of the assistant. Both chief and assistant are in the same boat,
and on their own statements both should be brought before a
real investigation committee and not before the whitewash * re-
sear h " committee urged by Commissioner Burke and named
by Secretary Work, presumably at Mr. Burke's request. Mr.
Burke's efforts to escape a real investigation by having another
friendly approval expressed of his bureau gives a clear insight
into bureau methods that always oppose the light.

Let me preface an analysis of Mr. Meritt's burean defense,
as well as I did my previous analysis of Mr. Burke's defense, by
saying that in neither case have I sought help from any
philanthropic Indian welfare organization, nor from any of
their officers. Any lawyer with knowledge of the record. the
law, and the facts conld do the same equally well, perhaps
better, but I submit that any lawyer or investigation agency
looking for the truth will find it substantially as I have stated
in my charges against the Indian Bureau. These charges, as
heretofore set forth in several speeches, are due to no personal
animogity toward Mr. Burke or anyone in his bureau, but be-
cause of the hopeless condition of the American Indians after
70 years of Indian Bureau misgovernment,

THE BUREAU’S ARMY OF POLITICAL EMPLOYEES

On page 7, Mr. Meritt's defense before the Oakland Forum
he says I charged the Indian Burean with having an army of
political employees. He answered. “ Mr. Frear’s army of po-
litical employees dwindles down to 2 out of nearly 5,000
when the facts are known.” The two political employees he
names ure Messrs., Burke and Meritt, All of the 4,958 remain-
ing employees of his bureau he says are nonpolitical. That is
a play on words. If any of the 4,858 employees are not loyal,
openly or ostensibly, to Burke and Meritt, then out they go,
if they can be gotten rid of, and from statements made to me
personally by employees on reservations who disagree with
burean methods, that is the result. Frequently they are trans-
ferred at their own expense, with their families, to distant
reservations, and as one voluntarily said to me, if they have
trouble with the bureau they lose their retirement privileges.
To say that these employees are not bound by the closest ties
of self-preservation to Burke and Meritt is to deny a self-evi-
dent fact, although when assured of no betrayal of their names
or views, many who could not safely be called as witnesses
gave to me valnable information not to be had from either Mr,
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Burke or Mr, Meritt. I repeat, my statement was strictly true
that *Indian Bureau control is effected by an army of politi-
cal employees, good, indifferent, and sometimes bad.” In fact,
that ix a generous estimate of Mr. Burke's bureaucracy army,
and that is the bureau’s first answer to the specific charges of
ill-treatment of Indians I have made before the House.

Mr. Meritt next quotes disapprovingly my alleged statement
that “The heavy death loss has been neglected, so that to-day
the Indians are only skeleton tribes.” Ile does not say when
or where this two-line statement was made by me nor give any
data nor page of quotations. From the Commonwealth Club,
June 8, 1926, publication, a club representing 4,000 leading
members of California, I find an answer to his question, which
is only one of many on that subject.

The Club says:

These 18,000 Indians are the sole survivors of about 200,000 who
lived in California * * * in 1849,

INDIAN BUREAU REPORTS CONFIDENTIAL

I have not charged Mr. Meritt or Mr. Burke with the deaths
of all the 182,000 California Indiang who died since 1849 over
and above the birth rate. I have stated self-evident facts relat-
ing to present manhandling of Indians and am prepared to give
specific cases in and out of California where the Indian Burean
of to-day is responsible for needless Indian deaths, That will
be for an investigating committee to examine and verify, but
in explaining to his andience why neither Mr. Burke nor him-
self would permit Senator Jouxsow, of California, Senator
Kixg, of Utah, nor Congressman Swixg, of California, to see a
health report on file in the bureau prepared by Florence Patter-
son, former chief of the Red Cross Service in Rumania, and
who made a startling report of Indian neglect, ill health, and
deaths, Mr, Meritt says, page 79 of his speech:

It is the policy «f the department not to make public the reports of
inspecting officials unless some one can show a direct interest and let
the depariment know the reasons why they want the report. I think
you can get cooperation from the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, and
especially if you will call at the office I think you can see most any-
thing we have there,

Senators and Members may see most anything that Mr.
Burke and Mr. Meritt believe will not reflect on the burean.
Page Senators Jounsoxw, KiNg, and Representative Swixg. To
this unique bureauncratic advice the chairman of the Cali-
fornia meeting responded, “ It is a rather long way to go to
Washington.” Particularly is this true when the facts were
refused to two Senators and one Congressman on the ground.
That is the burean’s second answer fo the specific charges I
have made of Indian neglect.

(3) Page 7, Mr. Meritt next quotes me as saying at some
time and place unnamed:

That the Indian agents appoint Indian judges at $10 per month
to earry out the policy of oppression, and that the Indlans are without
jury, without attorney, without bail, and without right of appeal.

EMPLOYMENT BY INDIANS OF ATTORNEYS

He answers this speecific charge by saying that any restricted
Indian has the right to employ an attorney, but neglects fo
say no “incompetent” Indian can make a contract to be paid
for by his property the bureau absolutely controls without the
0. K. of the Indian officials, and practically every dollar be-
longing to the average 225000 incompetent Indians’ funds is
under the confrol of the burean. When arrested and jailed on a
reservation, 50 miles or more from any attorney, the Indian
is absolutely helpless. Mr. Meritt can not show, I predict, two
cases within two years among the 200 tribes of Indians where
an attorney was hired and paid for out of funds in the Indian
Commissioner’s hands for defense of an Indian who had been
arrested by any Indian judge.

The charge is repeated that the Indian so arrested is prac-
tically defenseless,

Meritt next said that there is “an appeal” from the Indian
judge appointed by the agent. The Indian when arrested and
condemned by a $10 Indian judge appointed by the agent,
Meritt says can appeal to the agent (?), next to Mr. Burke (?),
next to the Secretary of the Interior (7). Not one such appeal
has ever reached Secretary Work during his term of office, I
assert., If so, he would presumably follow Mr. Meritt's recom-
mendation, and Meritt wounld stand by the bureau’s agent who
appointed the “judge.” That is the only “appeal” the Indian
Bureau or existing law allows to 225,000 American citizens,

Again I say every Indian brought before a $10 reservation
Indian judge, appointed by the agent, is without any attorney.
He is not tried under any known legal practice; does not know
the bureau’s rule or law in muany cases he is «aid to have vio-
lated ; has no right to bail; and has no right of appeal to any
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court. He remains in the jail sometimes with ball and chain
punishment, helpless and under the absolute control of the
bureau, and yet Congress has given to every American Indian
full rights of citizenship granted under the Constitution.

Once when prosecuting a man for false representations his
direct examination showed he had money in “a bank.” When
1 asked on cross-examination what bank, he replied “sand
bank.” That is the character of Meritt’s Indian “appeal” to
Mr. Burke or Mr. Work. A sort of bank or bunk appeal never
exercised by any Indian. The Indian Bureau is condemned out
of Mr, Meritt's mouth by such evasive answers. The only pro-
tection for an Indian is found on page 94 of Meritt's novel
bureau defense when he says—

If an Indian has been confined in a jail by an Indian eourt, I think
he would have the right to have a writ of habeas corpus issued in the
Federal court.

Meritt “thinks” that under the Constitution after an In-
dian is illegally locked up with ball and chain a Federal court
can release him if he has money and can find an attorney to
bring habeas corpus proceedings. That is the policy of all
burean control.

The frivolous character of the bureaun’s defense is well illus-
trated by these “points,” made in the order they were read
by him to his California aundiences,

(4) Page 8, Meritt's burean defense next quotes me as saying
somewhere at some time unnamed—

From present progpects the bureau will not lose itz job or its con-
trol of the person and property of the Indians for hundreds of years
to come, if the Indians live that long.

HOW LOXG WILL INDIAN BUREAU CONTROL

Meritt answers that by saying the bureau has relinguished
approximately one-third of the Indians of the United States
during the last 20 years; and then follows his equally “sand
bank” statement as to how an Indian can have his * com-
‘petency ” tested. Prior to Mr. Meriit's connection with the
bureau it may be that some effort to do justice in such matters
wias shown in Indian affairs, but during the past few years the
number of so-called “incompetent” Indians kept under Mr.
Meritt's bureau control, absolute and ironclad, has inereased.

I quote Commissioner Sells, September 23, 1919, Snyder in-
vestigation committee hearings, page 40:

There are now under the administration of the Indian Bureau prac-
tleally 220,000 Indians, There have been within the several years
0,000 * * * gdeclared competent,

In the 1927 appropriation hearings held on the Indian bill
before the House committee, page 96, Commissioner Burke tes-
tified “there are approximately 225,000 restricted Indians.”

If Sells in 1919 was right in his estimate that 220,000 incom-
petent Indians were then under control of the burean, of which
‘Meritt was then an assistant, and if Burke was right in 1925
in his estimate that he then controlled 225,000 Indians, it will
be well to amend my estimate of hundreds of years of burean
control. That control will last through all eternity for the
225,000 and an increasing number of “incompetent” Indians.
Yet these Indians have no control of the §1,600,000,000 in
property held by the Indian Burean. That is a question for any
investigating committee to consider and to recommend a change
in the Government's policy, for Burke and Meritt determine
such alleged “incompetency " and no court review is permitted
under existing law,

BUREAU STATISTICS OF * INCOMPETENTS * AND WEALTH

In like manner Meritt speaks of “ per capita wealth" of the
Indians. A comparative handful of Indians with oil leases are
wealthy, and the total increase in Indian wealth, he says, in one
year was 50 per cent (p. 52, commissioner's report, 1925),
yet nine-tenths of the 225,000 restricted Indians are not among
the handful of fortunate oil magnates. Many tribes, in fact,
are far worse off than they were a few years ago, if the reim-
bursable items charged against them are to be collected,

No more absurd statement, I repeat, has ever been voiced
than Mr. Meritt's glowing shadow-boxing picture of increased
property per capita. Nine out of ten Indians, or probably 95
per cent, do not participate in any such increase, and all of
the inerease in wealth of Indian oil owners is held under the
Indian Bureau's control’ by existing law, No review by any
court is permitted.

Messrs. Burke, Meritt, et al. declare that any criticism
of the ridiculous “ incompetency ” supervision is a proposal to
release all Indians and turn them adrift. In gix years the
number of Indians under bureau control has increased from
220,000 to 225,000, whereas in several years previous to 1919
Sells testified the number had been decreased 9,000.

Any constructive plan for the purpose of making our Indian
citizens self-supporting would not seek to extend control over
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more Indians, but would endeavor to relieve the Government
rapidly from such control.
called incompetent immediately, but where the Indian measures
up in intelligence and honesty with Messrs, Meritt or Burke,
I say without reflection, for instance, they might safely be
released. If so I predict the number of “competent” Indians
will reach many thousands, all of whom should have the full

protection of their person and property given to other citizens

under the Constitution.

The Indians need court protection not only against $10

Indian judges, but they need court protection against bureau-
crats who to-day alone pass upon an Indian's “competency”
without any right to court review.

(5) Mr. Meritt, page 9 of his written address, next quotes
me as saying:

The power to employ an attorney, like the power over person and
property, must have the approval of the Indian Bureau, which, in
effect, names the Indian's lawyer who is to protect the Indian against
the burean.

His answer in effect is a defense of this un-American, uncon-
stitutional power and not a dispute as to the power. I let ihe
statement stand without argnment and ask what other Amer-
iean citizens are so controlled in their person or property or in
choice of attorneys? No Indian can make any contract for an
attorney, I repeat, to bind his property under bureau control
withont the approval of the burean. The burean thereby pro-
tects itself against any alleged objectionable attorney. That is
bureaucracy gone mad.

(6) Mr. Meritt, on page 10 of his remarks, quotes me as say-
ing somewhere at some unnamed place—

No Indian is celled before the congressional committees by the bureau.
A BUREAU MISSTATEMENT PURPOSELY MADE

This alleged sentence standing by itself he answers by say-
ing that gunite a number of Indians have been brought to Wash-
ington in times past for the purpose of testifying before
Indian committees. Then, with mock indignation, he says this
is “misrepresentation.” Of course, the quotation appearing by
itself, withont date or page of alleged speech, does not mean
anything nmor was such statement without qmalification ever
made. On the great Indian oil bill, Navajo bridge bill, and
others the statement is true as it was made.

The following question and answer disclose how Meritt was
called and stumbled when the above alleged quotation was chal-
lenged as not correct. Page 102 of his stenographic report
reads:

Mr. CoLuier. Am I correct in quoting you in that Mr. Frrar sald no
Indiang were ¢alled before the committees of Congress by the bureau?

Mr. Merirr. 1 got that from some speech made by Mr., Frear, and
that Is the substance of his remark.

Mr. CoLLIER. The Indian Commissioner took & position that Mr.
Frear deemed unwise. In that instance no Indian was ‘called, none of
the interested Indians, and no Indian was called before the committees
of Congress.

Mr. MerirT. I assure you it was not my intention to misquote Mr.
FreEAR, but I read that statement somewhere in his address or else in
the publication gotten out by the Commonwealth Club.

Mr. Meritt not only misquoted but knew he misquoted in
reference to the Indians who came to Washington to appear
before committees. I charged that on a matter involving many
millions of dollars of oil leases no Indians were called to testify,
but that the bureau's agent, Mr. Hagerman, was called in 2,000
miles and testified that the Indians would willingly pay 50 per
cent tax on their royalties, which is declared uutrne by all
the Indians I have met. I also charged that no Indian was
called on the Navajo $100,000 bridge item and other charges
of like character that were saddled on the Indians without their
knowledge and by the Indian Bureau. Again Mr. Meritt is dis-
closed to have dodged the real issue by putting up a silly alleged
quotation that he did not know where or when made, and that,
like most of his answers, led into a blind alley.

When the Indian oil leasing bill was before Congress no
Indian was brought to Washington to testify on a measure
affecting oil rights on 22,000,000 acres of Indian lands in many
States and affecting many thousands of Indians. This bill the
bureaun approved while it contained a 37'% per cent tax charge
against the Indians oil royalty and a 5 per cent royalty on a
portion of the Navajo oil fields. I further stated in my speech
of April 23 this year that—

The Indian Bureau brought a white witness over 2,000 miles to say
to the Senate committee that members of an Indian tribe would consent
to give 5O per ecent of their oll royalties, if necessary, in lien of taxes,

Meritt did not and will not deny either charge before a
congressional investigating committee, Why did not the Indian

Not to release all the 225,000 so-
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Bureau bring one Indian witness out of many thousands of
intelligent Indians affected by the bill to tell the truth to Con-
gress and why did it seek to give away enormously valuable
Indian rights based on the unsupported testimony of Mr. Hager-
man who is one of the most active and useful of the bureau’s
“army"” of political employees? Why did Meritt not answer
that specific charge to his California andiences?
(7) Mr. Meritt next quotes me as saying—

The Jackson Barnett case is another scandal unique and original,
It was investigated by the House Indian Committee two or three
years ago and the committee whitewashed Burke.

A CONSPICUOUS CASE OF ALLEGED INDIAN BUREAU CONSPIRACY

Meritt then devotes several pages to his explanation of the
Barnett case. The court dismissed the suit brought to protect
Barnett on the ground that Burke was Barnett's sole guardian
and no court review is possible under existing law of Mr,
Burke’s maladministration.

Barnett is described by everyone as a simple-minded Indian,
about 70 years of age. He was made drunk and kidnaped and
married by 8 woman in Oklahoma. The record in court and
before the Indian Bureau was sufficient to call for every pro-
tection that could be given this really “incompetent” Indian.
Yet he was brought to Washington, and here Mr. Burke, of the
Indian Bureaun, approved a division of Barmett's property,
reaching $1,100,000, wherein the new wife was given $550,000
and a Baptist mission was given $550,000, with a life interest to
Barnett. The gift of his property and its approval by the
bureau was challenged by many parties. I am not attempting
again to cover the facts set forth on pages 5 and 6 of my
speech of April 23, none of which were disputed, even to
the statement from Attorney General Sargent in the New
York Times, in which he was quoted as saying:

Anna Laura Lowe took Barnett from his home in Oklahoma in
February, 1920, and then to Coffeyville, Kans.,, and went throngh a
purported marriage ceremony with Barnett, notwithstanding his men-
tal Incompetence and almost total ignorance. Afterwards she en-
gaged Harold McGuggan, a Coffeyville lawyer, to negotiate with the
Secretary of the Interior to acquire from Barnett's estate the
$1;100,000 in bonds.

From the Washington Star of Friday, November 19, 1926,
I quote:

Walters (representing the Oklahoma guardian), replying to Rogers's
avowal that the action was illegally brought because no fraud was
alleged, declared that while the original bill of complaint did not
specifically allege frand it inferred that Charles H. Burke, Commis-
sioner of Indian Affairs, had been a party to a conspiracy to com-
mit“frand. * * * In a subsequent bill of complaint this infer-
ence was withdrawn and allegation against Albert B, Fall and M. L.
Mott, counsel for the Creek Nation, also were deleted. ®* * * “I
have endeavored most studiously,” Rogers said, “to avoid charging
any governmental officinl with fraud. In view of the evidence, I don't
know whether in this case it was cupidity or stupidity, but if it was
not fraud it was at least gross indiscretion.”

COMMISSIONER BURKE'S CLOSE FRIEND MR. MOTT

An Associated Press account of the case then pending in
the New York court is found in the Washington Post of Novem-
ber 17, wherein it states:

Plaintiff counsel related that at the same time Barnett made his gift
to the mission society he gave a like amount of money to his wife.
She was said to have deposited $200,000 of this to her own account
in the Riggs National Bank, Washington, D. C., and to have paid
$150.000 to Harold G. McGuggan, an attorney of Coffeyville, Kans.,
accused by the plaintif to be a prime mover In a conspiracy to get
money from Barnett, * * * It was sald McGuggan turned $50,000
of the money he received from Mrs. Barnett over to M. L. Mott, de-
scribed as a “close friend of Commissioner of Indian Affairs Charles
H. Burke.” * * ¢ Barnett's gifts, it was said, were approved by
Albert Fall, as Secretary of the Interior, on the baslis of allegedly mis-
leading papers prepared by A. J. Ward, national counsel for the Creek
Indian Tribe.

If the Commissioner of Indian Affairs can escape an inves-
tigation into the charge of conspiracy through a dismissal of
guardianship proceedings in Oklahoma, because under the law
Commissioner Burke is the guardian, with absolute control, then
I ask what protection has an Indian like Barnett when the

guardian puts through a job like that charged in court; and if |

the guardian, Mr. Burke, is willing to give practically all of
Barnett's property away, including to Mr. McGuggan, who got

$150,000, and Mott, the commissioner’s friend, who got $50,000°

of the McGuggan fee, then why keep 225,000 ‘other Indians in
‘bondage under-a claim they are not able to-protect themselves
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THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PROSECUTES MR, BURKE

The commissioner says in his report he, Burke, controls
$1,600,000,000 of Indian property. No court review of lis con-
trol is possible under existing law. That condition ought not
to exist.

An amusing angle to the Barnett case lies in a long labored
explanation offered by Mr. Burke before the House Appropria-
tions Committee, Interior Department, hearings, pages 419 to
433, covering 14 pages. 1'r. Burke testified, on page 428:

Mr. CraMTON (interposing). Under what authority does the Depart-
ment of Justice itself intervene in that suit?

Mr. Burke. On the theory that the Department of Justice is the
department of the Government that has general authority to institute
suits for the Government ; that is, that the law provides that they shall
appear in certain instances. I presume the President might direct the
department

Mr, CramTON (interposing). Has the President directed the Depart-
ment of Justice to intervene in this instance?

Mr, BUrxE. I do not think he has,

Mr. CramTON, But it is a case that involved the authority of a
department of the Government ?

Mr. Burgg. Absolutely.

Mr. CraMTON. The Department of the Interior requested the Depart-
ment of Justice to appear in support of its contention?

Mr. Burkg. Yes, sir.

Mr. CramTON. And In support of its authority, as claimed by the
Department of the Interior. But the Deparfment of Justice has mnot
done that, but has appeared in opposition to the course taken by the
Department of the Interior.

Mr. Bugrge. That is true.

The Attorney General of the United States intervened to pro-
tect Barnett, the Indian, from the scandalous *“settlement”
made by Mr. Burke in Washington.

Commissioner Burke did not know whether the President
directed the Attorney General to bring suit to set aside Mr.
Burke's settlement, but he was not asked, and an investigating
committee should inguire if Mr. Burke did not go to the Presi-
dent and ask to have the proceedings of the Attorney General
Sargent against him dropped. The result, if so, of any such re-
ported request may be judged from the continued intervention
thereafter by the Justice Department in its effort to protect
Barnett from the *setflement” negotiated through Mr. Burke
as Indian Commissioner. If correet, it shows that neither the
President of the United States nor the Attorney General have
surrendered to an Indian Bureau that generally seeks to control
congressional action.

The specific charges made by me against the Indian Burean,
I again submit, are not referred to by Mr. Meritt excepting
ineidentally. He tries a shadow-boxing method of taking al-
leged newspaper reports of purported isolated remarks but does
not join issme squarely on any one of a dozen or more definite
charges submitted to the House. It is a squirming, dodg-
ing policy that may sound plausible before an audience not
familiar with the facts. but no investigating committee wonld
be deceived by such tactics. I am, however, answering specifi-
cally his “explanations” made to whatever alleged remarks of
mine he takes exception.

THE INDIAN BUREAU’S VICIOUS INDIAN JUDGE BILL

To resume, Mr. Meritt's point “ No. 8,” on page 13 of his ad-
dress, next gquotes me as follows:

Lagt session the Indian Bureau was more brazen than ever before
and drew a bill, introduced by Chairman Lravirr, which gave $10-per-
month judges, appointed by Indian agents, the right to sentence In-
dians to six months in jail, and also to fine $100 additional for violat-
ing rules of the agent of bureau or department. Without right of an
attorney, without right of bail, or jury, or any appeal to any court,
this bill drafted by Mr. Burke's bureau wiped out the last vestige of
protection the Indian had.

Here he quotes me correctly as saying “without right of
appeal to any court.” Before this he said to his audience
that I ignored that the arrested Indian had an appeal
to Mr., Burke and Mr. Work. Not two appeals to Mr. Work
have ever gone up in a single year, and not one ever re-
versed, if so, whereas many cases in white courts are appealed
from every jurisdiction, but the American Indian citizen has mo
appeal from the bureau's Indian * court” to any court.

Meritt admits the bureau prepared the vieious judge bill intro-
duced by Chairman Leavirt at the bureau's request, and I restate
every charge made in the quotation, all of which are true as
made. Further, many Indians appearing before the House com-
mittee protested the bill; with the exception of one white attor-
ney, a tribe's alleged spokesman from South Dakota, the home of

but need the help of a guardian like Commissioner Burke or | Mr. Burke. All others protested against the bureau's Indian

even Mr. Meritt?

| judge bill,

Further, the bureau did not attempt to bring the
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bill to the floor of the House notwithstanding it is usunally a
time-honored custom to report measures prepared by or ap-
proved by the burean.

I predict that when an investigation can be had the Indian
Bureau judge bill as drawn by the bureau will be buried a hun-
dred fathoms deep by the committee report. To-day, without
law therefor, these $10 judges are hearing complaints and con-
demning Indians without shadow of legal aunthority, whereas a
substitute measure to give the Indian citizgn substantially the
same rights as white citizens in court was blocked by the bureau
and not reported. Any desire of the bureau to do justice to
the Indians or deal fairly with them may be judged from the
record.

THE BUREAU'S HIGHWAY ROBBERY OF THE XAVAJOS

Next Mr, Meritt (No. 9), page 15, quotes me to his California
audiences in sdbstance correctly on the Lees Ferry bridge as
saying:

This legalized robbery of the Navajo Indians of $100,000 was made
possible by the aid of Commissioner Burke and Secretary Work. Re-
member, Burke in exclusive control of the Indians’' property, urged the
passage of a bill of no benefit to the Indians that would take $100,000
from the $116,000 in his hands if collected at once,

That statement is literally true. Meritt says in reply the
$100,000 will not be paid by the Navajo Indians for several

years. That is characteristic bureau dodging and is not the
point. I have said the bridge charge of $100,000 is “legalized
robbery.” Senator CameroN in the Senate declared it to be

“highway robbery.” Senator BraTToN, also familiar with all
the facts, in the Senate declared it to be “iniquitous.” Many
others whom I quofed in my speeches of April 23 and prior
thereto denounced the swindle committed on the Navajos and
the brazen fraud committed on Congress. No one in either
House defended the bill when the frand was disclosed.

The Lees Ferry bridge authorization item was slipped through
the House with the bureau's express approval on January 21,
1925, and February 14, 1925, it was passed by the Senate before
its purpose and the $100,000 charge against the Navajo Indians
was understood by either House or Senate. WWhen the fraud
perpetrated by the burean on these Indians was disclozed in the
onmmnibus bill the $100,000 Indian appropration for the bridge
was opposed in both House and Senate. In the Senate, where
more flebate could be had, the Interior Department bill of over
$262,000,000 was held up for about two weeks while the Navajo
bridge item of $100,000, a fraudulent charge against the Indians,
was songht to be stricken from the bill. - The heavy pressure for
all the other items in the great appropriation bill finally over-
powered the Senators who sought to disclose and prevent the
fraud.

No man can face the facts and defend that fraud before any
congressional investigating committee that kmows procedure,
and I trust a committee will go into this item, which in itself
is a specific indictment of methods pursued by the Indian
Burean. Again, I repeat, not 1 Indian of over 28000 Indians
on the Navajo Reservation was called to Washington before
the House or Senate committee to say that the Navajos would
receive one dollar's worth of benefit from this $200,000 bridge,
one-half to be paid by the Indians, that with approaches may
eventually cost the Navajos several hundred thousand dollars,
all for the use of white tourists who visit the Grand Canyon.

I further discuss my own recent trip across Lees Ferry else-
where, but I now say no language can too strongly emphasize
this fraud on the Indians, made with the approval of Commis-
sioner Burke and his assistant Mr. Meritt.

Meritt sought to defend an existing reimbursable charge
against the Navajos, now reaching over $900,000, when the
Indians had only $116,000 in 1925 to their credit. He said in
substance and in defense of the bureau, the Government has
made many large direct appropriations for the Indians. The
Government did so under its treaty pledges, but that in no way
excuses the Indian Bureau for being party to a conspicuous,
indefensible fraud on the Indians by compelling them to pay

- $100,000 for a white tourist bridge. As well defend murder
by saying it saved the murdered man a long life of penury and
misery. ;

INDIAN BUREAU’S APPROVAL OF THE VICIOUS OIL BILL

Mr. Meritt (No. 10, p. 21) next quotes me as follows:

An ‘oil leasing bill bad the approval of Coﬁlmigsloner Burke last

session wherein 3734 per cent of the Indians' royalty of the 5 per cent

* of the first section of land was to be paid in taxes on that part of the
22,000,000 acres of Executive order Indian land that contained ofl.

The quotation is correct in substance, and the facts in them-
selves are so ontrageously unjust that Meritt's * defense ” of an
attempted fraud upon the Indians, reaching many millions of
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dollars, would have no standing before a eommittee that under-
stands the facts. The best evidence of the truth of this state-
ment is found in the course of the bill before both Senate and
House committees. When exposed in eommittee they refused to
pass the indefensible 3724 per cent oil tax proposal. Neither
Senate or House committees were again misled by Commissioner
Burke's defense of substantially the same bill that was slipped
through both Houses the preceding session and only blocked at
the last moment by Congressman DALLINGER, of Massachusetts,
on a point or order. Such is the Indian Bureau's guardianship
of its Indian wards with a bill involving many millions of dol-
lars—possibly hundreds of millions—and where the only witness
presented by the burean was Mr. Hagerman, a bureau employee,
who glibly declared to the Senate committee that the Indians
would willingly pay 50 per cent tax from their royalties. The
Senate committee did not believe Mr. Hagerman, and the com-
mittee, after seyeral hearings, rejected the 371 per cent tax
proposal. What more can be said to put the stamp of disap-
proval on Indian Bureau methods?
BALL-AND-CHAIN INDIAN BUREAU PUNISHMENTS

Mr, Meritt, No. 11, page 25, of his speech, next quotes me as
saying somewhere at some time as follows:

An Indian was recently kept in a 6 by 9 foot cell of a Wisconsin
Jail for six months, under unspeakable conditions, with a ball and chain
attached to him. He had committed a misdemeanor,

This quotation is not true, nor of course was any such state-
ment of six months actual imprisonment ever made by me. Idid
say that Moore, an Indian, was imprisoned by the Indian agent,
through an Indian judge, and sentenced to jail for six months
after an illegal arrest and illegal hearing, From aflidavits placed
in the record during the debate, Moore, the Indian, was placed in
a filthy cell as described, with a ball and chain for ankle jewelry.
Meritt, with true bureaun logie, does not deny the arrest or kid-
naping of young Moore or his imprisonment in a foul-smelling,
toilet-stopped cell, ¢hained with ball accompaniment and with-
out any authority of law. He describes the jail building, how-
ever, as a fine temporary residence for the young Indian, who,
he says, served less than 30 days and escaped. When attention
was called to the illegal proceeding it is probable Moore was
allowed or persuaded to escape.

Meritt, with usual Indian Bureau hypocrisy, says, “ Mr. FREAR
shed tears over the punishment of this Indian youth, who was
charged by the Indian agent with the seduetion of an Indian
girl.” For many years I was engaged in prosecuting eriminal
cases, and the charge of seduction and bastardy was commonly
found on the court calendar.

1 never failed to present the facts and sought to secure con-
vietions where deserved, but never to my knowledge before was
any prisoner in a Wisconsin jail chained up for murder, much
less for seduction. Meritt pretends by inference he does not
see any objection to a ball-and-chain treatment and further
that anyone so objecting must justify seduction. That is not
born of ignorance but of mendacious reasoning that governs the
entire Indian Bureau, including Commissioner Burke, in its
treatment of Indians, for practically the” same “ defense” of
Spanish inquisition methods came from Mr. Burke in his “ de-
fense.” In fact, Mr. Burke and Mr. Meritt reason much alike
and with bureaucratic lack of logic.

Of course, any Indian youth if found guilty by a court of
competent jurisdiction, should have been punmished, but I appre-
hend that if all American youths who commit the offense with
which Moore was charged were locked up in 6 by 9 foot cells,
the roll call every year would reach many thousands and the
chains to fasten them would be found stretched along many
miles from New York to Hollywood. None others, I venture
to assert, will be found chained in their cells. None others
would be deprived of a court trial.

That does not condone any offense if committed by Moore,
but no Indian judge had the right to lock up Moore with ball
and chain any more than he had to lock up Meritt who would
decorate Moore with such adornments. Hammitt, the agent,
is a fit representative of the present bureau’s methods. He is
still in charge of the Wisconsin Lac du Flambeau Indian
Reservation. Governor Blaine, now Senator elect from Wiscon-
gin, made the ball-and-chain complaint to President Coolidge
against Hammitt, The governor did not condone the offense,
and yet I wonder if he will approve Hammitt and Meritt and
Burke and their ball-and-chain punishment to Indians without
trial by any court of competent jurisdiction, Time will show.

TRUE INDIAN BUREAU DECEPTION ATTEMPTED

Mr. Meritt (No. 12, p. 27) next quotes me as saying before
the Commonwealth Club of San Francisco—

Nearly one-half million dollars have been spent from the funds of
one Indian tribe whose death rate is five times that of Ban Francisco




390

against their will and In spite of the fact that not ome person in a
hundred who uses the bridge that this money has been spent for is
an Indian,

The statement, standing by itself, is made misleading, In
fact, the evident purpose is to mislead, and squirming and dodg-
ing was never more in evidence than in Mr. Meritt's defense of
the Pima fraudulent bridge that I saw and will discuss more in
detail later.

I stated at San Francisco that in addition and apart from
an irrigation dam constructed on the Pima Reservation that
will cost, with laterals, many hundreds of thousands of dollars,
I had personally seen a beautiful stone and concrete white tour-
ist bridge, of full roadway width, nearly a quarter of a mile, ap-
parently, in length with approaches, that had been constructed
with ornamental railings, lamps, and other extravagant accom-
paniments, all connected by a fine, modern highway through the
lower part of the Pima Reservation, on the direct tourist high-
way from Phoenix to Tueson. That the cost of the bridge, apart
from the dam construction necessary for irrigation, was esti-
mated by people on the reservation to be over $400,000, and from
two witnesses, one white and one Indian, of irreproachable
character and high standing in Phoenix, I learned that not one
Indian would use the bridge, compared to every 100 white
people, In fact, one witness said a thonsand white people
were likely to use the extravagantly built bridge and expensive
highway compared to every Indian who would cross it. These
witnesses I will agree to furnish to an investigating jury and
will be willing to testify myself to what I saw and learned on
that reservation. I say positively that the Pima bridge,
whether it costs $200,000 or $400,000 or more, when made a
reimbursable charge against the Pima Indians, is an in-
famous outrage perpetrated on a poor Indian tribe and the
frand on the Indians in building a bridge for white tourists on
a trunk highway is also a fraud practiced on Congress by pre-
tending it was merely an irrigation dam for the Pimas, as
stated by Meritt in his Oakland speech. His statement was
an intentional perversion of the truth, unless ignorantly made.
For this fraud the Indian Bureau is primarily responsible, and
that imposition on Congress and on the Pima Indians is still
justified by the squirming defense offered by Mr. Meritt.

For that act alone, which is on a par and as indefensible as
the Navajo bridge, a house cleaning ought to occur in the
Indian Bureau, and the broom ought not to miss this defender
of the fraud, who grossly misrepresented the facts to his Oak-
land and San Francisco audiences.

WHY DOES THE GOVERNMENT PAY FOR MERITT'S 6,000-MILE JUNEET?

When a humble Representative in Congress begs the Indian
Bureau for a small food supply or increased medical aid for
gick and starving Indians in his district, or when distinguished
Senators like Jomxsox, of California, and Kine, of Utah, are
bluntly told by Meritt that Indian Bureau records are not for
idle congressional serutiny, it may be some slight comfort to
know that at times Meritt absents himself from his highly re-
sponsible post of duty in Washington to travel 6,000 miles
across the continent and back with a portfolio under his arm
containing his observations on the Pima bridge fraud and on
the liberty of action he will accord Congress.

It will be remembered that Meritt draws down his regular
stipend and with it several hundred dollars extra from undis-
closed Indian funds under his control when traveling the 6,000
miles to read his bald misrepresentation about the $400,000
Pima white tourist bridge, not essential to irrigation. Only a
thorough congressional investigation will do justice to many
phases of the Meritt-Burke bureau maladministration.

Meritt says the death rate among Pima Indians is not that
stated by me to the San Francisco Club. A congressional in-
vestigation can certainly determine the facts and also the
responsibility for a fatality rate, if measurably true as stated
to me, to be about five times the San Francisco rate. I have
not relied on printed statistics from the bureau that have been
placed before Congress affecting Indians generally but was
assured by reputable people living on the Pima Reservation
that the death rate was very heavy, and such witnesses, both
white and Indian, I offer to present to any congressional com-
mittee that will make a thorough investigation of the present
Indian Burean's administration.

Mr. Meritt (No. 13), page 29, next quotes me, but when or
where the statement was claimed to have been made he does
nnt say. He gquotes, or misquotes, as follows:

S8marting under the criticism of Its neglect of Indian education, the
Indian Office has established show places at Albuquerque, Phoenix,
Riverside, Fort Wingate, and elsewhere,

INDIAN BUREAU KIDNAPING CASES

There is a basis of truth in his statement of my charge, but
not in the way quoted by Meritt. The action of the present
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Indian Bureau in tearing young children away from  their
parents and sending them hundreds of miles away to distant
nonreservition schools was first begun on a small scale, but it
now covers many Indian tribes. Indian parents can not see
their children for years at a time, I was informed, and it is one
of the most cruel practices of modern times. The statement
quoted, I believe, is strictly true, although I did not express
myself in that way. Let me give an instance of this phase of
Indian Bureau maladministration.
INDIAN BUREAU HRESPONSIBLE FOR TUBERCULOSIS

Out of a score of young children taken from a Navajo Indian
reservation, living at from 6,000 to 7,000 feet altitude, down to
the low Phoenix school altitude, I was informed that many in-
curred tuberculosis and several sent home in incurable stages of
tuberculosis died in their reservation hogans, spreading tuber-
culosis among other members of the family living under the
same roof. This is one of the most serious charges against the
bureau, a charge made by responsible bureau employees, and,
further, that the bureau is building up nonreservation schools and
abandoning day schools on Indian reservations and is also pro-
posing to close small reservation boarding schools now of easy
access to Indian scholars. The information was not street talk,
but eame from responsible sources that command attention.

I am ready to place the facts before any investigating eom-
mittee of Congress that will take up this cruel metiod of sepa-
rating parents from their children by blind thecrists who be-
lieve that through such separation the child will abandon its
Indian parents and parental ways. No more fruitful bureau-
cratic control evidence, I believe, will be developed by a congres-
sional investigation than the mistreatment of Indians in the
manner described and the surrender and deportation of many
thousands of children hundreds of miles away from their

nis to these nonreservation schools.

(No. 14.) Mr. Meritt next criticizes my statement of “Tales
of neglect and wicked concealment of health conditions among
the Indians.”

These facts I have offered to place before any investigating
committee, but I do not care fo repeat in detail complaints
fully set forth in past speeches.

The refusal of the Indian Bureau to release the Florence
Patterson Red Cross nurse health report of bureau negligence
is characteristic. Again neglect and worse than neglect of
the Zuni Indians, caused by the Indian Bureau's disposal of
sewage from the reservation buildings and from the Indian

“school, can be brought directly to the ‘doors of the Indian

Bureau that located the buildings and caused disease and
the resultant high death rate—not correctly reported, how-
ever—according to many Indians I met on the reservation.
1 studied conditions there, and can say that if any health
officer in the average country village permitted health condi-
tions to exist as they now exist on the Zuni Reservation he
should be jailed with Mr. Meritt's ball-and-chain attach-
ments, if necessary, and condemned to live under like condi-
tions for the rest of his days.

(No. 15.) Meritt next and last makes an absurd statement,
page 32 of his typewritten address, when he misqnotes me to
his Oakland audience as saying:

1 would rather be a serf in Russla under the old régime than to be
one of our American Indians under present conditions, and I bhave seen
both.

I hardly need say that no such statement was ever made by
me, although the facts are bad enough.

First. I never pictured myself with either the conditton of
the American Indian or of a Russian serf. Second, I never
made comparison with a Russian serf under the czar, because
I visited Russia long after the czar was overthrown and all
the serfs had been then freed by the Bolsheviks, Mr, Meritt's
straw man that he held up to view before his Oakland aundience
was a subterfuge offered by a desperate, dodging man who
refused to answer any of the specific charges against the
bureau when placed before him.

THE INDIAN BUREAU AND DAREEST RUSSIA

In one or more speeches I have made reference to the Indian
Bureau's cruel separation of parents and children for years
at a time because of an attempt to alienate the children from
Indian parents and Indian ways, according to the reason given
me. I also charged that nowhere in the wide world, even in
“darkest Russia” of to-day, were such things possible, and
that the treatment and illegal punishments imposed by Indian
judges appointed by Indian agents was unknown the world
over. That the control of Indian property and of the Indian
person by the bureau was without any comparison in this or any
other country. These statements and others to the same effect I
again repeat with an additional statement that if they are
true and many of the facts relating to the absolute control
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of property are admitted by the bureau, then the bureau should
be given a thorough shaking up and at an early day the bureau
gystem should be abolished.

I believe any thorough congressional investigation would
reach the same conclusion after hearing Messrs., Meritt and
Burke without any adverse witness being called to make a
case against them. I have answered every “quotation” true
or misquoted presented before the Oakland audience and have
covered Meritt's alleged quotations from my remarks with a
notation as to his answers or defense. Not one word from
him, however, was offered in reply to 100 specific questions
handed him by the Oakland Forum before he began reading
his article. Not one direct response was made to the many
direct charges guoted in my own resolutions presented to the
House asking for an investigation, as set forth in substance
at the beginning of these remarks, Only a shifty series of
misquotations or half quotations prepared here in the city of
Washington and carried by him 3,000 miles to the Pacific
coast, there to be read before audiences whom he supposed
might not know the facts.

As a rule they did know the facts and Meritt's effort served
to stimulate friends of the Indians to renewed efforts to break
through the hard-shelled bureaucracy that now effectually con-
trols Indians, Senators, Representatives and all friends of the
Nation's wards who seek the truth regarding the bureau’s
record of maladministration.

FIFTEEN ANDY GUMP CHALLENGES

Mr., Meritt made 15 vainglorious, mock heroic challenges to
his erities but not to disprove that he and his associates have
committed frauds on Congress and on the Indians; not to dis.
prove that they have permitted ball-and-chain punishments;
not to disprove they have separated Indian parents from chil-
dren against their will and not to disprove misconduct and mal-
feasance in office. Most of Meritt's challenges on analysis show
they are unrelated to the charges made against the bureau. An
investigating committee will not waste time in trying to deter-
mine how fast a few oil wells are enriching a few Indians but
will ask particulars about 200,000 Indians who have no oil wells
and who, in many instances, are suffering from want of food,
from lack of ordinary health conditions, and need of life’s eom-
forts now enjoyed by practically every white person old and
young,

That is the issue. Speculative increase in Indian populations
known to be grossly inaccurate by every student of the subject
because of impracticability of any census in many places and
uncertainty of mixed bloods is no answer to the specific charge
here made that the Pima Indians were swindled and Congress
misled by the ornamental white man's bridge now building with
bureaun approval, the same as the Navajo Indians were swindled
and Congress misled by the white tourist bridge at Lees Ferry
of which more hereafter. If a man steals from one man it is
not usual to accept evidence in justifieation that he did not
steal from another. In fact, the only evidence to be accepted
is that be did not steal at all.

When Senators CAmEroN and BraTToN denounced the Lees
Ferry Bridge fraud with which they were acquainted as “ high-
way robbery " of the Navajos, to which verdict I can bring a
gcore of witnesses, white and Indian, living on the outskirts of
the painted desert, it is no answer to say “the treaty obliga-
tions of the Government with the Indians were never more
carefully respected and carried out to the letter.,” That high
sounding bureaucratic utterance can best be determined by
facts and not by platitudes,

Again I repeat that the man in the Indian Bureau most
execrated by Members of Congress with whom I have talked is
Mr, Meritt. Whether he deserves all the blame showered on
his head I do not know nor care, nor do I care for his opinion,
~ but I can say from personal knowledge that I was chairman of a
subcommittee on the Crowe Indian bill when Mr. Meritt came
before that committee, In the course of a fairly active practice
I have examined many hundreds of witnesses and have cross-
examined as many more, and as chairman of the 1921 aircraft
probe I examined a hundred or more in that probe, but in all
my experience I never had more difficulty in pinning a witness
down to a plain statement than in the case of Meritt.

AN INDIAN BURRAU WITNESS WHO REPRESENTS THE BUREAUD

The hearings before that subcommittee will show the slipping
and squirming of the witness Meritt when a simple, straight
issue was before the committee. I say this not especially to
discredit the general course of Mr, Meritt in his Oakland speech,
which he said he read from manuscript, but to forewarn any
congressional investigating committee that may find its hands
full not to be surprised, upon questioning Mr. Meritt on the
22 000,000-acre oil lease bill or Indian judge bill or Navajo
bridge bill or Pima death rate, to find reply that the per capita

CONGRESSIONAL RECORD—HOUSE.

391

wealth of the people of the United States is less than $2,500
while that of the American Indian is $4,700. I have met hun-
dreds of American Indians, and I doubt if their actual per
capita wealth, on which any market value could be placed,
would much exceed 1 per cent of the $4,700 figure so glibly
reeled off by the real orator of the bureau. Evasion and mis-
representation are certain to occur with this witness, but any
committee can easily find out the truth.

For illustration, if the Indian Bureau's figures are correct,
and 225,000 Indians own $1,600,000,000, then it may be demon-
strated in cold mathematics that every man, woman, and child
of the 225,000 incompetent Indians is worth per capita $7,000,
or for an average family $35,000. If any witness can be found
to testify that the average southwestern Indian families on any
of the 20 reservations I visited have much above 1 per cent of
that average amount, excepting in vague indeterminate guess-
work, then the witness will be entitled to his place on the non-
veracity throne at the side of the Assistant Indian Commis-
sioner. These facts can be easily determined by a committee
that would take a vast amount of bunk out of such bureaun
statistics,

Before concluding my discussion of Mr. Meritt and Mr.
Burke and their bureaucratic methods, that savor of “ darkest
Russia,” to use the phrase coined by Meritt in Oakland, I
quote a portion of two affidavits, one executed by an American
Indian citizen, a soldier in France, who fought for his country,
and who was told by Mr. Burke, according to his affidavit, that
“as long as you fight this bureau you will get all the fighting.
you want,” with other statements which the affiant charged
was burean blackmail.

The other affidavit is from a Presbyterian missionary, an
Indian, and elder in his church, who stated under oath that it
was the toughest time he ever had, for although sent to Wash-
ington by his tribe by a petition signed by more than 300
Indians the bureau would not recognize him as a delegate or
pay his expenses from the tribal fund. He stated, under oath,
that the ball-and-chain punishment was enforced on his reserva-
tion.

Meritt, the shining light that illuminated the Oakland Forum,
took the missionary into Commissioner Burke's office April 7,
this year, and there Burke told him also that if Indians fight
the bureau then they can get no legislation; they can not get
any of their bills through, and he states Burke told the same
thing to other Indians.

These affidavits; extracts of which are attached, were set
forth in full in my speech of April 23, 1926, and they are re-
ferred to here because of the fact that Burke's threat to pre-
vent any legislation in which these Indians were interested and
his attempt to frighten them is only another phase of the in-
fluence he exerts on legizlative committees through his power
te accept or reject any bills brought before the committees and
referred to his bureau.

The offense of the Presbyterian missionary and of the soldier
who had fought in France lay in both cases in the fact that
they had protested against an Indian “ judge” ball-and-chain
treatment of Indians on their reservation. To Burke and
Meritt that protest was treason, which merited the threatened
punishment set forth in their affidavits,

INDIANS CAN NOT GET LEGISLATION WHO FIGHT THE BUREAU

If any other bureau in Washington can exercise such auto-

.| cratie, czarlike, and indefensible authority over its wards, the

fact has not been brought to my attention. Intimidation and
threats by Burke and Meritt should be investigated. The
affidavits are herewith attached:

MR, BUREE AND MR, MERITT PUNISH THOSE “ WHO FIGHT THE BUREAU "

This afidavit is exeecuted in Washington, D. C., April 9, 1926,
because two days ago, April T, I was taken into Commissioner Burke's
office by Mr, Meritt.

They told me that they had found out the statement abont Benjamin
Kills Thunder was not true.

I make the following affidavit:

I bave known Benjamin Kills Thunder a long time and what I
gtated in a letter to Representative Frear March 4 is common knowl-
edge at the Fort Peck Reservation, It was about September, 1923,
that Benjamin Kills Thunder was in the jail at Fort Peck Reserva-
tlon. ' Benjemin Kills Thunder sent a note to me asking me to come
to see him, He asked me to talk to the superintendent and ask the
superintendent to take the chains off his legs. Benjamin told me he
had left the reservation without permission and came to Fort Totten
Reservation in North Dakota to see his relatives, and when he came
back the polieceman and the superintendent arrested him, Bepjamin
told me that he was tried before the reservation judge for leaving
the reservation without a pass and was then sentenced to jail, and
I think the term was 60 days.

Then I went and talked to the superintendent, Mr, James B. Kitch.
Mr, Kitch said to me, “ Now, Riker, you go and talk to that young
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man and tell him to behave. Give him a good talking to.” Mr. Kitch
said also, “ You know, Mr. Riker, if I let this boy go by without pun-
ishment, then other Indians will go off the reservation without a
permit, and they may get in trouble, and I will have to bear the
blame."

Mr. Kitch did not refer to any other charge against Benjamin Kills
Thunder.

Then I went and talked to Kills Thunder and said, “I have sons like
you, and I want you to take my advice like you were my own son."”
And I said, * Be good and do good." I did not know of any bad con-
duet, but I talked to him about the kind of bad conduct other young
men are gullty of sometimes and talked with him just like he was my
own son and said, “ You know it is a very bad thing for you to be here
with chains on your legs.”

Benjamin Kills Thunder was very anxious to know what they were
going to do to him, and I said if he would take the superintendent's
advice and take my advice that Mr. Kitch had told me he would take
the chains off his legs. So Benjamin agreed to take my advice, and
then the policeman came while we were talking and they took Benjamin
over to the blacksmith shop. I did not go into the blacksmith shop
but went on toward the store, but they took the chains off in the black-
smith shop and then they turned him loose.

1 testify that when I talked with Mr. Kitch and with the boy there
was no reference to any other offense except going off the reservation
without a permit, and there was talk about the case, and nobody ever
spoke of any offense except that,

I still have in my possession the mote that Benjamin sent to me,
I have it here in Washington.

There i3 no doubt in my mind that the facts are the way I have
told them. -

Of course Benjamin Kills Thunder's case isn’t the only one. All the
Indians know they must have a permit and will be punished if they go
off the reservation without one. This has been the case for a great
many years, and it is the case to-day.

Mr. Burke told me at this Interview two days ago that if the Indians
fight the burean then they can't get any legislation; they can’t get any
of their bills through. Other Indians who are here tell me he has told
them the same thing, I know that when I make this affidavit I am
bringing more trouble on me, but I must tell the truth.

[ dm a man of 58 and am a Presbyterian missionary at home and an
elder in my church, and this is not nvy first trip to Washington, but it
is the tounghest time I have ever had. I am hurting myself. When the
five-year program was begun and the Indian general council was called
1 was elected the first president by the tribe. I am down here on the
aunthority of the tribe and on a petition signed by tmore than 300 indl-
vidual members of the tribe. But the Indian Bureau will not recognize
me as a delegate and will not pay any of my expeuses from the tribal
fund. All the bureau will do 18 to lend me money which has to be
paid out of my individual property. It would be so easy for me it 1
would deny the truth and submit to the Indian Bureau in everything,
put I any a man and I am a Christian, and I must be as truthful as I
can.

Rurus RIcKEeR, Sr.

Bubseribed and sworn to before me this 19th day of April, 1926.

Mary V. Jupag, Notary Publie.

(My commission expires April 15, 1930.)

Witness :

JupsoN Kina,

AN EX-SERVICE MAN AND HIS WIFE PROMISED LOTS OF FIGHTING
WasmingTON, D. C., April 9, 1926,

1, Meade Steecle, wish to make the following statement:

1 belleve that the Indian Bureau is going to make charges against
me but I can't find out what these charges are going to be. I testify
that the Indian Bureau took my wife into a hotel and attempted to get
her to make statements against me,

I am an ex-service man. I volunteered and went through the whole
war in Europe, and I have an honorable discharge. My tribe, who
know me well, have sent me to Washington to represent them, The
Indizn Bureau will not recognize their right to do this, and they will
not allow my expenses to be paid out of the tribe’s money, but my
father-in-law is helping me out and other relatives, so that I am able
to stay here.

How can I down here in Washington fight agalnst charges agalnst
my personal character which the Indian Bureau has got up with all
its machinery? And what bave these charges got to do with my
work here, since my people officinlly sent me here? I call this black-
mail, and I ask whether it is fair play for a great Government bureau
to hound me with personal charges, which 1 ean't meet in Washington,
and to persecute my wife because I am here for work which my tribe
has ordered me to do which the Indian Bureau doesn't want me to do.
Mr. Burke said to me: “As long as you fight this burean, you will get
all the fighting you want.” But I ask whether I ghould have to fight
against slander and whether my wife has to be persecuted and evil
charges against my character dragged together, 1 don't fight the
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Indian Bureau officers by trying to get evil stuff about their private
lives, and I don’t think that is the way public fighting ought to be done.
I have General Pershing’s statement to me which says: “ With a con-
secrated devotion to duty you have loyally served your country.” Now,
I must serve my tribe no matter what kind of hell they make for me.
MpApE STEELR,
Bubscribed and sworn to before me this 9th day of April, 1026,

[B8EAL.] MairyY JupGe, Notary Public.
(My commission expires April 15, 1930.)
Witness : :

Jupsox Kixe.
BALL AND CHAINS IN MONTANA AND WISCONSIN

Ball and chains were worn in Montana for leaving the
reservation without the agent’s permission. According to the
affidavit that was the punishment, and Meritt and Burke say if
any Indian dares fight the bureau he will see that the Indian
gets enough of it

Ball and chains are worn in Wisconsin for an alleged mis-
demeanor, and anyone who protests against the high-handed
Indian Bureau's agent is in sympathy with the alleged cul-
prit's offense, according to the philosophy of Mr. Meritt and
Mr. Burke,

All this occurs in free America, where, I repeat, the Indian
Bureau has complete control of the property of 225,000 In-
dians, and by means of its illegal acts through $10-a-month
Indian judges now controls the personal liberty of these same
Indians. With this control also exists its virtual claim to
control all legislation offered for Indian welfare.

One of the most pathetic sides of this Indian case is shown
from the statement of Meritt that he has forced from a
Montana Indian, who was thus chained, an affidavit that the
chaining incident was not true. Instead of offering any cor-
rection to the Montana chaining, I would ascertain what
force and threats were used to get the chained man to yield
to Meritt when the missionary stood fast in spite of threats,

It is only another case of gross abuse of power that needs
investigation. Burke and Meritt are to-day the court of last
resort, subject alone, Meritt admits, to habeas corpus pro-
ceedings by courts having legal jurisdiction. No congres-
sional committee will be deceived by the bluster and bluff
now used to intimidate Indians., I conclude my reply to Mer-
itt's statements with a suggestion that if any bureau in Wash-
ington is more autocratic and illegally objectionable in its
methods than the Indian Burean, then Congress has a double
job to perform, in which Indian welfare, however, should
come first.

In conclusion of these remarks, largely addressed to Mr.
Meritt's earefully prepared defense, I repeat that every material
charge made by me against the Indian Burean before the House
last session, and as set forth in substance at the beginning of
my remarks, is shown to be true, otherwise either Mr. Burke
or Mr, Meritt would have denied them in their two widely pub-
lished defenses,

RECORD OF THE TWO MAIN INDIAN BUREAU WITNESSES

The refusal of both men to answer or dispute any of the
material charges, but to attempt shifty defenses excusing mat-
ters that could not well be dodged like the ball and chain epi-
sodes or evading charges affecting their absolute control of the
person and property of 225,000 American Indians is in itself
evidence that such charges are true, as stated. No dispute ean
be offered to either charge. The concealment of records by
Messrs. Burke and Meritt, thereby covering up appalling neglect
of Indians with heavy death rates therein disclosed, is only one
of the many autocratic rulings by which the present Indian
Bureau retains its iron-handed rule withount regard to law,

I have sought herein as briefly as possible to point out the
tissue of misstatements and evasions made by the official spokes-
man of the Indian Burean, who was sent 6,000 miles at Gov-
ernment expense to galvanize the Indian Bureau's control,
Meritt's complete failure to mislead the Californians eame from
a knowledge of actual conditious among the Iudians had by
many of his aunditors.

My own trip, of approximately 4,500 miles, among western
and southwestern Indian tribes has given me first-hand knowl-
edge of many Indian matters hereinbefore discussed, and I
repeat that, based on such personal knowledge, I believe true
every specific charge set forth in my resolution asking for a
congressional investigation of Indian Bureau misrule and mal-
administration. That investigation Congress owes to itself be-
cause of the misleading and deceitful bureau methods used to
put through Congress legislation unjust to Indians. More im-
portant, the whole subject of Indian misrule is due primarily
to the failure of Congress to grapple with the Indian problem
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instead of leaving these wards of the Government to the tender
mereies of a discredited bureancracy.

In order to expose the insincerity and lack of knowledge,
or of courage on the part of Missionary Meritt, who traveled
6,000 miles at Government expense to read his carefully pre-
pared transcript directed to disconnected expressions he alleged
were mide by myself at various places and times, and to which
he devoted his long article, I eall attention to 100 pointed spe-
cific questions submitted to Mr, Meritt before the Oakland
Forum meeting, to which he refused to reply. The questions
were submitted by leading citizens of California, among whom
were ex-Congressman William Kent, of San Francisco, a man of
large affairs and a philanthropist known throughout the West,
and in fact throughout the country; Dr. John R. Haynes, of
Los Angeles, a signer, and regent of the State University,
is known throughout the State as a man of affairs and
of high standing; Mrs. Duncan McDufile, chairman of In-
dian welfare of the League of Women Voters of California,
is another whose name was attached to the questions, should
have brought some explanation from Mr. Meritt. Other names
of equally well-known people were on the letter of inquiry.

For good and sufficient reasons Meritt avoided all the ques-
tions and left California with a record of artful dodging that
did not have even the semblance of art in the inglorious exit
of its chief performer. Six thousand miles of hard fravel from
Washington to California and then back deserved better results
than those obtained by the Assistant Indian Commissioner.

The questions submitted by the Indian welfare organization,
and which the bureau’s mouthpiece refused to answer, are
offered herewith. The answers can readily be furnished by
a real investigation by a congressional committee, but will not
be obtainable from any whitewashing committee as proposed
by the bureaun to be named by Secretary Work.

Questions on the Indians and the Indian Burean addressed
to the Hon. BEdgar B. Meritt, Assistant Commissioner of Indian
Affairs, by many members of Indian welfare organizations and
which he failed to answer in his California meetings:

INDIAN HEALTH AND THE INDIAN BCREAU MEDICAL SERVICH

1. Has the Indian Bureau exclusive responsibility for the health of
the 225,000 restricted Indians?

2, Do the mortality tables of the Federal census show tha® the white
death rate in the registration area is below 12 per 1,000 per year, and
that the Indian death rate im the registration area 11 steadily increas-
ing, as follows: In 1921, 17.5 per thousand ; in 1922, 19.2 per thounsand;
in 1928, 22.5 per thousand ; in 1924, 25.9 per thousand?

3. Does the Federal census show that the Nebraska Indian death rate
from 1921 through 1924 was 45.7 per thousand per year, and that the
Wyoming Indian death rate from 1921 through 1923 was 48.8 per
thousand per year?

4, Did Secretary Hubert Work use the following words In his recent
statement called “ Then and now"? * Continuing surveys are being
conducted on all reservations, with accurate records concerning each
Indian, showing whether he has built a home, whether he is cultivating
a farm or engaged in livestock, and the progress he is making toward
gelf-support.” p

And did Commissioner Charles H. Burke on Oectober 22, this year,
use these words: * The figures collected from the various Indian res-
ervations relating to morbidity, mortality, ete, are of necessity esti-
nrates as accurate as present conditions allow.”

If Secretary Work's statement ig correct, can Commissioner Burke's
gtatement be correct? Can accurate individual records of each Indian
be kept, showing whether he is in the livestock business, has built a
home, ete., when the bureau, according to Commissioner Burke, only
estimates whether he is alive or dead?

5. Why, when the Federal census reports 2,875 Indian deaths for the
death registration area alone, containing less than one-third of the
Indian population, does the Indian Bureau report only 1,991 deaths for
the entire country?

6. Why has the Indian Burean's annual report, each year gince 1021,
while giving alleged population totals, omitted to report the number of
Indian births and of Indian deaths?

7. Is it a fact that, assuming that the findings made in the bureau's
Sounthwest trachoma campalign of a year ago are typical, the number
of Indians suffering from trachoma, leading to blindness, is 70,000 in
the entire country? 1Is it a fact that 40,000 cases iz a minimum
estimate?

8, Is it a fact that the Indian Bureau, speaking through yourself,
asked of Congress not an increase, but a reduction, in the Indian
health and medical appropriation for the current year?

Are you correctly quoted on page 392 of the House Appropriations
Committee hearings for the current year, as follows :

Appropriation for 1926 $700, 000
Estimate for 1927 675, 000
Decrease 25, 000
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and on page 396, the same hearings, as follows!: “ The reduction in
the amount requested for 1827, owing to the fact that prices and ex-
penses have not materially changed, will not permit any considerable
expansion of the present (health) work™?

9. Is this policy toward Indian health work due to the demands of
the President’s economy program?

Had the President’s economy program been adopted in 1919, when
you, testifying before the special investigation Committee of the House
on Indian Affairs, used the following words: “After this next year—
i. e, beginning 1921—I1 thiok there sheould be a gradual decrease of
the appropriations ecarried in the Indian bill, and the only sure way
for bringing about that decrease would be for Congress to arbitrarily
direct that there be a decrease of appropriations for, say, & period of
four years, of § per cent each year. * * * I do not believe the
Indian Bervice would be very materially hurt, and it would result in
saving the Government approximately $750,000 a year"? (Hearings,
1919, Vol. I, p. 806.)

In view of this position of the Bureau and of its request for reduced
health appropriations, is Congress or the bureau responsible for the
gtarved Indian health work?

10. Did Secretary Hubert Work recently state in * Then and Now ™
that United States Public Health Bervice methods had been installed
in all branches of the Indian medical service?

Does. this statement by Secretary Work follow upon the recommen-
dation made by the House Indian Affairs Committee, the Board of
Indian Commisgioners, the National and Provincial Assoclation of Pub-
lic Health Officers, and others, that the Indian medical gervice should
be transferred to the United States Public Health Bervice?

11. Do you consider that the above recommendation is met, or that
Becretary Work's claim is borne out, through the transfer to the
Indian PBuoreau of three physicians from the United States Public
Health Service, and do you confirm the statement that the present
facts, specified below, are as follows :

* That the Indian Bureau has not yet furnished public-health nurses
to the Indians of California?

That the Indians of the Western Navajo jurisdiction, 7,000 in num-
ber, are served by one doctor, without a field nurse, without a hospital,
and without diagnostie facilities?

That the dental work for the 225,000 Indinns cxclusively under
Indian Bureau ministration is carried out by seven dentists?

That an excessive death rate from enteric diseases i3 caused among
the Zuni Pueblo Indians through the fact that they are compelled to
drink from shallow wells polluted by sewage dumped from the Indian
agency buildings up the land slope above'the Indian village?

That Navajo and Apache children who contract tuberculosis in the
boarding schools are sent home to die in the hogans and wickyups of
their families, under conditions practically insuring that they will
infect their families before they die?

That SBecretary McDowell, of the Board of Indian Commissioners,
reported in 1924 : “ The survey of seven of the boarding schools at-
tended exclusively by Navajo children disclosed the fact that 46,064 per
cent of the pupils were trachomatous.”

That in the face of the excessive morbidity of the Navajos, the
Indian Bureau between the years 1920 and 1924 spent the following
sums in the Navajo field, as reported by Commissioner Burke to the
Benate Committee on Public Lands and Surveys: For Indian Bureau
galaries $1,620,837, and for medical supplies for Indians $31,267, this
being £13 in bureau salaries for each Navajo Indian each year and
25 cents for medical supplies for each Navajo Indian each year.

THE PIMA INDIANXS AND THE INDIAN BUREAU

12, Has the bridge over the Gila River near Sacaton, Ariz, costing
more than a third of a million and equipped with decorative lighting
globes, heen charged reimbursably against the Pima Indians?

13. Did the Indian Bureau indorse, or, on the other hand, did it
protest against, this ¢harge against the Pima Indians?

14, Did the Pima Indians ask for this bridge or consent to this
mortgage against thelr land?

15, Do the Indian Bureau records show as follows:

That 4,800 Pima Indians were allotted in 1921, of whom 1,102 had
died before 1926, making a yearly death rate of 58 per thousand. about
five times the white death rate?

18. Is it true that the excessive Pima death rate, consecutive over
a four-year period, is not due to any sudden epidemie, but to slow
starvation and hopelessness?

17. Is it true that the Pima Indians lost their irrigation water as
a result of Indian Bureau negligence in its capacity as guardian?
Is it a fact that Congress appropriated the money for putting water
on the Pima lands two years ago and that not yet has any construc-
tion work been started?

THE INDIAN BUREAU AND REIMBURSABLE LOANS TO INDIAN TRIBES

18, Is it a fact that reimbursable loans. are mortgages against the
Indian tribal property, the lien, when not paid, standing against the
property and descending to the allotted property?
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10, Is It a fact that in making relmbursable charges against the
Indians Congress acts with the advice of the Indian Bureau as in all
other legislation affecting Indlans?

20, Did the Department of the Interior, through Secretary Work,
indorse the charge of $100,000 against the Navajo Indians for the
Lees Ferry Grand Canyon Bridge?

21, Did Secretary Work, in writing, inform Congress that this
bridge * would be of equal benefit to the Navajos as to the white
gettlers " ?

22, Did the burean recommend a $£40,000 bridge across the Rio
Grande, connecting through highways, the whole sum charged against
the S8an Juan Pueblo Indians? Did it indorse another $40,000 bridge
of general use, which was charged wholly against the Cochiti Pueblo
Indians?

What is the per capita yearly income of these Indians as shown
by Indian Bureaun records?

23. Did these tribes either ask or agree to have this reimbursable
charge made against them; were they consulted at all, and where is
the record showing that they were congulted or informed?

24, Are there not other bridge and highway charges against the
Navajo Indians, totaling $700,000 before the Lees Ferry charge was
added on, and has not the Navajo Council declared that $450,000 of
this charge represents an expenditure on improvements for the white
community ?

25. Did not wyou, Mr. Meritt, admit to the House Indian Affairs
Committee in 1919 that more than $3,000,000 of reimbursable charges
then existing were illegitimate and ought to be wiped out? Has the
bureau as yet made any move to wipe out these reimbursable charges?

26. Do not the reimrbursable charges agalnst the Indians now total
more than $25,000,0007 Did not the assistant chief of the burean’s
finance division testify in 1919 (p. 818, Vol, I, House Indian hearings)
that the charges then stood at $23,000,000?

27. Is it the policy to collect these charges or to allow them to
accumulate indefinitely ? .

28, Was the assistant chief of the bureau's finance division correct
when he testified that up to 1919, $8,247,933 of reimbursable debt
had actually been collected from the Indians, and that $2,545,367 of
this sum had been collected during the years when you, Mr, Meritt,
were an Indian Bureau official? (Pp. 820-821, House Indian hearings,
1919, Vol. L)

29, Did the Indian Bureau, or did it not, Indorse the Gila River
(Plma) reimbursable bridge project?

30. Did the Indian Bureau indorse the charging against the Kaibab
Reservation in Arizona of the cost of the tourist road connecting the
Grand Canyon with Zion Natlonal Park for the distance that it tra-
verses this reservation? And is it a fact that the cost of that road
is being collected in yearly installments from these yery needy Indians?

31. Is it a fact that the Indian Burean sold to the Kaibab Tribe a
tribal herd; and now that the tribe has paid for it is again selling the
idéntical herd to the individual members of the tribe, and is using the
proceeds toward paying for the tourist road above mentioned?

32, 1s it a fact that the Kaibab land was leased at less than 114
cents an acre to white cattlemen and the lease proceeds used to pay
for the above tribal herd, whose resale to the Indians, now that they
already own it, is producing the revenue for paying the tourist road
costs?

THE INDIAN BUREAU AND LEGISLATION

23, Is it a fact that all legislation affecting Indians, whether dealing
with departmental matters or with such a question as Indian land
rights and civil rights, Is referred to the Indian Bureau, and that no
committee consideration is given to any bill until the bureau has passed
on it in writing?

34. Did the Indlan Burean in 1926 indorse the Bratton-Hayden Indian
oil bill, providing that 3714 per cent of the oil revenue of the Indians
from their Executive-order reservations should be paid to the States
“in licu of taxes," and declaring in effect that the Indians were not
owners but gimply tenants of their Executive reservations?

35. Did the bureau in 1928 draft and indorse the Leavitt bill, pro-
viding that Indian superintendents and their subordinates could arrest
any reservation Indians and jail them for gix months withont war-
rant, without jury trlal, and without appeal to the courts?

36. Did the bureau in 1926 oppose the Wheeler-Frear bill which
gave to Indians a court hearing before their wills ecould be invalidated
by the bureaun?

37. Did the bureau in 1928 oppose the Wheeler-Frear bill which
required appralsal, public advertisement, and competitive bidding in
the sale and lease of Indian land?

88, Did the burean indorse the Bursum bill of 1922, which can-
celed the titles of the Pueblo Indian tribes to the greater part of their
land deeded them by Spain and guaranteed by President Lincoln?

89. Irid the burean In 1926 oppose the La Follette-Frear bill, giv-
ing to the Federal courts jurisdiction over civil and criminal matters
of the Indians, and was the effect of the bureau's guccessful opposition
to perpetuate, as has been charged, the bureau's absolute control over
the Indians, including its power to jail them without jury trial or any
court appeal?
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THE INDIAN BUREAU AND THE CIVIL RIGHTS OF INDIANS

40, Did the Indian Bureau draft and indorse H. R. 7828, which
sought to give renewed congressional authority to the bureau for con-
tinuing its practice of arresting Indians and jailing them without due
process of law?

41, Can and does the Indian Bureau by regulation create Indian
offenses punishable by jail?

42, Is this code of Indian offenses printed and made available to
the Indians and others?

43. Is there at present any case where Indians charged with offenses
can be convicted and jailed without an absolute right to jury trial and
court review ?

44. Has the Indian Bureau the right to sell any land belonging to an
allotted Indian who has died, this sale being by private arrangement if
the bureau desires, and the proceeds of this sale being controlled by the
bureau and not by any probate court?

45. Has the bureau the right to declare any allotted Indian incapable
and remove him from his land without his consent and without court
review and lease this land to a white man?

46, Can Indians declared mentally incompetent by the bureau and
thus held in the bureau's control, appeal their question of competency
to the courts? How many incompetent or restricted Indlans are there?

47. 1Is it a fact that Indians are prohibited from making contracts
save with the bureau's expliclt consent?

48, Is it a fact that when the Indian Bureau is one party of interest
and the Indian or Indian tribe is the opposite party of interest, the
choice of the Indian's attorney is controlled by the burean?

49. Has the Indian Bureau the power to destroy the testament—the
will—of an Indian without showing cause in any court and without
court review of its action no matter what may be the Indian’s wishes?

50. Is it a fact that prior to 1906 the Indians had court protection
in the matter of their wills; and that this was taken away in 1906 ; and
that the burean in 1926 successfully opposed the Wheeler-Frear bill
seeking to restore court protection to the Indians in this matter? Who
was responsible for the act of 19067

G1. Are the Indians, thus held in duress by the bureau, voters and
citizens?

. . . . . . .
THE INDIAN BUREAU A8 GUARDIAN OF INDIAN PROPERTY

53. Is the Indian property, over which the bureau is guardian, cor-
rectly stated to be over a billion and a half dollars?

54. Does the bureau as guardian render an account and report to
any court of specific funds, transactions, etc., which report the In-
dian wards bave & right to inspect?

65. Is the sale and lease of Indian properties, such as lands, tim-
ber, mines, carried out by the bureau as guardian, regulated in a spe-
cific wanner by statute of Congress or earried out according to the
rules and regulations of the Interior Department?

G6. Is there any law requiring that in selling and leasing Indian
properties the bureau shall appraise the value, advertise the sale or
leasge, and sell or lease to the highest bidder only?

57. Is there any way by which Indians may secure court review
over the bureau’s acts in the handling of their property? '

58. How much Indian money, controlled by the bureau, s deposited
in local banks in the Indian country?

59, Is it true that the Rattlesnake structure in the Navajo Reserva-
tion was sold by the Indian Bureau for a $1,000 bonus and then resold
for over $3,000,000%

60. Was the bureau required by any law fo accept a $1,000 bonus
for a structure that was resold by tne white purchaser at this enormous
profit?

61. Who negotiated this sale of the Rattlesnake structure? Is
Governor Hagerman still in charge of Navajo oil leasing for the Indian
Bureau? Who appointed Governor Hagerman to his position as com-
missioner of the Navajo Tribes? What is Governor Hagerman's rela-
tion to the Pueblo Lands Board? Did Governor Hagerman testify be-
fore the Senate Indlan Affdirs Committee that the Navajo Indians were
willing to surrender one-third or even one-half of their oil revenue from
their executive reservation to the States of Arizona, New Mexico, and
Utah?

62, Is it a fact that Secretary Work has reported to the President
on the Jackson Barnett case, stating that Barnett's wife brought him
to Washington and there worked out with the Commissioner of Indian
Affairs the arrangement for dividing his property as follows: $350,000
to herself, $550,000 to the Baptist Home Mission Soclety?

It is true that in reporting to the President, Secretary Work added
the statement in effect that no malfeasance was apparent in such
action by the bureau officials?

1s it true that Commissioner Burke before he authorized the Barnett
transaction had access to the confidential reports of the bureau inspeec-
tors wherein it was recited that the woman, Annie Laurie Lowe, was of
ill repnte and had kidnapped this aged half-wit, illiterate Indian, had
made him drunk, and In this condition had marriéd him? Had Becre-
tary Work access to these confidentinl documents when he wrote his
letter to the President?
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Is it a fact that a part of th2 money turned over to Annie Laurie
TLowe has been traced, and can you state who was the apparent
recipient of guch money?

63. Is the Indinn Bureau, including Its salaries, supported by the
Indians themselves to the amount of about $2,000,000 a year?

64, Have the tribes any voice in deciding whether their money shall
be used for the support of the Indian Bureau?

5. Is the Indian tribal money, nsed for Indlan Bureau support,
taken from the interest or principal of the tribal funds?

66. Was Commissioper Burke, when chairman of the House Indian
Affairs Committee, chiefly responsible for establishing the policy of
supporting the burean from Indian funds? Did you, Mr. Meritt,
testify in 1919 that such had been the case?

67, Did yon state to the House Indian Affairs Committee in 1919
that you belleved Indian tribal funds should be used for Indian
Burean purposes whenever they were avallable?

68. Is it a fact that the Crow Indian tribal fund totals $346,000,
and that $00,000 of this total is being used this curremt year for
Indian Bureau expenses?

69. Iz it true that this expenditure of £00,000 of the Crow money
does not pay for a single teacher, a single public-health nurse, or
the financing of a single Crow boy or girl for higher education?

70. If the Indians are consulted about the use of their tribal

money for these purposes, where is the record of their opinion to be

found ?
THE IXDIAN BUREAU AND INDIAN RELIGION

71. Does the bureau censor or prohibit the religious ceremonials of
Indian tribes? -

72. Did Commissioner Burke, of the bureau, issue the following
statement and order in 1923:

“The gun dance and all other similar dances and so-called religious
ceremonies are considered * Indian offenses” under existing regulations,
and corrective penalties are provided. 1 regard such restriction as
applicable to any (religious) dance that involves * #* * the reck-
less giving away of property * * * frequent or prolonged periods
of celebration * * * in fact, any plainly excessive performance
that promotes * * * idleness, danger to health, and shiftless
indifference to family welfare. In all such instances the regulations
should be enforced.”

73. Did Commissioner Burke, February 14, 1923, transmit to all
superintendents certain recommendations made by certain missionary
bodies, with these words: “ The main features of the recormendations
may be heartily indorsed,” the recommendations including the following :

“ That the Indian (religious) dances be limited to one in each month,
in the daylight hours of one day in the midweek, and at one center in
each district, the montbs of March, April, June, July, and August being
excefited (no dances in these months).

“That none take part in the dances or be present who are under 50
years of age,

“That a eareful propaganda be undertaken to educate publi¢ oplnion
against the (Indian religious) dance.”

74. IHave these orders,
rescinded ?

THE NONRESERVATION INDIAN BOARDING SCHOOLS

75. Did the Board of Indian Commissioners use the following
words in its report to the Secretary of the Interlor for 1924:

“The present plan appears to be to reduce the reservation boarding
gchools to taking care of the first three grades, while the children more
advanced are sent fo distant schools, * * * These children are to
be removed from even occasional eontact with their parents, not only at
an earlier age than has been the rule, but * * * the Navajo boy of
10 years who is taken to Phoenix, for instance, undergoes an intensity
of heat that could never be known on his lofty plains. If he learns
to farm here, it is in a country of irrigated soil, of cotton and semi-
tropical fruits, * * * JIf his health survives the change, his spirit
is less likely to do so.”

76. Did you report to the House Appropriations Committee in Janu-
ary, 1926, using the following words: “ Our determined policy of
requiring every healthy Indian child between the age of 6 and 18 to
be in some school "' ¥

77. In view of that policy, what is done where loeal day schools or
local boarding schools are not provided by the bureaun?

78, Is it the practice for gquotas to be delivered to the reservation
superintendents, stating the number of Indian children they are ex-
peeted to deliver to the specified nonreservation boarding schools, and
is it not the duty of these superintendents to fill these guotas?

79. Ig it a fact that the Hopi Pueblo girls when they approach the
age of puberty are taken away from their homes and their tribe to
nonreservation gchiools?

80. Is it a faet that the bureau, in the case of Indian children taken
away to nonreservation schools, pays their way home only once every
four years?

81, Is it a fact that during the summer vacations the Indian children
are persuaded to remain away from home even when their parents
are able to pay their transportation, and that last year Indian boys

recommendations, and regulations been
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aged 10 and 12 years were gent from Albuquerque and Sanfa Fe to
work as child labor in the beet fields of Kansas and their earnings
were held for school expenses ¥

82, Is it a fact that Navujo children, when they contract tuber-
culosis in the nonreservation schools, are thereafter sent home to die
in their hogans under eonditions making certain the infection of their
families? Is this one reason why the Navajo tuberculosis death rate
is extravagantly high?

ALLEGED SUPPRESSION OF REPORTS AND DOCUMENTS BY THE INDIAN
BUREAU

83. Did the American Red Cross in 1924 complete an extensive study
of Indian health conditions and Indian medical service?

84, Has the Commissioner of Indian Affairs suppressed this report,
refusing to permit its scrutiny after written request for this privilege
by Representative Pmin D. Bwixg and by Senator Himam W. Jonnson?

B5. Did the National Bureau of Municipal Research complete for
President Taft, in 1913, and subsequently for a joint committee of
Congress, an elaborate report on the Indlan Bureau's business methods,
containing exceedingly grave charges against the Indian Affairs eystem;
and was this report completely suppressed through Indian Burean
influence, you, Mr, Meritt, being Assistant Commissioner of Indian
Affairs at the time—is the suppression of this report being con-
tinued?

86. Are not the reports of all Indian Bureau subordinates, without
exception, including the reports of supervisors, reservation superintend-
ents, ete,, required to be held confidential, so that neither the gemeral
publie, the Indians, nor Congress knows their contents?

§7. Bhould not the bureau give to the public a statement of why it
continues the suppression of the Bureau of Manicipal Research report,
and why it continues the suppression of the American Red Cross
report ?

THE INDIAX BUREAU AND THE FUEBLO INDIANS

88, Did the Indian Bureau, when the Pueblo tribal delegates were in
California last November, issue to the press a statement that the
Pueblo Indian cause was financed by Soviet Mosgcow ?

80, Did Commissioner Burke, speaking before the House Appropria-
tions Committee in that same month, 1925, assume responsibility for
this charge and lament that the people of California had refused to be
{nfluenced by it?

00, Is the Pueblo Lands Board charged by Congress with the duty of
determining whether the Indian Bureau has been delinquent as guardian
in the protection of the Pueblo lands?

91. Is Governor Hagerman, who sits as a member of this judicial
body, an employee of the Indian Bureau, drawing a salary from the
burean?

02, Has there not existed for the past four years an All-Pueblo
Council, consisting entirely of Indian delegates chosen by each Pueblo,
which has held meetings to dlscuss gquestions of mutual concern?

93. Has not this All-Pueblo Council at all times been open to official
Government representatives?

For example, did not this council listen to such official representa-
tives when they urgently advised the Pueblos not to employ legal
counsel to represent them before the Pueblo Lands Board? And did
not the couneil after deliberation rejeet this advice and assert their
right to be represented by legal counsel and to appeal from the lands
board to the courts as permitted by law?

Furthermore, has not the superior wisdom of the All-Pueblo Couneil
been justified and confirmed by a member of the Pueblo Lands Board
who is quoted in a Santa Fe paper recently as saying to the Pueblos,
“You ecan not it idly and expect to win a case in court, The pther
gide is preparing its case and you must prepare yours " ?

04. Has not this All-Pueblo Council, at various times, made Its
desires known to the Government, thus serving as an intermediary
and the Government?

For instance, did not the chairman of this All-Puehlo Council last
winter wire its opposition to the hureau bill, H. R. 78267

95. Did this All-Pueblo Couneil not meet in October of this year?

96, Upon information furnished by members of the Taos Council
to the effect that the Indian Bureau, through the instrumentality of
Commissioner Hagerman, proposed to organize a new council for the
Pueblo Indians, did not this body declare itself to have functioned
suceessfully for four years and llkewise did it not declare its inten-
tion to continue to function, in affirmation of which it set forth the
rules under which it has always operated in the form of by:laws?

07. Was not an official representative of the Indian Burean under
instructions from Commissioner Burke, and did the bureau not have a
stenographie record made of the proceedings?

98, With this channel of expression already existing and function-
ing, why did the burean deem it nccessary to take steps to orginize a
new council nnder the chairmanship of a bureau employee, Commis-
sioner Hagerman, who is also a member of the Pueblo Lands Board?

09, Did this substitute council, which has been named the United
States Pueblo Council, meet in Santa Fe on November 15, 1026, with
Commissioner Hagerman presiding, and did Commissioner Hagerman
say, as quoted in a Santa Fe paper, “ Hold as many councils among
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yourselves as you wish, but remember they will have no official recog-
nition without Government representation"?

100. Did Governor Hagerman, then as now an employee of the
bureaun, testify before the Senate Indian Affairs Committee on March
10 last that the Navajos were willlng to surrender one-third or even
one-half of their royalties from oil on their Executive reservation to
the States?

Mr. LEAVITT. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the last
two words. Perhaps I can give some information in reply to
the question of the gentleman from Wisconsin, Each of these
allotments of land on an Indian reservation requires a specific
act of Congress giving authority. Out of our Indian Affairs
Committee in the last session we reported a bill authorizing the
allotment of lands on a specific reservation, the Northern
Cheyenne. It was my own bill. The first step must be to make
up the tribal roll. That generally takes one season, as it is
necessary to know how many allotments there must be,

Mr. FREAR. Of course, I understand the procedure; but
what I am interested in learning is how long it will take or
what is the estimate for this allotment finally to be completed
if only 32 were allotted this last year outside of the Standing
Rock Reservation and it will take three years for the Standing
Rock Reservation. Now, is there any particular time in view
when they finish their allotment?

Mr. LEAVITT. I think nobody could have given a very good
reason why the Tongue River lands were not allotted previously,
But it requires the introduction and passage of a bill at the
initiative of a Member of Congress who represented the reser-
vation before it could be brought about.

Mr. FREAR. Rather than on the part of the bureau.

Mr. LEAVITT. The bureau did, in the case of the Tongue
River, send up a bill in accordance with the recommendation
that T had in mind, As I understand it, the Tongue River
Reservation was about the last upon which no allotment of
lands had been made or authorized. There are only a few left
on which provision has not been made to at least start the work.

As an illustration of what is still continually happening, how-
ever, on the Crow Reservation, quite a number of years ago a
general allotment act was passed and general allotments made,
but some land was returned to tribal ownership from home-
steaders who had failed to meet the terms prescribed. That
required another later act to allot lands to living Crow Indian
children who had been born since the previous allotment had
been made. I presume that sort of thing will go on perhaps
indefinitely until all lands available are allotted.

Mr. FREAR, Can the gentleman tell me what proportion of
the land remains unallotted of Indian lands?

Mr. LEAVITT. I can not give that with any accuracy,

Mr. WILLIAMSON. I may say that as to a great many
reservations all the land has been allotted and there remains
none to be allotted. The Standing Rock Reservation is the only
one where the allotments have not yet been made.

Mr. LEAVITT. I think that is true of most other reserva-
tions, where there has been a complete allotment at this time.

The CHAIRMAN. The pro forma amendment is withdrawn.
The Clerk will read.

The Clerk read as follows:

For the payment of newspaper advertisements of sales of Indian
Iands, $500, reimbursable from payments by purchasers of costs of
sale, under such rules and regulations as the Secretary of the Interior
may prescribe.

Mr. ROMJUE., Mr, Chairman, I move to strike out the last
word, in order to ask the chairman of the subcommittee a ques-
tion.

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from Missouri moves to
gtrike out the last word.

Mr. ROMJUE. On line 19 of page 17 is there not a typo-
graphical error—* purchasers of costs of sale”? Should it not
be, “ from payment by purchasers and costs of sale”?

Mr. CRAMTON. This appropriation is reimbursable from
payments by purchasers of costs of sale; by payment by pur-
chasers. It may be clumsy language, but I think it is probably
correct.

Mr. ROMJUE. Line 19, of page 17, does not carry the word
i ps_.yments." :

Mr. CRAMTON. The language reads “$500, reimbursable
from payments by purchasers.” .

“Mr. ROMJUE. Should it not be “payments and"?

Mr, CRAMTON. No; I think it is right as it is.
clumsy language, but I think it is fairly accurate.

It is

The CHAIRMAN. The pro forma amendment is withdrawn, !

The Clerk will read.
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The Clerk read as follows:

For the purchase of lands for the homeless Indians In California,
including improvements thereon, for the use and occupancy of said
Indians, $7,000, said funds to be expended under such regulations and
conditions as the Secretary of the Interior may prescribe,

Mr. FREAR. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the last
word, for the purpose of propounding an inquiry to the chair-

man.

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from Wisconsin moves
to strike out the last word.

Mr. FREAR. I can not express my own ideas any better
than to read what the chairman of the subcommittee has to
say on page 73 of the hearing, and I am asking him for that
reason what attempt is being made to settle this question, so
that the Indians can be provided for and taken care of instead
of, as the chairman well said, “having these dribbling appro-
priations running along for a long period of years.”

I call attention to a fact with which he is familiar: that in
this case the provisions require the department to do certain
things, and appropriations are being made for $7,000 this year,
and $20,000 several years ago. It is as the chairman said,
dribbling. )

Mr. CRAMTON. If the gentleman has read the hearings
he knows all that I know about the subject and perhaps some-
thing in addition. But as to the California situation, the
gentleman has noticed that in the hearings the committee went
into that matter more carefully this year than heretofore.
We are trying to find out how much it would cost to buy all
the lands as we need to buy to take care of the homeless
Indians in California. It did not seem that the information
was at hand to warrant taking a definite step at this time,
but we did go into it sufficiently to feel assured that a year
from now, when the bureau officials come before us, they would
have a general statement as to the number of Indians to be
provided for and the amount of money necessary to take care
of them, and then it would be the idea of the committee that
we ought to proceed to clean up the situation.

The CHAIRMAN. The pro forma amendment is withdrawn,
The: Clerk will read.

The Clerk read as follows:

INDUSTRIAL ASSISTANCE AND ADVANCEMENT

For the purposes of preserving living and growing timber on Indian
reservations and allotments other than the Menominee Indian Reser-
vatlon In Wisconsin, and to educate Indians in the proper care of
forests; for the condacting of experiments on Indian school or agency
farms designed to test the possibilities of soil and climate in the
cultivation of trees, grains, vegetables, cotton, and fruits, and for the
employment of practical farmers and stockmen, in addition to the
agency and school farmers now employed; for necessary traveling
expenses of such farmers and stockmen and for furnishing necessary
equipment and supplies for them; and for superintending and di-
recting farming and stock raising among Indians, $315,000: Provided,
That this appropriation shall be available for the expenses of admin-
istration of Indian forest lands from which timber is sold to the
extent only that proceeds from the sales of timber from such lands
are insufficient for that purpose: Provided further, That not to ex-
ceed $20,000 of the amount herein appropriated may be used to
conduct experiments on Indian school or agency farms to test the
possibilities of soil and climate in the cultivation of trees, cotton,
grain, vegetables, and fruits: Provided also, That the amounts paid
to matrons, foresters, farmers, physiclans, nurses, and other hospital
employees, and stockmen provided for in this act shall not be included
within the limitations on =alaries and compensation of employees con-
tained in the act of August 24, 1912,

Mr. FREAR. Mr, Chairman, I move to strike out the last
word. I wish simply to say that with regard to the physicians,
matrons, and nurses—and I have met guite a number of them
during the last year—they certainly are not receiving the
amount of compensation that they ought to receive for the
work that they are doing. I know doctors who are long-
practicing doctors, very able men, who have gone out on reser-
vations practically away from all civilization, as you might say,
far out on reservations, who are receiving $1,800 a year in addi-
tion to a small amount for quarters; men who, I am satisfied,
could make several times that amount if they were to leave the
serviee. - I believe that is one of the things Congress ought to
do, to make an inquiry to show that not only the matrons, who
are generally the wives of the farmers and different officials
out there doing the work, but also real matrons, who are doing
good medical work and are entitled to good pay. I have met
them in their work and they are poorly paid for that work.
The doctors and nurses are entitled to more compensation than
they are receiving now under the law, :

.
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The CHAIRMAN.
The Clerk will read.
The Clerk read as follows:

For expenses incidental to the sale of timber, and for the expenses
of administration of Indian forest lands from which such timber is
gold to the extent that the proceeds of such sales are sufficient for
that purpose, $200,000, reimbursable to the United States as provided
in the act of Fehruary 14, 1620 (41 Stat, L. 415).

Mr., FREAR. Mr. Chairman, as to that item of $200,000,
reimbursable to the United States, as provided in the act, the
amount of timber that is being sold annually is about $2,500,000
worth, according to the hearings. The amount paid by the Gov-
ernment for supervision out of the Indian’s own property is
about 10 per cent of that, or $200,000, according to the figures
that the chairman has in the hearings. I ask the chairman if
he has any knowledge of the contracts, of the general timber
contracts, that have been made, and how fast the timber is
being cut off from the Indian reservations to-day?

Mr. CRAMTON. The estimated total value is about
$130,000,000.

Mr. FREAR. I understand; and of that total about $27,-
000,000 is now under contract, which is over 20 per cent. That
is in the hearings. !

_AMr. CRAMTON. With an annual income of something over
§2,000,000. . Now, what is the gentleman’s further question?

Mr. FREAR. The question is, whether or not $200,000,
which is nearly 10 per cent of the entire amount that the
Government receives for the Indians, is not a large amount
to charge for the superyision of timber contracts?

AMr. CRAMTON. Well, it has not impressed the committee
that for the expense of supervision was an unduly high figure.

Mr. FREAR. Of course, the Indians pay that cost and not
the Government. L

Mr. CRAMTON. Certainly; and it is perfectly proper that
the Indians should pay it. I have not gone into that question
thoroughly, I will say to the gentleman, but it had not im-
pressed me as an unduly high figure.

Mr. FREAR. The next question, which I think is a very
important one, is this: One hundred and thirty million dollars
is estimated to be the value of the timber belonging to these
various tribes of Indians. I was through two of the reserva-
tions and that is the reason I am interested in ascertaining
further facts on this proposition. The timber is being cut off
very rapidly from the Indian land, and that timber, of course,
is a part of the capital assets belonging to the tribes. Now,
what is going to be the result, and how long will it be before
the Indians will have all of that timber cut off if 20 per cent
of it and over has already been been contracted for, and
large mills are being erected throughout these Indian reser-
vations?

Mr. CRAMTON. Well, the amount of the contracts is $27,.
000,000, as the gentleman has already stated, but I have no
information as to the period to be covered in the execution of
those contracts. However, if we were to assume that they
were to cut timber at the rate they are cutting it at the present
time it would be, of course, 65 years before the timber was
all cut off ; but we have no right to make that assumption.

Mr. FREAR. And then, of course, there would be no deter-
mination as to what would be left for the Indians. Now, one
other statement. I traveled through the Apache Reser-
vation, among others, and there they are employing 250 colored
men to cut the timber, besides Mexicans, and very few Indians,
we were informed. This timber is being cut off very rapidly
and there is found one of the largest mills I have seen for a
long time. What are the Indians getting out of that cufting
of timber for themselves? Can the gentleman tell us?

Mr. CRAMTON., Well, they are getting the price of the
timber less this approximately 10 per cent. I do not know of
the situation there, but generally the Indians, if they are will-
ing to work, are given the labor.

Mr. FREAR. Are the contracts subject to competitive bid-
ding? Does the gentleman know about that?

Mr. CRAMTON. I assume they are. I think there are no
contracts made without competitive bidding.

Mr. FREAR. This is a large contract to a Louisiana firm,
as I understand, and that is the reason for the inquiry.

Mr. CRAMTON. The principal operations now, as the gen-
tleman knows, are on the Colville Reservation, in Washington ;
the Warm Springs Reservation, in Oregon; the Klamath Res-

“‘ervation, in Oregon; the Fort Apache Reservation, in Arizona;
and the Mesealero Reservation, in New Mexico. Then there
are some other smaller operations.

The pro forma amendment is withdrawn.
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The CHAIRMAN. Without objection, the pro forma amend-
ment will be withdrawn.

There was no objection,

Mr. WILLIAMSON. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out
the last two words. In the matter of cutting off these timber-
lands—which I regard as a very important matter—I am won-
dering whether or nof, in removing this timber, the Indian
Service is following practically the same method as is fol-
lowed by the Forest Service, that is, blazing only what is
deemed mature timber, so as to protect the young and growing
timber as an investment for the future. I take it that in con-
tracting for the sale of standing timber that provision is made
to protect the future supply. My understanding is that such
is the fact.

Mr. CRAMTON. I have not visited any of these operations
except on the Flathead Reservation and it is my recollection
that there they were making a selection as the gentleman sug-
gests, and that they insist on that rather than to have all of
the lands denuded.

Mr. WILLIAMSON. That is my own impression, namely,
that the Indian forests are being cared for in the same man-
ner as the United States Forest Service is caring for its own
forests.

Mr, LEAVITT. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr, WILLIAMSON. Yes.

Mr. LEAVITT. The fact is that the cutting on the Indian
lands is under the supervision of a former Forest Service man;
he is a trained forester and the work is being carried on with
the same purposes in view, that is, cutting off the ripe timber,
giving proper protection against fire, and insuring a future
supply. ;

Mr. WILLIAMSON. As I understand it, before any tree
can be cut it must be blazed by the forestry officer in charge
and that only such trees can be cut as are blazed by such
officer?

Mr. LEAVITT. They are designated. Sometimes those to
be cut are blazed, while in other instances those that are to be
left are indicated.

Mr. HUDSON. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. WILLTAMSON. Yes,

Mr. HUDSON. Did the gentleman from South Dakota mean
to indicate that this work was done by the Forest Service?

Mr. WILLIAMSON. No; the Indian Service has its own
foresters, and the statement made by the gentleman from Mon-
tana was that a former Forest Service man was in charge of
this Indian work. z

Mr. HUDSON. Will the gentleman yield further?

Mr. WILLIAMSON. I will yield to the gentleman.

Mr. HUDSON. The gentleman from Wisconsin [Mr. Frear]
intimated that the labor in these mills was negro labory  Can;
the gentleman tell the House whether the contracts aré so
framed that the Indians can have the labor if they wish it?. -:

Mr. FREAR. 1 asked that same question, and I think-it is|
a very pertinent question. They said there were 250 colored
men working, outside of & number of Mexicans, and only a very
limited number of Indians. I saw some Indian tepees not very
far distant.

Mr. WILLIAMSON. I will say to the gentleman I ean not
answer that question. Perhaps the gentleman from Montana
can.,

Mr. LEAVITT. I can not answer the question definitely as
to whether there is a provision of that kind in every contract,
but the contractor is always confronted by a practical propesi-
tion. He bids under competitive conditions for the timber and
must pay through the Government to the Indians a specified
amount for the stumpage; that is, a specified amount per thou-
sand feet. He can not have a requirement that will make him
select labor that he must pay at a loss to himself. As a matter
of general practice, I presume that down there the available
labor is this negro and Mexican labor. :

I know that some tribes of Indians are first-class laborers
and other tribes of Indians have not had experience in manual
labor. Purchasers do, however, give Indians employment fre-
quently under contracts for cutting timber at so much a thou-
sand feet.

Mr. FREAR. May I ask the gentleman whether there is
competitive bidding in respect of these confracts?

Mr. LEAVITT. Yes.

Mr. FREAR. Then the next guestion is what payment for
labor is likely to occur under the contracts.

The CHAIRMAN. The time of the gentleman from South
Dakota has expired.
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Mr. FREAR. T ask unanimous consent that the gentleman
may have five additional minuates.

The CHAIRMAN. Is there objection to the request of the
gentleman from Wisconsin?

There was no objection.

Mr. FREAR. Here is a man employing labor, and he em-
ploys these negroes becaunse he can get them very cheap, I
presume, because they were brought from Louisiana way up
there to New Mexico. As a restrictive proposition, what is
there in the law so that the Indians can get what would be
a reasonable compensation for labor? They would have to take,
I suppose, whatever was offered; and if they can get colored
labor and bring it up there from Louisiana cheaper, they have
that privilege, have they not?

Mr. LEAVITT. I believe they have.

Mr. FREAR. There is no protection for the Indians who
own the timber and who are living in that country.

Mr, LEAVITT. The Indian is the owner of the timber, and
it is sold to the highest competitive and responsible bidder.
Generally speaking, he is allowed to choose his labor and to
get it under terms that will enable him to make a profit.

Mr, HUDSON. Will the gentleman yield there?

Mr, LEAVITT. Yes; if I have the floor.

Mr. HUDSON. It is not to be inferred he is paying this
labor from Louisiana because he can get it cheaper. Probably
he counld get the Indian labor just as cheap if they could per-
form the labor or would perform the labor.

Mr. LEAVITT. 1 think that is true.

Mr. HUDSON. 8o that it is really a question of getting the
labor rather than the wages that are paid?

Mr. LEAVITT. I do not know about this particular tribe of
Indians, whether they will perform the labor or not, I know
I was on an Indian reservation a few years ago where a rather
well-to-do Indian farmer and stockman was having his hay
put up. I was there for dinner. He had probably 8 or 10 men
working for him and all of them were white men. I asked him
why that was and why he did not employ his Indian neighbors
around him. He told me that he could not do that and pay
them the same wages he was paying the white men, because
they were not experienced in that line of labor and did not like
to do it.

Mr. FREAR. Here is the situation as it occurs to me, and I
am just asking the gentleman for information, because I know
he is familiar with these guestions: Here is timber that is
being cut off fairly rapidly which belongs to the Indians. One
of the purposes we have in mind is to give the Indians employ-
ment as far as we can do so. We make a zale of this timber to
these people in Louisiana. How important it may be that the
sales should be made I do not know. They then proceed to sell
the timber, presumably paying no more than they are obliged to
pay, way out there several hundred miles from Loumisiana and
possibly 100 miles from the nearest railroad station, as I now
remember it, and there is no provision by which the Indian ean
be assured he will have employment, although this is a very
large Indian reservation. There is nothing in the present legis-
lation that would assure the Indians of employment.

Mr. LEAVITT. I do not think there ean be any law requir-
ing their employment on the part of contractors. I will say
that if it could be done with fairness to the contractor, every
effort should be made to give the labor to the Indians, who are
on the ground.

Mr. FREAR. I believe that is our purpose or our desire, at
any rate. '

Mr. CRAMTON. And the man who has a contract, as a com-
mercial proposition, if the Indian can give him satisfactory
labor as cheaply as he can get somebody else to do it, it stands
to reason he is going to give him the work, because he is right
on the ground,.

Mr., FREAR. Sure—if he can bring up people from Louisiana
and have them work for 50 cents a day. I understand that;
but the question is whether or not that is an element that ought
to be considered in making the contract.

The pro forma amendment was withdrawn,

The Clerk read as follows:

To meet possible emergencies, not exceeding $50,000 of the funds held
by the United States in trust for the respective tribes of Indians lnter-
ested and not exceeding $30,000 of the appropriations made by this act
for timber operations in the Indian Service; in all, $100,000, is hereby
made available for the suppression of forest fires on Indian reserva-
tions : Provided, That any diversions of appropriations made hereunder
shall be reported to Congress in the annual Budget.

Mr. FREAR. Mr., Chairman, I move to strike out the last
word. My only purpose is to inquire what diversion of funds
is possible under provisions of this kind.
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Mr. CRAMTON. The item provides for $50,000 appropriation
of tribal funds for the suppression of forest fires, and authorizes
the diversion of not more than $50,000 of other appropriations
made in this act from the Treasury for the same purpose. So
there is $100,000 made available, of which fund $50,000 is appro-
priated from tribal funds and $50,000 is diverted from other
appropriations.

Mr. FREAR. I withdraw my pro forma amendment.

The Clerk read as follows:

For reimbursing Indians for livestock which may be hereafter de-
stroyed on account of being infected with dourine or other contagious
diseases, and for expenses in connection with the work of eradicating
and preventing such diseases, to be expended under such rules and
regulations as the Secretary of the Interior may prescribe, $30,000, to
be immediately available,

Mr. FREAR. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the last
word. I recolleet in this investigation, or in the hearings, the
chairman was asking about horses that are to be killed for
canning purposes, which, of course, is a large item. He ob-
jected very naturally to the payment of $30 apiece for horses,
and I believe he was wholly justified in that. What is to
be done in order to carry out such work? The hearings do
not mention it. it

Mr. 'CRAMTON. I-do not want the gentleman to confuse
the development of the canning process with the eradication
of disease of these infected animals,

Mr. FREAR. It is all, I understood, under the same item. I
took it so from the hearings,

Mr. CRAMTON. This item has nothing to do with the
killing of horses for canning. One of the great advantages
to Indians has been that they have been able to sell for $5
apiece several thousand horses that .re shipped to Illinois
and canned for human food. But that has nething to do with
this, This is an item attempting to eradicate diseases from
horses. Outside the Indian Reservation it has been pretty
well eradicated. It now prevails to some extent on the Naviajo
Reservation, and we have been dribbling along with appropria-
tions of $10,000 a year. It is a disease that spreads by con-
tagion, and if we go on appropriating only $10,000 a year there
is every prospect that we will have to spend that amount of
money for a number of years to come. The work is to be
carried on in cooperation with the Bureau of Animal Industry,
and we have asked a statement from that bureau and the
Bureau of Indian Affairs as to what is feasible to clean up
this situation. We are assured that if they can have $50,000
they can go ahead now—$30,000 this year and $20,000 to fol
low it—and clean up the whole situation. So we have fol-
lowed that recommendation, and the gentleman will find some-
where in the hearings an estimate to that effect. That is
$10,000 above the Budget and $20,000 above the current year,
W:-i make it immediately available because it is needed this
spring.

Mr. FREAR. What plan has the committee in mind as to
these 100,000 horses that to-day are grazing on the reservation
grass land?

Mr. CRAMTON. That is not in the hands of our committee
and it is not in the hands of the Indian Burean. The Indians,
many of them are a good deal like white men, they do not
always keep that which is advantageous to them. But if an
Indian keeps a hundred horses where he only needs one we
can not require him to kill them off,

Mr. FREAR. I understood there was to be some provision
about the sale of horses by the Indians.

Mr. CRAMTON. No; what happened concerning that is this:
Some concerns in Illinois went on the reservations and where
they could get the consent of the Indians they bought up a
large number of horses. I think they get them from two and a
half to five dollars, depending on the weight. In the beginning
the Indians were very much opposed to it, because, as I under-
stand, an Indian's wealth is gauged by the number of horses
that he owns. On some reservations they have changed their
view and have been willing to sell. But that is not involved in
this question.

This, however, is involved: You may say why is it necessary,
if they have more horses than they need, why should we con-
cern ourselves about diseases. We are the guardians and
should protect their property, and we are also protecting the
horses outside of the reservation that would eventually con-
tract the disease,

Mr. LEAVITT. This money is also expended for the protee-
tion of other livestock—cattle and sheep.

Mr. FREAR. There is no question raised as to the merits of
the appropriation,
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Mr. LEAVITT. The removal of excess horses is also neces-
sary for the cattle and sheep industry. It ean not be done
under arr appropriation by Congress. The horses are private
property. They have accumulated because the market for
horses of that kind has been poor, and it presents a problem
being met largely by the sale of large herds of those horses and
shipping them out of the country for food.

Mr. FREAR. That was discussed by the gentleman from
Michigan [Mr. Cramron] and I knew that he would be able to
enlighten the committee.

Mr. HUDSON. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the last
two words for the purpose of asking the chairman of the com-
mittee with reference to an item on page 21, line 14, of $175,000
to be used for the purchase of seeds, machinery, animals, and
tools., Is that to be expended in harmony with what is known
as the five-year program of the development among the Indians
of agricultural pursuits?

Mr. CRAMTON. Yes and no. The five-year program is a
program that originated among the Blackfeet by Mr. Campbell
and has been snecessful and has spread to other reservations,
being an effort to lead the Indians into agriculture, They join
a chapter, with an agreement that they will plant so much
corn that year. The second year of the program involves a
little further planting, and so on, to the end of the five years.
It is hoped by that time to have them launched info agricul-
ture. It has had a good effect in that direction. This item
works nicely with that, althoungh it was in the law before
Campbell started the five-year program. Iis terms pro-
vide that if the Indian wants fo engage in agriculfure or stock
raising, he may really borrow money out of this fund, have
an advance, and buy the seed or stock for purposes approved
by the authorities, and he has to repay it within five years,
The history of it shows that they have repaid such advances
remarkably well,

Mr. HUDSON, My purpose in asking the question was to
bring out the fact that there might be a definite policy in
reference to this continunal appropriation for this purpose. Or
is it just year by year handed out every year without regard
to a program on the part of the Indian?

Mr. CRAMTON. Of course, it all dovetails in together, and
it is in itself a definite program to help the Indian to help
himself. It is one of the most helpful items in the bill. As
I say, it was in operation before Mr. Campbell initiated what
was called the five-year program, and it is being done on
many reservations where the five-year program has not been
attempted. i

Mr. HUDSON. By way of illustration, an Indian farmer out
of this fund is assisted and he proyes his worth. He can then
receive a larger assistance the next year, can he?

Mr. CRAMTON. Not necessarily, Of course, if an Indian
shows that he is worthy, his credit is improved to that extent,
I suppose, but it may be that one advance is all that he will
need. We have been making those appropriations since 1912,
and that was long before Campbell thought of his five-year
plan. Out of $4,667,000 advanced, $3,512,581 has been repaid,
and some of the rest is not due.

Mr. HUDSON. The gentleman is aware of the propaganda
that the Government is not attempting to make the Indian self-
supporting,

Mr. CRAMTON. Of course that is proposterous.

Mr. HUDSON. What I want to bring out is that this fund
of $175,000 does not contribute to such a condition as that.
On the contrary, it is to make him self-supporting and
independent. :

Mr. CRAMTON. In this whole bill of some $13,000,000 the
effort is to use the momey in a way to make the Indian self-
supporting, to fit the Indian not to live forever in a tepee and
blanket, the picturesque figure that some of the artists would
like, to take his place as an American citizen. Of course there
can be some argument about some of the items in this bill,
but I think there can be no argument about this item, it has
been g0 very helpful.

Mr. FREAR. That is the reason that the item was passed
over without question, It certainly was in the direction of
gelf-improvement, but with 200 tribes of Indians and this
limited to $15,000, it would seem they could be taken care of
throughout the coantry much faster if there was a distinctive
constructive program, ‘I have been over a number of those
{heservations and I saw there ought to be some help given to

em,

Mr: LEAVITT, Will the gentleman yield?

Mr, HUDSON. Yes.

Mr. LEAVITT. 1 ask the gentleman from Wisconsin if he

knows that the organiza_tlon known as the Indian Protective
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Association of Montana passed a resolution opposing the five-
year agricultural program that is supported by this item?

Mr. FREAR. No; I do not know who they are or that I ever
hedrd of them.

Mr, LEAVITT. The gentleman met with several of them last
summer at Livingston.

Mr. FREAR. I did not know what they were members of.

Mr. LEAVITT. In connection with John Collier. They had
previously passed a resolution in opposition to this five-year
agricultural program which the gentleman has just said is one
of the constructive things.

Mr. FREAR. No; I did not say that, I said the $175,000
appropriation is for constructive work. I know nothing about
the five-year program.

LEAVITT, That is exactly what I said, since it is an
item which supports the five-year program, which is simply
carrying out a uniform, definite program.

Mr. FREAR. Confined to the five-year program?

Mr. LEAVITT. No. The five-year program is simply one
definite plan along lines of improving the Indians, particularly
to make them self-supporting, by teaching them farming, stock
raising, and things of that kind.

Mr. FREAR, Can the gentleman say what proportion of
the $175.000 is used for the five-year program?

Mr. LEAVITT. It was started, as the chairman of the com-
mittee said, on the Blackfoot Reservation. Then it was under-

taken on other reservations, and some are now in the second -

and third year.

Mr. FREAR. So under this plan even the $15,000 a year is
not——

Mr. LEAVITT. I can not give the number of reservations
which have now adopted it, but several in Dakota, and many
others have taken it up, such as the Fort Peck Indians, Mon-
tana. It is also started among the Cheyennes, and is being
pushed among many Indians.

Mr, FREAR. This appropriation is for general welfare of
the Indians; constructive work?

Mr. LEAVITT. Yes; that is true. I feel some opposed
to this; have no reason in mind except they fear some men like
the gentleman from Wisconsin met at Livingston last sum-
mer——

Mr. FREAR. They did not discuss that question with me
at all. 1

Mr. LEAVITT. Just one sentence and I will sit down. My
impression is they feel it will make the Indians self-supporting
and able to take care of themselves and whenever that condition
is reached the professional Indians, who make a living off the
rest of the Indians, will have no field to cultivate. Of course
some also are honest in feeling the program should be different.

Mr. HUDSON. Mr. Chairman, my reason for calling atten-
tion to this was to bring before the House the fact that out
of this fund, this five-year program, which has so commended
itself to those having charge of the development of the In-
dians, is appropriated. I think it is one of the most helpful
items in the bill

Mr. FREAR. Mr. Chairman, I rise in opposition to the
amendment, for the purpose of saying to the chairman of the
Indian Affairs Committee that while I did discuss with some
gentlemen the guestion of the threatened starvation of Indians,
particularly on the Peck Reservation and other places, I did not
talk with regard to the five-year program. Now, with regard to
the question of the professional Indians that they will lose their
employment when the five-year program is made successful. I
would not want to think that. I believe they have higher or
better reasomns. I believe this, whether the Indians have
$175,000 for general work, or only $15,000 or §5,000 for the five-
year program, is immaterial. If it is appropriated they ought
to have it.

Mr. CRAMTON. If the gentleman will yield. The gentle-
man will note this item of $175,000 is a reimbursable item and
actually reimbursed, and it is not the sum total of our effort
in industrial assistance. The preceding item of $315,000 is for
direction and encouragement in developing along the lines of
agriculture and stock raising, and so forth, but it is not reim-
bursable. That comes out of the Treasury of the United States.

l{r} EKETCHAM. Will the gentleman yield to me for a mo-
ment

Mr, CRAMTON. Certainly.

Mr. KETCHAM. I have asked that moment to request the
chairman of the subcommittee to make a statement concerning
the item on page 22, beginning with the proviso on line 4—

Provided further, That the SBeeretary of the Interior is hereby author-
ized, in his discretion and under such rules and regulations as he may
prescribe, to make advances from this appropriation to old, disabled, or
indigent Indian allottees, ;
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Can the gentleman state what has been the nature of that
particular portion of the fund during the years? Has it been
developing and increasing, or diminishing?

Mr. CRAMTON. That is a new provision that appeared in
the bill first last year, due to a suggestion that Commissioner
Burke made to me while we were out on one of the reserva-
tions, An old Indian, for example, has a piece of land, but he
has got beyond the age where he can do anything with it, and
under this item the bureau is authorized to advance the money
to him. He can have the good of it while he lives. When he is
dead and the land is sold the money is reimbursed to the Gov-
ernment.

I think as yet very little, if any, use of it has been made.
There was some question of the power—the language was in a
little doubt in the previous year—and there was some quesfion
as to whether this provision was subject to the provisions
requiring reimbursement to come within five years. It was not
the purpose to have the reimbursement made in five years, and
it was desirable to change the language so that it could be
understood that the reimbursement was not to be expected in
five years.

Mr. KETCHAM. Of course the gentleman will understand
that that item will have to be watched with a considerable
degree of care to determine when a man becomes old and
disabled?

Mr. CRAMTON. Of course it will be watched. The sum
total, of course, that could be advanced will be $175,000. But
the committee is so interested in the proper use of this money
that if the advances under the last proviso reach any large
ficure a limitation would be placed on the expenditure. On the
other hand, the Burean of Indian Affairs has always shown
such infense interest in the use of this money and have handled
it so wisely that reimbursement has come in large degree. I
do not think they will abuse that proviso.

The CHAIRMAN. The pro forma amendment is withdrawn.

Mr. FREAR. May I ask unanimous consent to proceed for
just one moment, to ask what will be done with the old Indians
who have no property? We run across those oceasionally,

Mr, CRAMTON. They are being supported directly out of
the Treasury.

Mr., FREAR. Direet support and civilization?

Mr. CRAMTON. Yes; under general support and civilization.
There was a time when thousands of Indians received rations.
Now the only ones who receive rations are those who are
indigent and old and helpless. I remember on one occasion I
was making a speech to the Indians up on the Sioux Reserva-
tion. There are no finer Indians physically than the Sioux,
but there have been no Indians more injured by a policy of
indiscriminate ration-giving than the Sioux. I remember that
their form of applause is by saying “How! How!” And I
remember that my speech was received in entire silence when
I stated to them that the time had come when any Indians
who are able to work should not expect any rations. At one
place in the speech one Indian did say “How!” and it nearly
broke up the meeting because applause was not looked on as
good form.

Mr. WEFALD. How much does it cost to support an old
and disabled Indian?

Mr. CRAMTON, Not much. We have at Canton, 8. Dak.,
an insane ayslum for Indians with an attendance, as I recall,
of 100, and our appropriation is $40,000. So there is $400 per
capita. These Indians can hardly be called insane, but they
are helpless Indians needing care. That $400 a year is, I
think, the top figure that we spend anywhere. It runs down
to only a few dollars on some reservations by giving them some
flour and help.

Mr. WEFALD. In order for an old Indian to be taken care
of, must he be declared insane?

Mr. CRAMTON. Certainly not. I just spoke of those In-
diang in South Dakota who were in an insane asylum to illus-
trate what is done.

Mr. WEFALD. The gentleman does not know what it
costs to support an old Indian who is not in one of these insti-
tutions? Does it cost $30 a year?

Mr. CRAMTON. That, no doubt, takes care of some cases.
Some cases probably require more. I could not give the gen-
tleman the exact figure,

Mr. WEFALD. It does not cost as much as to support an
old horse?

Mr, ORAMTON. Well, I do not think they spend that much
in taking care of horses on the Indian reservations.

Mr, LEAVITT. Mr. Chairman, will the gentleman yield for
a further question?

Mr. CRAMTON. Certainly.

Mr. LEAVITT. Is it not true that the rations lssued would
be sufficient if the relatives of the old and indigent Indians
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did not come in and eat up a large part of what is given them?
I have been told that by Indians on all reservations that I
have visited. .

Mr. CRAMTON. That is, of course, the difficulty, that the
relatives will come in and eat up everything that is given the
old man, and the authorities have to be careful for that reason.

Mr, WEFALD. It speaks of their great heart, does it not?

Mr, CRAMTON. It speaks well of the great heart of the
indigent Indian, but it does not speak so well for the young
bloods who come in and eat up what is given to him.

The CHAIRMAN. The pro forma amendment is withdrawn.
The Clerk will read.

The Clerk read as follows:

For necessary miscellaneous expenses incident to the general admin-
istration of Indian irrigation projects, including salaries of not to
exceed five supervising engineers, for pay of one chief irrigation engi-
neer, one assistant chief irrigation engineer, one superintendent of
irrigation competent to pass upon water rights, one field cost accountant,
and for traveling and incidental expenses of officlals and employees of
the Indian irrigation serviee, $75,000.

Mr. ARENTZ. Mr. Chairman, I rise for the purpose of ask-
ing a question of the chairman. Referring to the paragraph
beginning on line 24 of page 24 and running to line 26 of page
25, does this include the salary of the engineering stafl located
here in Washington?

Mr. CRAMTON. No.
understand it.

Mr. ARENTZ. What is Mr. Reed’s title? Is he not the
chief irrigation engineer?

Mr. CRAMTON. That is my understanding.

Mr. ARENTZ. I just wanted to know whether this was in
Washington or some other place.

Mr. CRAMTON. I think there Is nothing in Washington
under this item.

Mr. ARENTZ. The reason I ask that is because the irriga-
tion engineers that were sent to the Walker River Reservation
to investigate the sources of water supply included Mr. Reed
as the chief, and I wondered whether there was some one else
in the field other than Mr, Reed who examined into such things
as proposed in the Walker River bill. :

Mr. CRAMTON. Of course, Mr. Reed is the head of the
service, but this paragraph provides nothing for services in the
District of Columbia.

Mr. ARENTZ. Well, if it did include something in the
District of Columbia it would say so in this paragraph.

Mr. CRAMTON. It should say so; yes. You see, there are
different districts. We have five irrigation districts,

Mr. ARENTZ. Covering a great big territory in Nevada,
New Mexico, and Arizona.

Mr. CRAMTON. Yes, I will correct that if I am wrong,
but it is my understanding that no part of this is available in
the District of Columbia.

Mr. HUDSON. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the last
word. I would like to ask the chairman of the committee this
question: Are these irrigation projects administered by the
Bureau of Indian Affairs or by the Reclamation Service?

Mr. CRAMTON. They are all now administered by the
Bureau of Indian Affairs. A few years ago the Reclamation
Service, as it was called at that time, had charge of cerfain
projects. They had charge of the Flathead project, if I remem-
ber correctly. I know they had charge of several projects, but
we transferred that jurisdiction to the Indian Service and
saved some money by doing so.

Mr. HUDSON. That was the question T had in mind. I
wish the chairman of this subcommittee might in just a word
or two explain to the committee and the House how you ean
save expense to the Government by duplicating agencies which
do the same line of work,

Mr. CRAMTON. Well, the gentleman makes an assumption
that the facts do not bear out.

Mr. HUDSON. Waell, let us assume that.

Mr. CRAMTON. I never want to assume something that
is not so. The situation is this: On the projects I speak of
the Indian Service has an organization; they have the superin-
tendent of the agency; they have an organization; and they
have their headquarters, Now, if the Reclamation Service
should come on that project to operate and maintain an irriga-
tion project they would have to have their officials there also,
and so by eliminating the one bureau we leave just one organi-
zation there, and, as I say, in fact, did save some money. Now,
theoretically, when it comes to the construction of irrigation
projects, whether those irrigation projects are for the use of
the Indians or of whites, we ought to have one construction
organization, which, of course, would in that event be the
Reclamation Service; and I will say to the gentleman that I

This is purely the field staff, as T
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have felt very strongly about that at times and have been
almost prepared to take some steps in that direction, but the
trouble has been that just at the time when I felt most strongly
about it, the Reclamation Service has been all shot to pieces
and disorganized and it wounld have been a erime to have given
them any more responsibility than they already had.

Mr. HUDSON. Then, the gentleman does not think that
under this present system there is any duplication of engineers
or other supervisors or any duplication of machinery that
could be eonsolidated and handled as one?

Mr, CRAMTON, The degree to which you could say there is
any duplication is extremely limited.

Mr. HUDSON. The gentleman realizes that the President
and the administration want economy?

Mr. CRAMTON. Yes.

Mr. HUDSON. And by the elimination of duplication is not
this a place to begin?

Mr. CRAMTON. The gentleman, I think, would have great
trouble in showing to the committee where one position counld
be saved. The gentleman must remember that the Reclama-
tion Service, in the main, is charged with the construction of
irrigation projects, They are endeavoring now fo get away
from the handling of the operation and maintenance by turn-
ing that over, wherever possible, to the water users. In the
In%ian irrigation service we have been trying to get away from
the construction of new projects because the showing has not
been satisfactory and the unse that the Indians have made gen-
erally of irrigation works has not been satisfactory. There
are, in fact, now only two construction programs under way
with reference to the Indian Service, one on the Flathead
Reservation and one, the San Carlos, in Arizona; and I am
satisfied that there would have been no economy whatever by
intrusting the construction of those projects to the Reclamation
Service. I think the contrary would be true.

The CHAIRMAN. The time of the gentleman from New
York has expired.

Mr. LEAVITT. Mr, Chairman, I move to strike out the last
two words. I would like to ask the chairman a question or two.
Is it not true that on a number of the Indian reservations there
are.certain irrigation projects that are very unsuccessful be-
cause the Indians themselves are not yet trained to be irriga-
tors, and because the uncertainty as to title and other diffi-
culties in connection with development have kept white farmers
from making a success on them? Thus the Government has
considerable money, in some cases Indian money, that has been
invested without any possibility of return under present con-
ditions.

Mr. CRAMTON. May I first say to the gentleman from
Nevada [Mr. Arextz] that I find I was in error; that Mr.
Reed is earried in the item for irrigation as well as those five
district engineers, Now, answering the gentleman from Mon-
tana, generally speaking, it is true thaf the Federal money
which has been invested is not paying the return it ought to.
The gentleman just mentioned the possibility of starvation on
the Fort Peck Reservation.

Mr. LEAVITT. Yes., Those Indians were just given a per
eapita payment of $50. 7y

Mr. CRAMTON. On the Fort Peck Reservation, for instance,
there is an irrigation system; there is water available for thou-
sands of acres unused, land that will produce sugar beets that
will make a people prosperous and happy, but they have not
progressed to the stage where they care to utilize the oppor-
tunities that surround them.

Mr, ARENTZ. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. LEAVITT. I yield.

Mr. ARENTZ. Would the chairman of the Committee on
Indian Affairs tell me, please, how much, if at all, the policy
of the Indian Bureaun is influenced by the Indian Rights Associ-
ation and the Association for the Protection of Indians?

Mr. LEAVITT. I can not tell the gentleman that,

Mr. ARENTZ. Do not those two associations have some
influence with the department or the burean?

Mr. LEAVITT. I think it is perfectly proper for a depart-
ment or a committee or any Member of Congress to listen to
any individual or any assoelation.

Mr. ARENTZ. I do, too.

Mr. LEAVITT. And secure from that individnal or associa-
tion any information available. The only difficulty is that we
do not always use our own judgment after we get the informa-
tion. We take it that because some one assumes to speak in the
name of the Indians that his statement is necessarily true, and
we may thereupon take steps that are to the detriment of the
ll)gdimtm in the hope that we are doing something for their

nefit,
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Mr. ARENTZ. The gentleman from Montana, I know,
would be the last man in Congress to say that a white man
should vote if he could not read or write the English language
or an Indian who could not even understand words in the
Indian language spoken to him about civil affairs; yet this
Congress has allowed a vote to Indians throughount the West who
could not understand a civic question if it was put down in all
the Indian languages of the world; and you go into a territory
where Indians live and speak about things that they should
know about and find that this Indian Rights Association ap-
parently has told them various things, and they will say, “ You
are responsible for no rain coming, consequently our crops are
all gone; we no vote for you.”

Mr. CRAMTON. Is not that a sufficient reason?

Mr., FREAR. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. ARENTZ. Yes.

Mr. LEAVITT. I have the floor.

Mr. FREAR. Can Congress in any way legislate so as to
g:ts;erlqnine the voting capacity of the Indians in the gentleman’s
state?

Mr. ARENTZ. If the Indian voters had to come under the
provisions of the law with respect to literacy, then we could get
somewhere ; but under the present status of things, any Indian
can vote,

Mr. FREAR. I was just going to say that it is entirely
within the discretion of the legislature to set a certain standard
for every voter and that standard would determine who is
entitled to vote, and for that reason——

The CHATIRMAN. The time of the gentleman has expired.

Mr. LEAVITT. Mr. Chairman, I ask unanimous consent to
proceed for five additional minutes because the gentleman has
taken up all my time.

The CHAIRMAN, The gentleman from Montana asks unani-
mous consent to proceed for five additional minutes. Is there
objection?

There was no objection,

Mr. CRAMTON. If the gentleman will permit, Mr. Chair-:
man, I ask unanimous consent that all debate on the pending
paragraph and all amendments thereto close in seven minutes.

The CHATRMAN. The gentleman from Montana asks unani- |
mous consent that all debate on the pending paragraph and all
amendments thereto close in seven minutes. Is there objection?

There was no objection,

Mr. LEAVITT, Mr. Chairman, of course, the different States
have the power to provide any sort of restriction as to a literacy
test they may wish. Montana has no such test, and the Indians
in my State very generally vote, but the point I rose particu-
larly to discuss is with respect to the reclamation areas on
the Indian reservations. They were practically all started
without consultation with the Indians many years ago when
such work was all done under the Reclamation Service. Of
recent years they have been very largely taken over in an
incomplete form by the Indian Bureau, but without the very
serious question of settlement by people who are trained as
irrigators being solved. 8o they stand on many of the Indian
reservations as the most difficult of problems, and in some cases
like a millstone around the neck of the Indian. 2

I have in mind visiting last summer the Cheyenne Indians
on the Tongue River Indian Reservation. I found there a canal
that had been constructed many years ago, and, of course, the
Indians, very few of them, had progressed in agriculture to a
point where they could irrigate. The situation now is that
flames in two or three places have rotted and fallen down;
the canal is absolutely of no use to the Indians; but still the
charge is reimbursable and it stands against those Indians in
such a way that it puts them in the situation one of us would
occupy if we had greatly exhausted our credit at the bank and
still had to go ahead and make our way in a sucecessful busi-
ness. The Indians on this particular reservation are just now
being allotted lands. The tribal roll has just been completed
and they will be given their allotments next year. When it
comes to their securing credit under this $175,000 item, this
reimbursable fund, for farm machinery and for livestock, and
80 on, there is hanging over them that great reimbursable debt
that was not put there in a way that has resulted in their
benefit,

This is a question which should be studied by a fact-finding
commission among all the Indian regervations in the same way
that the situation among the white people on the reclamation
projects was studied, and there should be brought into this
Congress a report as to what should be done. In many cases,
such as the one I have mentioned, there should be a forgiving
of that charge, because the expenditure was made when they
were not developed to a point where it was of any use on recla-

[Laughter.]
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mation works, and yet it hangs over them and retards their
development now that they have come to the point where they
ean be made self-supporting. The same situation in a lesser
degree exists on some other Indian reservations. The lands
under the reclamation projects on some of these Indian reser-
vations are involved as to their titles. There are heirs to be
considered, some of them minors, and the land in some cases is
not in the possession of Indians who could irrigate and make
a suecess of it, and still these reclamation projects stand in an
incomplete form, withont it being possible for anyone to get
the benefit of them and pay back to the Government what the
Government has invested, or at least a legitimate part of it
It is one of the problems that I feel should be taken up by a
fact-finding commission, and I am giving this as a warning that
I shall introduce a bill to create such a commission.

Mr. FREAR. Mr. Chairman, I heartily agree with what the
gentleman from Montana has said. I was on the Fort Hill
Reservation and I do not remember the exact amount, but a
very large amount of money was wasted over an irrigation
project, and they are now attempting to put in an entirely
different project to take care of that land. The Indians who
are there ought not to be chargeable with that.

Down on a reservation near Phoenix, Ariz., I discovered they
had practically no water. A large amount of money has been
gpent and about all they are doing there is to get water from
wells. They have in view a proposition that they are going to
try, but the present irrigation project is practically wasted,
and those Indians ought not to be obliged to pay for it, and it
seems to me that the proposition ought to be considered by the
Indian Committee of the House.

Mr. CRAMTON, The present expendifure has been for the
creation of the canal that brings the flow of the river to the
dam. The bill carries a continuation of the Coolidge Dam,
which means storage, and when stored is available for the
canals.

Mr. FREAR. The supply of water they originally expected
to have has vanished; the wells are incapable of supplying
the water and the nmew project, perhaps, will supply water
to a certain extent, but, as I say, a great deal of that project
has been wasted. -

The Clerk read as follows:

For continulng construction of the Coolidge Dam across the Canyon
of the Gila River near San Carlos, Ariz., as authorized by the act of
June 7, 1024 (43 Stat. L. pp. 475 and 476), and under the terms and
conditions of, and reimbursable as provided In sald act, $750,000:
Provided, That the unexpended balance of the appropriations for this
purpose for the fiscal year 1927 shall remain avallable for the fiseal
year 1028,

Mr. HAYDEN. Mr. Chairman, I offer the following amend-
ment :

The Clerk read as follows:

Amend on page 26, line 25, by inserting the following: “ Provided
further, That consulting engineers may be employed by the Secretary
of the Interior in the manner and under the terms provided in the act
of March 18, 1926 (Publie law No. §50), for advice relating to the con-
gtruction of said dam.”

Mr. HAYDEN. Mr. Chairman, as the chairman of the sub-
committee knows, this dam is to be of the multiple-dome type.
No construction of that type has been had before, and it is
necessary to pass a special act authorizing the consulting engi-
neers to examine the plans and specifications of that dam.
This leads the construction in that type of dam and it is
thought it will save about a million dollars, We did not know
whether it was safe or not, but the consulting engineers
checked it up and decided that it was safe.

Now, the engineers say that inasmuch as this is new con-
struction that when the bed of the river is sfripped to put
in the dam and during the consiruction before it is completed
they would like to have the benefit of the advice of the engi-
neers along the same line, It will not cost a large amount of
money and I think it would be wise to give them this anthority,

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, under the assurance that
this plan will not involve a large expenditure I have no
objection.

The CHAIRMAN. The guestion is on the amendment offered
by the gentleman from Arizona. !

The question was taken, and the amendment was agreed fto.

The Clerk, continuing the reading of the bill, read to the

close of line 8, page 30.

Mr. HUDSON. Mr, Chairman, I would like to ask the chair-
man of the committee if it is possible to give us any informa-
tion as to the total amount involved in the Indian irrigation
and reclamation project.
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Mr, CRAMTON. What does the gentleman mean, the total
amount spent for construction?

Mr. HUDSON. The amount spent and contracts authorized.

Mr. CRAMTON. The present construction program involves
only two important items—the Flathead, upon which we have
already spent dbout $5,000,000. The prospects of its return
have been extremely weak. Under the program worked ont
by the committee last year and which is the occasion of the
reappropriation a total further expenditure would probably be
a million and a half or $2,000,000 in the future.

The immediate expenditure would be not exceeding about
$1,000,000. The San Carlos will involve about three and a
half million dollars additional after the appropriation carried in
this bill. They expected to have that reservoir completed by the
1st of July, 1929. So far as the other projects throughout the
bill are concerned, there is no great amount of construction
proposed.

Mr. HUDSON. These two projects are sums that must be
reimbursed by the Indians on these reservations?

Mr. CRAMTON. By the landowners benefiting. :

Mr. HUDSON. Can the gentleman state about how much
now is chargeable for reimbursement against those Indian
lands? A

Mr. CRAMTON.
million dollars,

Mr. HUDSON. It is a great many million dollars?

Mr. CRAMTON. Yes; my recollection is that, in the hear-
ings a year ago, that was all assembled, but I have not
it in mind.

Mr. HUDSON. What is the effect upon the Indian allottees
in these reservations after the construction of these projects?
Is it not in a large measure really butchering them and taking
from them their lands to meet these costs?

Mr., CRAMTON. Oh, no; the situation varies. Some of the
Indians are agrieunlturists, like the Pimas, who have been
brought very low financially by the fact that water has been
diverted by wusers above them. Fields which they formerly
cultivated are now barren wastes. That will be corrected as
soon as this program is carried out. That I have referred to.
Some other Indians, for whom important prejects were ini-
tiated in the Senate a number of years ago without any pre-
liminary investigation or consultation, were not agriculturists
or irrigationists. They did not make nse of the water. There
is a great deal invoelved in the question. I do not want to go
into it too extensively, but I want to suggest this one thing,
that even though the Indians do not immediately make use
of the water, do not make use of the irrigation faecilities af-
forded them, it some time will have been proven wisdom to have
erected the works and claimed the water, because otherwise, by
the time those Indians will have developed to be agriculturists
and irrigationists, there would be a possibility that the water
rights would have been dissipated by others. So far as butch-
ering the Indians of their lands is concerned, there is no such
gituation. For instance, on the Flathead Reservation there is
an actual attempt by some very selfish individnals who desire
to exploit those Indians to array them in opposition to this
program. This program is taking no money out of the pockets
of the Indians. It is putting a charge on the books against
them, but that charge is not to be collected until the lands
eventnally are sold, and when those lands are sold they will
have appreciated in value far more than the charge for irri-
gation.

Mr. HUDSON. That is possible. Is not this program merely
the setting up by the Government of a plan of remitting all
these charges in order for the Indians in a large measure to
still possess the lands?

Mr. CRAMTON. There is nothing of that kind. The charges
are not bearing interest, and in the main the charges are repre-
sented by an increase in value of the land greater than the
charges. There is no attempt to collect the money now and
there is going to be no oceasion for remission of the great bulk
of the charges.

Mr, HUDSON.
projects.

Mr. CRAMTON. We would not have needed to do that in
those cases if the department had not been so active about a
fact-finding commission. As a matter of fact that fact-finding
commission on reclamation was a fault-finding commission. It
really went out and invited these different projects to come in
and state their grievances. I know of cases where they told
the people on the project that they ounght to file a complaint.
If you appoint a committee of that disposition you can make
quite a case for the Indians, too.

Mr, LEAVITT, My, Chairman, will the gentleman yleld?

Mr. HUDSON, Yes.

I conld not offhand. It is a good many

YWe have had to do that in other reclamation




1926

Mr. LEAVITT. The chairman stated that there was a neces-
sity of advancing to these irrigation projects, in order to hold
the water rights for the Indians. My understanding is that
they have a prior right to such water as is necessary for the
adequate development of their own land before anyone on the
outside can acquire that right.

AMr. CRAMTON. - That was the holding of the Supreme Court
of the United States in the Winter case, but not everyone feels
certain that that will always remain as the law. There is some
difference of opinion about it, while I adhere fully to it.

Mr. LEAVITT. There is no reason for finding any fault with
what has been done. It is simply a case of finding out what
the gituation is and what ought to be done in those cases where
the situation is not satisfactory. Those situations do exist.

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr, Chairman, in further response to the
gentleman from Michigan [Mr, Hupsox], if he will look at the
hearings on the 1926 Interior Department bill, two years ago,
at page 990, he will find a table covering the whole question.

Mr. HUDSON. I thank the gentleman.

The Clerk read as follows:

EDUCATION

. 'For the support of Indian day and industrial schools not otherwise
provided for, and other educational and industrial purposes in connec-
tion therewith, $2,429,700 : Provided, That not to exceed $10,000 of this
appropriation may be used for the support and educatlon of deaf and
dumb or blind or mentally deflcient Indian children: Provided further,
That $3,500 of this appropriation nray be used for the education and
civilization of the Alabama and Coushatta Indians in Texas: Provided
further, That not more than $20,000 of the above appropriation may be
used for the eduecation of the full-blood Choctaw Indians of Mississippi
by establishing, equipping, and maintaining day schools, including the
purchase of land and the construction of necessary buildings and their
equipment, and for the tuition of full-blood Mississippi Choctaw Indian
children enrolled in the public schools: Provided further, That all reser-
vation and nonreservation boarding schools with an average attendance
of less than 45 and 80 pupils, respectively, shall be discontinued on or
before the beginning of the fiscal year 1928, The pupils in schools so
discontinued shall be transferred first, if possible, to Indian day
gchools or State public schools; second, to adjacent reservation or non-
reservation boarding schools, to the limit of the capacity of said
schools : Provided further, That all day schools with an average attend-
ance of less than eight shall be discontinued on or before the beginning
of the fiseal year 1928 : Provided further, That all moneys appropriated
for any school discontinued pursuant to this act or for other cause shall
be returned immediately to the Treasury of the United Btates: Pro-
vided further, That not more than $350,000 of the amount herein appro-
priated may be expended for the tuition of Indian children enrolled in
the public schools under such rules and regulations as the Secretary of
the Interior may prescribe, but formal contracts shall not be reguired
for compliance with section 8744 of the Revised Statutes, for payment
of tuition of Indian children in public schools or of Indian children in
schools for the deaf and dumb, blind, or mrentally deficient: Provided
Jurther, That no part of this appropriation shall be used for the support
of Indian day and industrial schools where specific appropriation is made.

Mr, CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, I offer an amendment, which
I send to the Clerk's desk.

The CHAIRMAN. The Clerk will report the amendment.

The Clerk read as follows:

Page 30, line 4, after the word * required " Insert a comma.

The question was taken, and the amendment was agreed to.

Mr, CHINDBLOM. Mr. Chairman, I move to gtrike out the
last word for the purpose of obtaining some information if I
may. I find at the end of this paragraph there is a proviso
that no part of this appropriation shall be used for the sup-
port of Indian day and industrial schools where specific ap-
propriation is made. I would like to ask the chairman of the
committee what is the rule in regard to making specific appro-
priations? Some schools get considerable appropriations, and
others have to be satisfied with what they get out of the lump-
sum appropriation.

Mr, CRAMTON. The practice is in this general lump-sum
appropriation to take care of all the day schools and the reser-
vation boarding schools and the tuition in public and other
schools, Then there are a number of other nonreservation
boarding schools, and these nonreservation boarding schools
are appropriated for individually.

Mr., CHINDBLOM. Has it been the history of these cases
that certain schools get specific appropriations from time to
time as some interest may be aroused in them?

Mr. CRAMTON. I do not know what ancient history was
of the schools to which the gentleman has ealled attention,
and what may have been the condition when that was neces-
sary. The purpose is very evident that when a special ap-
propriation is made for schools they are not supposed to convey
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any general fund for something additional, but at the present
time there are no day schools receiving specific appropriations
in the act, nothing except nonreservation boarding schools.

Mr. CHINDBLOM. One other question with regards to the
needs of specific institutions and schools. I presume the re-
port of such matters is made to the Committee on Appropria-
tions by the bureau, and the committee does not attempt to
make any independent investigation of the needs of individual
schools?

Mr. CRAMTON. Well, the committee does. When the op-
portunity has afforded, the committee has visited various activi-
ties in the field. I have visited probably a majority at least
of these nonreservation boarding schools. Some of them are
quite large institutions, running as high as 950 pupils in a
school, but, of course, we do not each year go to them. We
have in all these matters to be governed in a large degree by
information given by the department.

Mr. CHINDBLOM. I withdraw the pro forma amendment.

The Clerk read as follows:

The Secretary of the Interior ls hereby authorized to continue during
the ensuing fiscal year the tribal and other schools among the Choctaw,
Chickasaw, Creek, and Seminole Tribes from the tribal funds of those
nations, within his discretion and onder such rules and regulations
as he may prescribe, and to expend such funds available for school
purposes under existing law for such repairs, improvements, or new
buildings as he may deem essential for the proper conduct of the
several schools of said tribes.

Mr. McKEOWN. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the
last word. I call the attention of the chairman to the fact
that the school in the Seminole Tribe had the misfortune
again to lose a barn. The insurance company at first indi-
cated they would replace the barn instead of paying the in-
surance, but after trying to deal with them for a long time
the insurance company finally paid the insurance to the Treas-
ury, and I was wondering if there was any authority or pro-
vision under this section that would authorize them to rebuild
that barn, which is a very necessary thing at this school?

Mr. CRAMTON. The gentleman is probably familiar with
the authorization the bill carries, that in emergencies the Sec-
retary of the Interior may order the replacing of a building
destroyed by fire by fransfer of money from some appropria-
tion in the bill for the last year. Of course, this is for cases
of real emergency. I have not any doubt if such an emergency
is shown and the genileman takes it up through the bureaun
and the Budget that a supplemental estimate will come in one
of the deficiency bills, and the needful thing would be done,
But the gentleman would understand the committee would be
very reluctant to offer an amendment without an opportunity
to go into the circumstances of the case,

Mr. McKEOWN. Of course, the gentleman from Michigan
realizes the enormous amount of work that it would require
to make all of this Budget inquiry and secure approval, and
it is a matter where the money now is in the Treasury of the
United States, put there by the insurance company, and if it
does nof go in this bill—

Mr. CRAMTON. Has the gentleman taken up the matter
with the Indian Bureau with a view of having an estimate
come to Congress?

Mr. McKEOWN. I will say to the gentleman from Michigan
that yesterday I received a letter from the superintendent, a
copy of which was sent to the burean.

Mr. CRAMTON. I know the gentleman’s zeal and he s right
on the job, but there will be a deficiency bill coming through
in a short time, and I would suggest to the gentleman he present
the matter to the burean with a view to its consideration by
that bureau.

Mr, McKEOWN. I will state to the gentleman that hereto-
fore I had an opportunity to present the matter; but I will not
press the matter if the gentleman thinks it can be taken care of
and it ought to be taken care of as soon as possible.

The CHAIRMAN. The Clerk will read,

The Clerk read as follows:

Wahpeton, N. Dak.: For 225 pupils, $50,625; for pay of superin-
tendent, drayage, and general repairs and improvements, $10,000; in
all, §$60,625.

Mr. BURTNESS. Mr. Chairman, I offer an amendment.

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from North Dakota offers
an amendment, which the Clerk will report.

The Clerk read as follows:

Amendment offered by Mr. BurTNEss: Page 41, line 4, strike out
%9295 pupils " and insert in lien thereof * 285 pupils, $52,875." 3

Mr. BURTNESS. Mr, Chairman and gentlemen of the com-
mittee, the only purpose of the amendment, as you will note,
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is to increase the appropriation so that the basis thereof is
to increase the number of pupils from 225 to 235. It adds
£2.250 to the amount carried or $225 for each of 10 more
pupils. I realize, of course, the difficnlty that the office of
Indian Affairs, the Bureau of the Budget, and the.Committee
on Appropriations always have in treating all of the Indian
schools as fairly as possible. This school at Wahpeton, N, Dak.,,
had during the month of October an average attendance of 233
pupils. You will note that provision is made upon the basis
of 225 pupils. I find from the hearings that during the entire
school year, this past year, the average attendance was 227,
. or two more than the number that is appropriated for in
this bill for the next fiscal year.

There is no guestion but that there is a greater demand
for attendance at this school than the plant is able to take
care of. It also does what perhaps most of us would call
junior high-school work in addition to the work that is usually
done at Indian boarding schools. I do not know exactly what
the policy of the committee is with reference to appropriating
for the exact number of pupils that are present in any one
school year, but I have checked through the hearings upon
these hoarding schools, and I find this: That in the case of
18 schools a larger appropriation is provided than the per
pupil item of $225 based upon the average attendance, while
in nine of them the appropriation is for less than the average
attendance for the preceding year. I have a list of them
here, setting out exactly what the facts are in that respect.

All that I am asking for in this case is that up there in the
northern country, where the cost of running a school is per-
haps higher than in many pluces, we ghould place this par-
ticular school, at least, on a parity with those schools wlhich
do receive an appropriation of $225 or more for the average
attendance during the entire year. You will note this, that 1
have asked for an amount based on only two more pupils than
the average attendance in October of this year.

At this particular school there is a considerable demand
for new equipment, and many minor improvements are needed,
and while $2.250 seems very little and scarcely worth the
time of this committee in giving it consideration, yet the fact
is that $2,250 additional for a school of that kind, with 235
pupils, means a great deal for them and would make it per-
haps possible to put in some small much-needed improvements,
as possibly a small kitchen in the hospital that is now being
maintained in the school, because now it is necessary to carry
food to the hospital from the girls' dormitory across the
campus. Possibly by this increase some other minor accommo-
dations for the school might be provided. _

I sincerely hope that the chairman of the committee in charge
of the bill will consent to this amendment. I notice in the
hearings that he very graciously added 10 students fo the
school at Bismarck, in our State. That is very well; but even
with that we are still getting less in our State for our average
attendance than the schools in Arizona, California, Michigan,
Minnesota, Oklahoma, and possibly one or two other States.

The CHAIRMAN. The time of the gentleman from North
Dakota has expired. :

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, the law provides the limit
of the per capita cost at these schools. The maximum per
capita is $250 if the attendance is less than 200, and if the at-
tendance is over 200 it is $225. The school at Bismarck gets
§250 per capita because the attendance is only 125. It comes
within that law. The school at Wahpeton under the law must
be given a limit of $225,

The policy of the committee has been not to overrun the
actual attendance at these schools. We can not caleulate down
as closely as 1 or 2, or even 8 or 10, of these pupils. At Wah-
peton their attendance has been gradually increasing. Last
year there was an average attendance of 227, and at the present
time it is 233. So there was an increase in the bill from 220 to
295 pupils, which is approximately the actual attendance at the
present moment, and it is as near as we generally come. For
instance, over at Chemawa they had an actual attendance of
986 in Oectober. They have not accommodations for 986, and
we did not give an appropriation for 986. The gentleman’s
schools have been very well taken care of in this bill. He cer-
tainly has mothing to complain of as compared with other
schools. Many of the schools here will have an average at-
tendance of 8 or 10 or 15 more than the number fixed. I hope
the amendment of the gentleman will not prevail.

The CHAIRMAN, The question is on agreeing to the amend-
ment offered by the gentleman from North Dakota.

The question was taken, and the amendment was rejected.

The CHAIRMAN. The Clerk will read.
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The Clerk read as follows:

Sequoyah Orphan Training School, mear Tahlequah, Okla.: For 275
orphan Indian children of the State of Oklahoma belonging to the re-
stricted class, to be conducted as an industrial school under the direc-
tlon of the Secretary of the Interior, $61,875; for pay of superintendent,
drayage, and general repairs and improvements, $10,000; in all, $71,875.

Mr. HASTINGS. Mr. Chairman, I offer an amendment.

The CHAIRMAN., The Clerk will report the amendment
offered by the gentleman from Oklahoma,

The Clerk read as follows:

Amendment offered by Mr. HasTixes : Page 41, line 14, strike out
“ 275" and insert “ 300,” and in line 17 strike out * $61,875 " and in-
sert * $67,500,” and in line 19 correct the total by striking out “ 871
875" and inserting * $77,500.”

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, as I understand, it is the
gentleman's purpose to utilize the additional space that will
result from the completion of the dormitory?

Mr. HASTINGS, That is correct. The dormitory has been
completed and is now occupied.

Mr. CRAMTON. 1 have no objection to the amendment.

The CHAIRMAN. The question is on agreeing to the amend-
ment offered by the gentleman from Oklahoma.

The amendment was agreed fo.

The Clerk read as follows:

Towa : 8ac and Fox, $1,800,

Mr. COLE. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the last
word. I do so in order to ask the chairman a question. I see
that this $1,800 is appropriated for the payment of taxes.
I have had some correspondence with these Indians recently,
who live in my district. Just what taxes, may I inquire, are
paid out of this money?

Mr. CRAMTON. I do not understand that it is. Certainly
not all of it is for the payment of taxes.

Mr, COLE. In the hearings, on page 372, it appears:

And most of it will be required for the payment of taxes on the
reservation land.

Mr. CRAMTON. Which belongs to the Indians and is sub-
ject to local taxation. I have no information on the subject
further than appears in the hearings.

AMr. COLE. These lands were purchased by the Indians,
It is not an ordinary reservation. They own it in fee simple
but the title is held in trust for the Indians by the Secretary
of the Interior. There is some complaint about their taxes.
The taxes are very heavy and the land, if it were divided,
would not aggregate more than about 3 acres per Indian,
and it is almost impossible for them to pay the taxes on their
lands. I understand that on reservations no taxes are required,
but these Indians, who bought their own lands, must pay taxes.

Mr. CRAMTON. On reservations the title is in the Govern-
ment until it vests in the Indians by allotment, and, of course,
Government land would not be subject to taxation.

Mr. COLE. These lands were purchased by the Indians;
they own them, and the title to it is held in trust for them
but they are subject to local faxation.

Mr. CRAMTON. For that reason. If the rate of taxation is
unjust as against those Indians, I should think the matter
would be one which the gentleman might very well investigate
at the source of taxation, but I have no information on that
subject. It has been sometimes surmised that Indian land-
owners in some parts of the country were taxed more heavily
than whites holding similar lands. If that prevails in the gen-
tleman’s instance, I think he should demonstrate those facts
first.

Mr. COLE. I do not think that is true in this case. These
lands are along the Iowa River bottom; they are not very val-
uable, and I think the taxation is not excessive, but they do not
have sufficient income to pay the local taxation, and I notice
that there is provision made here for paying taxes, and I was
just wondering what taxes are meant. \

Mr. CRAMTON. Well, this tax is on those lands.

Mr. COLE. I know; but what taxes does the National
Government provide for in this legislation?

Mr. CRAMTON. We are providing $1,800 to be paid out of
the funds of those Indlans to meet those local taxes upon the
lands of those Indians.

Mr. BURTNESS. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. COLE. Yes, .

Mr. BURTNESS. Are these Indians engaged in farming?

Mr. COLE. Yes; they are engaged in farming.

Mr, BURTNESS. Then they are not different from other
{grm?ors in Iowa in that they are unable to pay their taxes, are
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Mr. COLE. Well, T think the people of Iowa are paying their
taxes, and these Indians are willing to pay their taxes, 0of
course, they are under the protection of the Government and
they need a little help. I was led to make this inquiry by
reason of the statement that this money was to be used in part
in paying taxes.

Mr. CRAMTON. The committee would be delighted to con-
sider, with a view to any relief possible, any information that
the gentleman might develop as to the situation.

Mr. COLE. I thank the gentleman.

The pro forma amendment was withdrawn,

The Clerk read as follows:

Kansas : Klckapoo, $1,500; Pottawatomle, $2,800; in all, $4,300.

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, I offer an amendment,

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from Michigan offers an
amendment, which the Clerk will report.

The Clerk read as follows:

Amendment offered by Mr, CramroN: Page 51, between lines 20
and 21, insert a new paragraph, as follows:

“ Michigan : Mackinae, $200.”

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, this does not increase the
total but corrects a clerical error. &

The CHAIRMAN. The question is on agreeing to the
amendment offered by the gentleman from Michigan.

The amendment was agreed to.

The Clerk read as follows:

Boise project, Idaho: For continuation of Investigation and con-
struction, Payette division, $400,000: Provided, That of the unex-
pended balance of the appropriation for this project for the fiscal
year 1927 there is reappropriated for operation and maintenance,
Payette division, $16,000; for investigations, examination, and sur-
veys, Payette division, $16,000; for continuation of construction,
Arrowrock division, $100,000; in all, $132,000.

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, I offer an amendment to
correct the structure of the paragraph and not to change any
of the appropriations.

The CHAIRMAN. The gentleman from Michigan offers an
amendment, which the Clerk will report.

The Clerk read as follows:

Amendment offered by Mr. Cramrox: Page 63, In line 23, strike
out the words and figures “ in all, $132,000."

The amendment was agreed to.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out
the last word for the purpose of asking a question.

I am somewhat in doubt, after an examination of the esti-
mates of the Bureau of the Budget and the hearings before the
committee, as to just where the Payette division is located that
this $400,000 is appropriated for.

Mr. CRAMTON. It is somewhat confusing because the
Reclamation Service from year to year changes these names.
We decided that the Black Canyon division and the Payette
division are the same. It was formerly called the Black Can-
yon and this year it is called the Payette. The gentleman
from Idaho [Mr. FrExcH] is more familiar with it than any-
one else.

Mr. FRENCH. Let me say to the gentleman that the money
carried in the bill last year, and heretofore where the unit
has been referred to, has been appropriated for the Boise
project, but for the use of the Black Canyon division or unit.
This is not a new project. It is part of the Boise project, and
in fact, some $2,000,000 or more has already been expended
with the object, in part, of caring for these lands,

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Is there any provision or estimate
made for it in the Budget?

Mr. CRAMTON. The gentleman means for this $400,0007

Mr. FRENCH. No; that comes from breaking up the amount
that was carried in the Budget and allocating it in a differ-
ent way.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Is it a reappropriation of a fund?

Mr. FRENCH. No; the committee felt that on the whole
it was better to make a different allocation than the allocation
that was in the estimates that came from the Budget. It does
not increase the Budget amount.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Is not this $400,000 specified here
a part of the Budget estimate for the power plant at American
Falls?

Mr. FRENCH. It could be so regarded, and if not expended
here it might have been expended there.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Did not the committee take from
the $1,500,000 estimate for the power plant at American Falls

$800,000 and allocate $400,000 to the. Payette- division and |-

$400,000 to the gravity extension unit, otherwise known as the
Gooding project?
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Mr. FRENCH. That is correct.

Mr. CRAMTON. As the gentleman may have heard me say
on Saturday, that is exactly what we did.

Mr. BANKHEAD. Mr. Chairman, we are very much inter-
ested in this discussion over here, and as has been suggested
heretofore this afternoon, the gentlemen over on the other side
hold little informal caucuses on these matters when we would
like to hear something about them. I would like the chair-
man of the subcommittee to repeat his statement so that we
can hear it.

Mr. CRAMTON. We have done exactly what the gentleman
has suggested—reduced the appropriation proposed for the
power plant at American Falls by $800,000—and have felt that
a much better use of that money would be to devote it to the
Payette division of the Boise project and the gravity extension
unit of the Minidoka.

Mr. BANKHEAD. Upon whose recommendation was that
done, I will ask the chairman?

Mr. CRAMTON. That is the action of the committee upon
the information before us, Of course, these projects are not
new projects. I do not want to take the gentleman off his
feet.

Mr. BANKHEAD. I understand, but we wonld like to know
abont this.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. I am simply seeking information, and
will ask for further time if necessary.

Mr. CRAMTON. If the gentleman does not mind, I may say
that some time ago we constructed the Black Canyon Reservoir,
and at that time it was contemplated that ultimately its waters
would in part serve the Black Canyon division. Later a power
plant was constructed in connection with that dam, and a tem-
porary use of the power was granted to the Gem irrigation dis-
trict, it being contemplated that ultimately the Gem would get
its power from the Owyhee, and the Owyhee is now under con-
struction. It was contemplated then that ultimately that power
would go to serve the Black Canyon division. The Black Can-
yon division has been homesteaded by men who expected irriga-
tion years ago and have been waiting for it. There are no great
problems of settlement involved, and it seemed to the committee
a more desirable use to take care of these homesteaders.

The CHAIRMAN. The time of the gentleman from Utah has
expired.

Mr. BANKHEAD. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out the
last two words. I would like to ask the chairman of the com-
mittee whether or not the Secretary of the Interior was before
the committee with reference to any of these reclamation
projects as well as the Director of Reclamation?

Mr, CRAMTON. The Secretary was not, in person. He was
invited to come before the committee and file such statement
as he desired. The Director of Reclamation was before the com-
mittee with reference to his program.

Mr. BANKHEAD. = Did the Director of Reclamation make
this specific recommendation as to the allotment of this
$400,0007

Mr., CRAMTON. He did not.

Mr. BANKHEAD. That was done entirely upon the initia
tive of the committee?

Mr. CRAMTON. He discussed the construction of this divi
sion and recommended a small appropriation, but did not make
this specific recommendation. What recommendation he may
have made to the Budget I do not know. I am not advised
whether he made any further recommendation or not.

Mr. BANKHEAD. One further question, although I do not
wanpt to be tedious with the chairman——

Mr, FRENCH. May I follow that up right there, because it
is pertinent to the point, by saying it is my understanding that
an appropriation for this particular unit a year ago was agree-
able to the department, and as the chairman has said, this is in
no sense & new project or even a new unit of a project. It is
carrying out the program of this Congress approved over and
over again through appropriations that have been made—the
appropriations being made to the amount of half a million
dollars every year for four years and the last appropriation
being for the purpose not only of completing the dam but of
building the power unit for the purpose of developing power.

Mr. BANKHEAD. I would like to ask the gentleman what
this item contemplates—" for the continuation of investigation."”
The gentleman says it is not a new project, and if it is not a
new project it is an old project and why is it necessary to con-
tinue investigation? Why is it that in an engineering problem
that is well understood you have to appropriate a large sum
for continued investigation? - Is $400,000 going to be spent for
investigation of the project? e 1 -
Mr. FRENCH. None of that.

Mr. BANKHEAD. Why is it in the bill?
Mr. FRENCH. 1 doubt if that need be in the bilL
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Mr. BANKHEAD. It is misleading, and if it is not necessary
it ought to be cut out. i

Mr. FRENCH. The gentleman ought to understand that the
department when it undertakes a great program involving the
expenditure of millions of dollars that is under way for years
is constantly confronted with new details in connection with
the project, For instance, in this project the question of stor-
age is involved : Precisely how shall the storage be constructed?
We must go 75 or 100 miles above the Black Canyon Dam to find
a place for greater storage,

All the details touching that have not yet been worked out.
Maybe a new site for a reservoir will be chosen instead of the
one that to-day may seem most desirable. When it comes to
working out the lateral canals all the details have not been
worked out, However, I think the langunage *construction”
would in itself impliedly carry enough authority to make
further investigation that is necessary. I think, on the other
hand, it is desirable to carry the words “continuation of in-
vestigation,” so that there may be no question whatever of the
authority of the department to make such inquiry as will
make it abundantly sure in every instance that dams and
canals and reservoirs shall be built in places where soundest
wisdom dictates they ought to be constructed. That is the
purpose of the word.

Mr. Chairman, most of the discussion of this item has turned
not upon the merits of the item but rather upon the policy of
the Committee on Appropriations touching items that are not
specifically recommended by the Budget.

May I say that there is no more earnest champion of the
Budget system in the Honge than am I, and I yield to no man in
respect and admiration for the Director General of the Budget
Bureau; and I ean not find words adequate with which to com-
mend the service that General Lord is rendering to the Ameri-
can people.

The Appropriations Committee, however, has not been stripped
of the duties that rest upon it in our scheme of government
and under the rules of the House it is the duty of the Congress
to make appropriations for the expenditures of government.
The Budget Bureau must be regarded as an oufstanding guide
for our actions, but the officers of the Budget Bureau would be
the last persons in the world who would desire that the Con-
gress ratify their every act, regardless of personal information
that might suggest a reduction of one item, the increase of
another item, or the reallocation of moneys recommended.

The proposition under discussion means the reallocation of
an amount of money by the committee and the Congress. In
bill after bill that comes before the Congress the Appropria-
tions Committee approves items that have not been recom-
mended by the Bureau of the Budget, omits items that have had
Budget approval, and modifies other items in ways that under
all the circumstances seem the wise and statesmanlike thing
to do.

But the Committee on Appropriations may be wrong, and it
is the duty of the House and of the Senate not to ratify care-
lessly the action of one of its committees, but to consider the
action and then to use its own judgment upon the wisdom or
the unwisdom of commitiee recommendations,

Now let me say a word with regard to the merits of the
proposition before us: The Budget estimates included $1,500,000
for the Minidoka project, the money to be used for the con-
struction of a power plant of four units, carrying one of those
units to completion for the purpose of furnishing supplemental
water to lands that are now receiving an inadequate water
supply. It was the ultimate object in another few years to
add the additional three units and thus to furnish water
through a pumping system for new lands that are part of
the public domain.

As against this proposition, by a different allocation of the
$1,500,000, we could continue construction work on the Boise
project with the objective of furnishing water to lands in the
Black Canyon unit which have already been acguired by home-
gteaders and to which unit I made reference a few minutes
ago.

For this purpose the committee recommended $400,000 and
it has met the approval of this body.

We then recommended the allocation of $400,000 for in-
vestigation and construetion of the gravity extension unit of
the Minidoka project, This unit has not been included in
Budget estimates. The land is now in the area embraced
within the Idaho irrigation distriet, a Carey Act project. It
contains 46,664 acres of land now under partial water supply,
and 36,500 additional aeres of new lands, 29,000 acres of which
are public lands and 7,500 acres of which belong, for the most
part, to the State of Idaho. It is not proposed that we reclaim
the new land within the near future. It i proposed that the
$100,000 be appropriated for the commencement of a large
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diversion canal from a point at about Milner, Idaho, for the
purpose of furnishing supplemenial water to the 46,664 acres
now receiving inadequate water supply.

The acreage to which I have referred is the home of 9,000
people. The water that it is proposed to furnish them will
be under gravity flow and not furnished through a pumping
system,

The American Falls Reservoir will impound water some of
which until some provision shall be made for its utilization
will go to waste. In the judgment of the committee the most
economical and the most reasonable use of the water at this
time will be to furnish a supplemental water supply to these
lands that are now inadequately served. The extension unit
lies adjacent or contiguous to the northern lands of the Mini-
doka project, and the cost of the supplemental water supply
to these lands will be approximately $35 per acre, though fur-
ther investigations may modify the figure that I have indicated
to some extent.

Much of the work of a committee must be directed to choos-
ing between the use of money for one purpose or another. In
this instance your committee believes that it is the part of
wisdom to carry forward a program that will mean water
supply for lands that have already been partially reclaimed,
or that have been acquired under the homestead laws, rather
than to undertake a program for the reclamation of new lands
that would necessitate new settlers upon them, and especially
when such reclamation would mean supplying water through
a4 pumping system at a cost considerably greater than the acre
cost for either the Black Canyon lands, upon the one hand, or
the Minidoka lands under the extension unit upon the other.
In my judgment the items should be approved.

Mr. BANKHEAD. I am glad that I have given the gentle-
man an opportunity to place that speech in the Recorp, and i
a measure it answers my question, :

The Clerk read as follows:

Minidoka project, Idaho: For operntion and maintenance, reserved
works, £71,000,

Mr, CRAMTON.
ment.
The Clerk read as follows:

Page 64, line 2, after the figures “ $71,000," Insert * continuation of
construction, $75,000; in all, $146,000."

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr, Chairman, I think it was my error in
eliminating that $75.000 from the estimate. It was the inten-
tion of the committee to include that.

The CHAIRMAN. The question is on agreeing to the
amendment.

The amendment was agreed to.

The Clerk read as follows:

Minidoka project, American Falls Reservolr, Idaho: For operation
and maintenance, American Falls water system, $9,000; for acquiring
rights of way, $8,000; eonstructlon of power plant, $700,000; investi-
gation and construction of gravity extension unmit, $400,000: Provided,
That none of the said sum of $400,000 shall be available for construc-
tion work until a contract or contracts shall be made with an irriga-
tlon district or districts embracing said unit which, in addition to other
conditions required by law, shall require repayment of construction
costs as to such lands as may be furnished supplemental water within
a period not exceeding 20 years from the date water shall be available
for delivery ; in all, $1,117,000,

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike ount
the last word. I would like to inquire whether there are any
estimates by the Buream of the Budget for the $400,000 set
forth in line 7, page 64.

Mr. CRAMTON, No estimate came to the committee.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Has it been authorized?

Mr. CRAMTON. No authorization is required other than
the appropriation. There is authorization for the construction
of the reclamation work and all that is necessary is for Con-
gress to muake the appropriation.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. This is for what is known as the
Gooding project?

Mr. CRAMTON. Yes.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. That was a private project. Is not
the Government attempting to take over by this appropriation
a private project?

Mr. CRAMTON., We are not taking over the project. I
hesitate to take all of the gentleman's time, but, on the other
hand, I do not want to be discourteous. I want to give the
gentleman what information he wants. Our committee has
made a siudy of these things in the field, as well as hearing
witnesses, and we do not feel that it is the function of Con-
gress to be simply a rubber stamp. On the one hand, Congress

Mr, Chairman, I offer the following amend-
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should not make these appropriations Just in response to po-
litical expediency and log rolling, but, on the other hand,
when it goes into a matter exhaustively and has all the in-
formation it is the function of that committee to act upon its
own best judgment, whether it conforms to the dictates of the
department or not. [Applause.]

I will give the information that the gentleman wants. As
I say, I hesitate to take np too much of the gentleman’s time,
but if he insists on answers to the questions, I must answer
them in my own way.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. I agree most heartily with the state-
ment of the gentleman. The reason I ask the question is that
I have been confronted with technical objections from the
committee constantly along this line, with the statement re-
peatedly that if the Budget Burean had not made an estimate
nothing could be done.

Mr..CRAMTON. The gentleman is not quite aceurate in
his recolleetion,

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Oh, I am very accurate.

Mr. CRAMTON. I will give the gentleman the information
now. In the gentleman's ease he has sought to have some-
thing put into the bill that the Budget has not recommended
to Cengress and that the Committee knows nothing about, I
have been on the Minidoka project and the American Falls
Reservoir, and in that vicinity two or three times, and we
have quite full information before us. We are just complet-
ing, as the gentleman knows, the American Falls Reservoir
which has been under construetion for a number of years, and
is fo be completed this year. The estimate the Budget has
given for a million and a half dollars is to begin constrnetion
of a four-unit power plant. There is no need at the present
time, in the judgment of the committee, and there will be no
need for a number of years to come, for more than one unit:
and there is no oceasion at this time for spending a million
and a half dollars for the construction of that power plant.
The theory on which the department is acting is that a large
area of land, some 110,000 acres of entirely undeveloped land—
and, as I understand, largely not homesteaded, for which no
settlers are now available—is to be opened up throngh pump-
ing water, using the power from the American Falls plant.

Mr, LEATHERWOOD. Right there, if I may interrupt——

Mr. CRAMTON. That is the purpose the deparfment has in
mingl, "

The CHAIRMAN.
has expired.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Mr, Chairman, I ask unanimous con-
sent to proceed for five minutes more.

The CHATRMAN. Is there objection?

There was no objection.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. I understood the genfleman to say
that he was familiar with this project.

Mr. CRAMTON. 1 have visited the project: yes.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. As I understand the situation, the
land it is proposed to irrigate or to furnish with water, has
been in private cultivation and is at the present time.

The time of the gentleman from Utah

Mr. CRAMTON. 1Is the gentleman now speaking of the
Gooding project?
Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Yes, o

Mr. CRAMTON. The gentleman has not understood me, I
was stating what the proposition is that the department seemed
to have in mind. What the committee has recommended is
different. There is the so-called Gooding or the gravity-exten-
sion unit, which is now in operation, The people are there.
They have an insufficient water supply, and it is proposed——

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Will the gentleman wait so that we
can proceed intelligently; otherwise I shall have to assert my
rights of time. I just want to ask the question so that we will
not misunderstand each other. The language here is—

Investigation and construction of gravity-extension unit, $400,000,

That is what is commonly known as the Gooding project, is
it not?

Mr. CRAMTON. Yes.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. The reason I interrupted the gen-
tleman is that I wanted to be sure that we both understood this
alike.

Mr. CRAMTON. That is the Gooding.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. That was a private project.

Mr. CRAMTON. That ig a private project.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. And was a failure as a private
project?

Mr. CRAMTON. For lack of sufficient water supply, and
the propesition the committee has recommended is to bring
about the salvation of that project where there are settlers
already on the land by the construction of a canal. It is not
the purpose to take over the private project, but all we are
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going to do is to construct a canal to carry the water to the
project, and then it will come through their own distribution
gystem.

Mr. FRENCH. It is a supplementary water——

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Just one minute, Mr. Chairman; I
believe I have control of the time.

Mr. CRAMTON. The gentleman understands that I have
taken the time only at his instance.
er. LEATHERWOOD. I am glad to have the gentleman do

at.

Mr. CRAMTON. I much prefer to use my own time.

AMr. LEATHERWOOD. I want to ask a question, and then I
will be glad to get the views of the gentleman from Idaho [Mr.
FrexcH]. I am not prompted to ask these questions because of
any antagonism, but I am wondering what the method is which
has been used in the procedure, in view of the difficulties that
have confronted us in the last two or three years on other
matters pertaining to irrigation. As I understand, the com-
mittee arbitrarily cut off $800,000 from the power project at
American Falls and has allocated the $400,000 to the investi-
gation and econstruction of a gravity extension unit, known as
the Gooding projeet. Muy I ask the gentleman from Michigan
now what he understands as the extension of a project?

Mr. CRAMTON. I think there is no occasion for me to
answer questions that answer themselves,

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Let me ask this question, and mayhe
it will not answer it=elf. Is this land in guestion contiguous
to any existing project known as the Minidoka project?

Mr. CRAMTON. It utilizes water from the American Falls
Reservoir.

Mr. SMITH. If the gentleman would permit, I would say
that it is contignous to the north side extension of the Mini-
doka, and the water is taken by the American Falls at the
expense of the settlers. They are drawing off the water stored
at the American Falls for this gravity unit.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. What I am trying to get at is not
to antagonize the procedure, but to see if we can not arrive at
a stage where we will have uniformity of procedure with
reference fo other projects.

Mr. TILSON. In other words, the gentleman is trying to
find out how he may proceed likewise in order to get some
appropriations for his project.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. Because of past experience in this
House and with the subcomunittee,

Mr. BYRNS, Mr. Chairman, 1 want to ask the gentleman
from Michigan [Mr. CramTON] a question. He has already
stated that there are two projects to which his particular atteu-
tion has been called in this bill which were not recommended
by the Budget, but which the subcommittee has placed in the
bill to the contrary notwithstanding, I know of at least one
other.

I would like to ask the gentleman how many of these projects
under the head of reclamation have been put in this bill which
were not recommended by the Budget or the Secretary of the
Interior and did not come here in the orderly and regular way
under the rules of the Budget and under the rule announced,
as I understand it, by the chairman of the Committee on Appro-
priations, the gentleman from Illinois [Mr. MappEX], a rule
which, T will say to the gentleman from Utah, in the sub-
committees on which I serve under the chairman of the com-
mittee [Mr. Mappex] has been strictly adhered to. I was
present when this bill was explained in the full committee and
where I asked the specific question, and I will say to the gentle-
man frankly I understood there was only one project in this
bill that was not recommended duly and regularly by the
Budget. I do not mean it was misrepresented, but the com-
mittee was not informed in my hearing that these matters were
not regularly recommended either by the Budget or that they
did not have the approval of the Reclamation Service.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD, Will the gentleman yleld?

Mr. BYRNS. In just a minute. While I have no knowledge
or information in regard to the merits or demerits of this
proposition, I still insist, gentlemen, that even though the
gentleman from Michigan says he and part of his subcommittee
had the advantage of going out and personally investigating it,
other Members of the House have not had that opportunity,
and certainly the House is entitled to have the recommendation
of the Secretary of the Interior, reinforced by the Director of
Reclamation, competent, patriotic, and conscientions gentle-
men, before we are called upon to pass upon such a proposition.
I agree with the gentleman from Utah that if we are going to
have such a rule, let us not adhere to it in one instance and
then turn around and set it aside in another.

I think we are entitled to some explanation why these propo-
sitions have been put on this bill without a recommendation
from the Budget and in the face of the fact that the Secretary
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of the Interior, has not indorsed them and, as to one of them,
went so far as to say that if the proposition be put in this bill
he wanted it made mandatory; or, in other words, he said:
“ put language in the bill which will not require me to declare
to the President I think it feasible or indorse the proposition in
any way." I have simply taken this occasion, in view of what
the gentleman from Utah has said, to say that, so far as my
observation goes, the gentleman from Illinois [Mr. MADDEN]
has been consistent, He has insisted that all subcommittees
follow that rale, and I am very much surprised at the informa-
tion that has been given here.

Mr. LEATHERWOOD, Will the gentleman yield?

Mr, BYRNS. I will

Mr. LEATHERWOOD. It was that very thing that has been
stated to me, not only in regard to reclamation matters but
other matters—that unless an item was estimated for by the
Budget it was not worth while to offer an amendment—which
prompted me to ask the question.

Ar. BYRNS., I think the gentleman was absolutely justified
in his criticism and in what he had to say, because, I repeat,
if we are going to have a rule it ought to be uniform, and mem-
bers of the committee should be careful that the practice is
uniform and that everyone is treated alike.

Mr. BANKHEAD. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. BYRNS. I will

Ar. BANKHEAD, Possibly it may have some gignificance in
the fact that the gentleman from Idaho [Mr, FRENcH] is a
member of this committee which causes this variation from the
uniform practice in respect to Budget regulations.

Mr. BYRNS. I will not say that, but I do insist that the
subcommittee should follow the rule, which, as I understand,
was followed by the full committee.

Mr, CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, I am greatly surprised at the
gentleman from Tennessee [Mr. Byrns], for whose good opinion
1 have such a great regard, the ranking minority member of
the Committee on Appropriations. I am frank to say I am
hurt as well as disappointed with the gentleman, carrying the
weight that goes with his position as ranking member of the
minority of the Committee on Appropriations, that he should
come into the House and make a statement charging me with
duplicity in handling these matters.

Mr. BYRNS. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. CRAMTON. I decline to yield. The gentleman refused
to yield to me. .

Mr. BYRNS. Well, now——

Mr. CRAMTON, I refuse to yield.

Mr. BYRNS. I did not refuse to yield to the gentleman.

Mr. CRAMTON. The gentleman refused to yield to me even
when he was making a statement susceptible of that con-
struction.

In the Committee on Appropriations both of these items were
presented. The report itself shows that the amount reported
is above the Budget figure. Each item was discussed in the
committee, and 1 made the exact statement in committee that
we had reduced the American Falls item $800,000 and had dis-
tributed that $800,000 as here indicated.

I can not think that the gentleman from Tennessee [Mr.
Byrxs] would intend to unjustly characterize my action in
that way. Now, the facts are that there are before this House
in the bill now before ms certain items with referemce to the
Reclamation Service, three of which are not based on the find-
ings or recommendations of the Budget. The gentleman from
Utah [Mr. LEaraerwoon] speaks of his case in connection with
the Utah item, and which he has sought to have inserted in
the paragraph in reference to some kind of a project that the
committee itself has no information about, a project that has
never been estimated for by the Budget,

Mr. LEATHERWOOD, Mr. Chairman, will the gentleman
yvield there?

Mr. CRAMTON. Not just now; and which the gentleman
himself, when he has presented the amendment, has each time
admitted that it was not intended to expend any money—next
vear, anyway. It was a kind of idle proceeding. That does
not affeet this situation.

Now, as to the action of the committee on the item before ns—
$400,000 for the so-called Gooding project or the gravity ex-
tension unit of the American Falls: The gentleman from Ten-
nessee [Mr. Byrxs] lays down the proposition that the Com-
mittee on Appropriations should never report to this House any
appropriation except one approved by the Budget. If this
House wants to subseribe to that doctrine, very well; but the
Constitution of the United States places the responsibility for
the selection of expenditures of money from the Federal Treas-
ury in this House. True, Congress enacted the Budget sys-
tem, and that system has performed a wonderful work, and no
subcommittee has backed up the Budget more steadfastly than
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has ours. We have never reporfed a bill except one materially

under the Budget figure, and the bill before yon is something

over a million dollars below the Budget figures, and the recla-

mation program is below the Budget figures. It is only in the

clearest case in the judgment of the committee that we depart

i;mflﬂ Jtt,le Budget figures if we add anything that is mot in the
udg

Mr. BYRNS. Mr. Chairman, will the gentleman yield?

Mr., CRAMTON. In a moment. But unless in my judgment
the Congress is to be all a rubber stamp, unless cur commitiees
are just to be a combination of rubber stamps, we owe it to
ourselves to recommend appropriations in harmony with our
judgment after we have made a proper investigation.

Mr. ROMJUBE. Mr. Chairman, will the gentleman yield?

The CHAIRMAN, The time of the gentleman from Michigan
bas expired. !

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, I ask for five minutes
more, and then I will yield to the gentleman from Tennessee,
or to both gentlemen.

The CHAIRMAN, The gentleman from Michigan asks unani-
ntmu;s congent to proceed for five minutes more. Is there objec-
tion

There was no objection.

Mr. CRAMTON. I am not discussing at this moment the
merits of this particular proposition, but I am assailing the
proposition laid down, namely, that we should never recommend
;n l]item, however worthy, unless it has the approval of the

udget.

Mr, ROMJURE. Mr. Chairman, will the gentleman yield?
Mr, CRAMTON,. Yes,
Mr. ROMJUE. Will the gentleman say, if he knows, what

happens to be the attitude of the Interior Department with
reference to this Gooding project?

Mr, CRAMTON. I have no right to quote the department. I
think it is a matter under discussion there as yet

Mr. ROMJUE, Have you not reason to believe the Interior
Department is opposed to the project?

Mr. CRAMTON. My impression is that they are not dis-
tinctly unfavorable (o it. I have not the right, howaver, to
speak for them. ;

Mr, ROMJURE. I understand there are three of these proj-
ects, according to the gentleman's statement, that are in this
bill that are not recommended by the Budget Director this
yeur,

Mr. CRAMTON. Yes; this year.

Mr. ROMJUE., Can the gentleman say how much money is
involved in these three projects, if he happens to remember?

Mr. CRAMTON. The gentleman means in this bill?

Mr., ROMJUE. Yes.

Mr., CRAMTON. In this bill it is twelve hundred and fifty

thousand dollars,

Mr. BLANTON. It is $1,250,000.
mMr.? MURPHY. Mr. Chairman, will the gentleman yield

ere ;

Mr, CRAMTON. Yes,

.llr. MURPHY. If the gentleman will permit me to refresh
his memory with reference to the statement made by the
ranking minority member of this committee, that we never go
above the recommendation of .the Budget, I will guote some-
thing that he will remember. On national prohibition a few
years ago they went above the Budget $73.120.

The committee of which he is a member last year, on rural
sanitation, went $£15,000 above the Budget. This year the
committee of which he is a member is $12,000 above the Budget
on the same ifem and on the Carson City mint item has gone
$6,000 and some hundred dollars above the Budget. The gen-
tleman just made the statement that they always adhere to
the recommendations of the Budget,

Mr., CRAMTON. The gentleman emphasizes what is the
fact. Further the c¢hairman of the Committee on Appropria-
tions bas no lack of confidence in this subcommittee and its
course in such respects has not led to any eriticism from him
is, as has been pointed out, entirely in harmony with the
practice of the committee, of which the gentleman from Ten-
nessee is the ranking minority member.

Mr. HILL of Maryland. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr, CRAMTON. Yes.

Mr. HILL of Maryland. I am not entirely clear about this
discussion. On this Minidoka project the appropriation is

-$1,117,000. I would like to ask the chairman of the subcom-

mittee whether it is his statement to this committee that this
was not at all considered by the Budget in any way?

Mr. CRAMTON. Well, I do not Enow how much attention
the Budget has given it.

Mr. HILL of Maryland. Has the Budget approved any rec-
ommendation as to this whole item?
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Mr. CRAMTON.
the Budget.

Mr, HILL of Maryland. Then all of this $1,117,000, except
the $400,000, was recommended by the Budget?

Mr. CRAMTON. Yes.

Mr, HILL of Maryland. Did the Budget make any recom-
mendation at all on the $400,000%7

Mr. CRAMTON. None at all.

Mr. HILL of Maryland. None adverse or none favorable?

Mr. CRAMTON. No.

Mr. BLANTON. Will the gentleman permit me to ask him
a question?

Mr. CRAMTON. Yes.

Mr, BLANTON. The genfleman deprecates the possibility
of our being rubber stamps. He admits that he has kept this
bill $1,000,000 under the estimates made by the Budget and yet
has put in the bill $1,250,000 that the Budget did not recom-
mend. That would indicate that the gentleman's committee has
not allowed $2,250,000 of the propositions that the Budget rec-
ommended. Now, if the committee can have such latitude of
going against the Budget to the extent of $2,250,000, and his
committee does not want the other 400 Members of Congress to
have any say so about the bill, is he not making rubber stamps
of 400 Congressmen, even though he has kept his 35 out of that
category?

Mr. CRAMTON. Let me say to the gentleman that it is self-
evident that our first obligation under the rules of our com-
mittee has been that we would not go above the’ total recom-
mended by the Budget. Now, in the balancing of expenditures
with revenues the Budget program is not thrown out of joint
as long as we do not in any bill in the total go above the Budget
figures.

The CHAIRMAN, The time of the gentleman from Michigan
has again expired.

Mr. CRAMTON. I will have to ask for three minutes more.

The CHAIRMAN, The gentleman from Michigan asks unani-
mous consent to proceed for three additional minutes. Is there

Oh, well, a great part of it is approved by

objection?
There was no objection.
Mr. CRAMTON. So the committee goes over these items

carefully and exercises its best judgment but always keeping
below the Budget total. As a matter of fact we have made
various increases in the bill. If this House does not approve
any item in the bill that its full committee has approved it
can vote such item out of the bill. That is in the hands of
the House. For instance, under relief of distress and conserva-
tion of health in the Indian Service we went $68,000 above the
Budget figures. We asked the head of the Indian Health
Service to outline to ns what use he would make of an addi-
tional amount and he gave us a program of $68,000 that met
with our favor and knowing that we were making reductions
elsewhere in the bill and knowing we would not disturb the
Budget program we put in that $68,000. Now, unless our rea-
sons appeal to the House, the House wounld vote that increase
out, and unless the items we are now discussing appeal to the
House, the House will strike them from the bill. But the
House should not be guided, any more than we should be
guided, solely by the statement of the Budget. We owe a
responsibility for the proper expenditure of that money, and
we believe that this expenditure of $800,000, $400,000 on the
Boise project and $400,000 on the Minidoka project, is better
as we have recommended than as recommended by the Budget,
and we simply ask you to consider it on its merits.

Mr. HILL of Maryland. Will the gentleman yield for a
question?

Mr. CRAMTON. I yield.

Mr. HILL of Maryland. I am very much interested in the
attitude of mind of the Committee on Appropriations to the
Budget and I am not at all clear on this particular item. I
have here the report of the Committee on this bill which the
gentleman, as chairman of the subcommittee, bas rendered and
on page 18 it says “ Minidoka project, American Falls, Idaho,
appropriation for 1927, nothing; budget estimate for 1928,
nothing.”

Mr. CRAMTON. Let me explain to the gentleman that the
Minidoka has heretofore been carried as one item, but in fact
the operations about American Falls are so important that for
future convenience this year the committee divided the item
into two parts. Then there are certain other changes that
disturb the figures, and without taking the time to go into all
those transfers and changes I simply state the situation when
I say that $400,000 for the gravity extension unit recommended
by the committee was not recommended by the Budget. All
of the rest was recommended.

Mr. HILL of Maryland. That is the only thing I wanted to
understand.
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The CHAIRMAN, The time of the gentleman from Michigan

has aga‘n expired.
Mr. BYRNS. Mr, Chairman, I move to strike out the last
two words.

I do not want to take up the time of the committee but I
do want to disclaim, of course, any intention of accusing the
gentleman from Michigan of duplicity. I would be the last
man in the House to do that, because the gentleman, of
course, would not be guilty of duplicity in this instance or in
any other instance,

The gentleman, as I said, appeared before the full com-
mittee and explained the bill, but I repeat that the gentle-
man neglected to tell the committee, if my memory serves me
correctly, what he has told us here concerning these two
projects. There are other members of the committee on this
floor and they can correct me if I am mistaken; but this is
the first intimation I have had that there was more than one
project under the Reclamation Service which was not recom-
mended in some way by the Bureau of the Budget. I was very
much surprised, therefore, when, in answer to the gentleman
from Utah, the gentleman stated that this proposition was not
recommended, and in a previous colloquy, I think with the gen-
tleman from Alabama [Mr. BAxgHEAD] admitted that another
project was not recommended by the Budget.

I did not say that we should follow the Director of the
Budget and only consider propositions that the Bureau of the
Budget recommends; but I submit to every gentleman in this
House that the distinguished chairman of the Appropriations
Committee, the gentleman from Illinois [Mr. MAppEN |—and 1
wish to take occasion to say here what I have said on many
other occasions, I do not think the Appropriations Committee
ever had an abler, a more consistent, & more earnest, and a
more loyal, economical chairman than the gentleman from
Illinois; but I submit to you gentlemen that the gentleman
from Illinois has repeatedly upon the floor of this House stated
that it was the rule of the committee that the committee would
not insert in appropriation bills propositions which are not
recommended by the Bureau of the Budget in some form or
fashion, or which did not have the approval of the head of
the department.

If we are going to follow this rule, my only contention here
is that we ought to fairly enforce it and we ought not to make
fish of one and fowl of another. We ought to be uniform with
respect to its application, not only in this bill but in all other
bills. The gentleman from Ohio [Mr. MurrrY] has called at-
tention to three different appropriations in which he states the
subcommittee, presided over by the gentleman from Illinois,
went beyond the Budget in some particulars.

I do not understand the rule laid down by the chairman of
the committee to be that the committee will not increase or
decrease an estimate when the Bureau of the Budget has said
it is a feasible proposition and ought to be adopted in some
way. It is left with the committee as to whether we shall
grant more money or less money; and I say to the gentleman
from Ohio that according to my recollection the bill just
passed, the Treasury and Post Office bill, contained no propo-
sition whatever which had not in some way or in some form
been recommended either by the Bureau of the Budget or the
head of the service,

Now, take this proposition—I am not controverting the posi-
tion of the gentleman from Michigan for a moment. These
propositions may be meritoricus, and I am prepared to say that
the judgment of the five gentlemen who compose this subcom-
mittee and who have given the matter their attention and
their thought are entitled to the fullest consideration; but,
my friends, I am not willing to say that they are right and
that the Director of Reclamation and the Secretary of the
Interior are wrong. I do not know and you do not know. We
have men down there at the head of this department who make
a study of these things, I do not think we ever had a8 more
competent Director of Heclamation than the present director,
Doctor Mead ; and I say that so far as I am concerned in these
matters, which are complicated and which I do not understand,
I would prefer, infinitely prefer, before I vote $1,250,000, and
what will ultimately amount in one project to $6,000,000 out
of the reclamation fund, to know that the Director of Reclama-
tion approves it. 3

This is the position I take, and I want to again express my
surprise that this bill confains projects which in no sense
have been recommended, and on the contrary some of them
have been absolutely opposed by the Secretary of the Interior.

Mr. HILL of Maryland. Mr. Chairman, I move to strike out
the last three words, I do this, Mr. Chairman, for the purpose
of asking a question of the gentleman who just spoke if he
will permit, I am trying to get clear, in my own mind, the
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relation between the recommendations made by the depart-
ments and the Budget and the Appropriation Committee. As
1 understand from the gentleman, this particular item of
$400,000 was never considered by the department and never
recommended to the Budget; is that correct?

Mr. BYRNS. I do not know. I have absolutely no infor-
mation about that. I am not on the subcommiftee and was
not present therefore at the hearings. As I have said, this is
the first time I have known about it. I do not kmow ywhat
recommendation the Secretary of the Interior made. The
gentleman from Michigan [Mr. CramTON] can inform the
gentleman.

Mr. HILL of Maryland. May I ask the gentleman whether
the Committee on Appropriations is supposed to consider any-
thing that is not recommended to it by the Budget?

Mr. BYRNS. Oh, that, of course, rests with the committee;
but, as I have said, the gentleman from Illinois has laid down
the policy that the committee will not report to the House
propositions which are not in some way recommended by the
Budget—not exactly as it recommends them, possibly, but propo-
gitions which the Bureau of the Budget or the President, who
really sends the estimates here, has not said are needed ; that is,
that the money is needed and the work ought to be done.

This is the policy the gentleman has laid down, and I thought
it was being adhered to; and certainly, let me say to the gen-
tleman from Maryland, in every report that is made, and the
gentleman from Ohio just read from the report on the Treas-
ury and Post Office bill, it appears on the face of the report
that the subcommittee has exceeded the Budget. But I fail
to find in this report any statement to the effect that these
particular appropriations are not recommended by the Budget.

Mr. HILL of Maryland. I would like to ask the gentleman
one further question about that. I am very much interested,
for instance, in the matter of Army housing. The War Depart-
ment made a recommendation to the Budget of a certain allo-
cation of the funds in the permanent military post construction
fund which Congress set apart, making certain allocations for
certain Army posts.

The Budget rearranged the whole thing and sent it to the
Appropriations Committee. I would like to ask the gentleman
if it is the policy of the Appropriations Committee to make any
changes they wish in the matter as submitted?

Afr. BYRNS. The gentleman understands I can speak only
for myself. I am not the chairman, and I am not a member
of the majority. Under these circumstances I would not under-
take to tell the gentleman what the policy of the committee is.
I leave that to others. i

Mr. HILL of Maryland, I will ask the chairman of the sub-
committee if there is a general rule that they will not reallo-
cate an item in the Budget?

Mr. CRAMTON. I am glad to answer the gentleman’s ques-
tion. I have served six years as chairman of the subcommittee.
I yield to no one on that committee in my admiration for the
gentleman from Illinois [Mr. MappEN]. No man has tried more
zealously to support him and his work on that committee. I
will say that the rule has never been laid down as the gentle-
man from Tennessee suggests, The only rule suggested by the
gentleman from Illinois is that the total shall not be above the
Budget total, Of course, there is another rule that we shall not
indulge in legislation, but that is not pertinent to this. We
have reported for several years and done exactly what we have
done here. The gentleman from Tennessee joined in the report
on the last Treasury and Post Office bill that violated the rule
that he lays down with relation to Carson City (Nev.) Mint.
There was not a penny in the Budget recommended for that.

Mr. BYRNS. The Director of the Mint came before the com-
mittee and asked that Carson City be included in the appropria-
tion bill, and the committee yielded to the request of the
Director of the Mint, but in no instance has the committee on
the Treasury and Post Office bill refused to abide either by the
Budget or the head of the department.

AMr. CRAMTON. Ob, the gentleman is now putting in some-
thing else.

Mr. BYRNS., We acceded to the request of the Director of
the Mint.

Mr. CRAMTON. The Recoro will show that the gentleman
from Tennessee said that in no instance had he approved any-
thing unless there was something in the Budget, and there was
pothing in the Budget with reference to the Carson City Mint.

Mr. BYRNS. It is shown in the report of the subcommittee
that this report submitted by the gentleman from Michigan does
not show the items that were not recommended by the Budget.

Mr. OCRAMTON, The report shows—

Mr. BYRNS. I hope that gentlemen will take it and see if
they ean elicit any information as to the effect that it is not
recommended.
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Mr. HILL of Maryland. Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask

the gentleman from Michigan one question. I have entire con-
fidence in the chairman of the subcommittee [Mr. CrauTON],
the gentleman from Michigan, but I am trying to get informa-
tion as to the point of view of the Appropriations Committee.
As I understand the Appropriations Committee has no fixed
rule which does not permit the inerease of an appropriation
above that set out by the Budget; nor has it a fixed rule which
prevents a new ifem being inserted in the bill not based upon
the IBudget, provided the total does not exceed the Budget
total, .
Mr. CRAMTON. The policy of the committee, as T under-
stand it, is that the total shall not exceed the Budget total.
They may increase an item in the Budget, or they may insert
one that is not in the Budget. Since I am on my feet 1 will
say to the gentleman in response to what he has said that we
have been faithfully following the instructions of the chairman ;
that, with reference to one item inserted by us that was not in
the Budget I consulted the chairman of the full committee, and
our handling of that subject has had his express approval.

Mr, HILL of Maryland. I thank the gentleman; we are both
interested in the subject of water, [Laughter.]

The Clerk read as follows:

Milk River project, Mont.: For operation and maintenance, $36,800;
continuation of construction, $15,000; in all $51,800,

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Chairman, I move that the committee
do now rise.

The motion was agreed to.

Accordingly the committee rose; and the Speaker having
resumed the chair, Mr. MicEENER, Chairman of the Committee
of the Whole House on the state of the Union, reported that
that committee had had under consideration the bill (H. R.
14827) making appropriations for the Department of the In-
terior for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1928, and for other
purposes, and had come to no resolution thereon.

PANAMA CANAL ZONE

Mr. PARKER. Mr. Speaker, I ask unanimous consent to
take from the Speaker’s table the bill (H. R. 12316) to amend
the Panama Canal act and other laws applicable fo the Canal
Zone, and for other purposes, with Senate amendments thereto,
disagree to the Senate amendments, and ask for a conference.

The SPEARKER. The gentleman from New York asks nnani-
mous consent to take from the Speaker's table the bill I. R.
12316, with Senate amendments thereto, disagree to the Senate
amendments and ask for a conference. Is there objection?

Mr. BANKHEAD. Mr. Speaker, reserving the right to ob-
jeet, is this agreeable to the minority of the committee?

Mr. PARKER. Yes.

The SPEAKER. Is there objection? The Chair hears none.

The SPEAKER appointed the following conferees: Mr.
PARKER, Mr, DEx1soN, and Mr., BARKLEY,

INTERIOR DEPARTMENT APPROPRIATION BILL

Mr. FRENCH. Mr. Speaker, I ask unanimous consent to
extend my remarks in the REcomp.

The SPEAKER. Is there objection?

There was no objection.

Mr. FRENCH. Mr, Speaker, the Interior Department appro-
priation bill as it came to Congress from the Bureau of the
Budget carried for new construction $1,500,000 for power de-
velopment at American Falls. The Commiftee on Appropria-
tions came to the conclusion that an amount of money equal
to this amount carried in the bill could be allocated to projects
in Idaho in a manner that would serve in far better degree
the purposes of reclamation within the next several years and
accordingly the committee reported the bill which is before yon
carrying $700,000 for the American Falls power development
program, $400,000 for the Minidoka Gravity' Extension Unit,
and $400,000 for the Payette Unit (Black Canyon) of the Boise
project for the coming fiscal year.

The advisability of the action of the committee has been
questioned by some Members of Congress, and it is only fair
toward them and toward the committee that I make available
a statement touching the factors that entered into the con-
sideration of the subject. It often happens that the depart-
ment is required to choose between objects when a limited
amount of money is available for expenditure, and the Con-
gress from time to time must do the same.

The American Falls Reservoir has been constructed at a cost
of more than $4,000,000 (by the end of the present fiscal year),
and more than $3,000,000 of further expenditure will need to
be made in connection with power development.

It must be the desire of the Government to find land to
receive the unallotted waters from this great reservoir, for
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it is inconceivable that these waters should run to waste. Like-
wise it is inconceivable that we shall not develop water power,
THE ALTERNATE PROGRAMS

The program recommended by the Bureau of the Budget and
supported by the Interior Department through Doctor Mead,
the Commissioner of Reclamation, provides for the allocation
of $1.500,000 to the construction of a power plant at the Amer-
ican Falls Dam in 1928, It is proposed that the foundation for
a four-unit power plant and one of the units be completed.
This part of the program, which is all that up to the present
has been approved by the Bureau of the Budget, consti:
tutes the first year in the 10-year tentative reclamation program
for future work of the Department of the Interior.

The 10-year program calls for an expenditure of more than
$6.000,000 in addition to the amount recommended for the
coming fiscal year for American Falls power development and
for construction of the north side pumping unit of the Minidoka

roject. .
; Consider another factor: The Minidoka extension unit em-
braces a tract of land for which storage water is sought from
the American Falls Reservoir for 83,164 acres. Of this amount,
an inadequate water supply from the Magic Reservoir for part
of the lands is available. The additional lands have no im-
mediate water supply; and while ultimately it is the desire
that these lands receive water from the American Falls Reser-
voir, the program that is presented to the Congress by the
Appropriations Committee in lieu of the department program
calls for the beginning of construction of a large diversion
canal and laterals to supply supplemental water to 46,664 acres,

The lands are adjacent to lands of the Minidoka project, and
there is an unallotted surplus of water in the American Falls
Reservoir amounting to 343,000 acre-feet, :

We then face the problem of the order in which work shall
proceed, namely: Shall further early expenditure be made for
the development of power in connection with pumping units, or
shall further early expenditure be made in connection with the
use of surplus water that with the completion of the American
Falls Dam in 1927 will be available?

Doctor Mead, on page 166 of the hearings,
1926, advised the subcommittee of the Committ
tions as follows:

The American Falls Dam is being constructed for the United States
under contract of the Utah Construction Co. to develop a reservoir
of 1,700,000 acre-feet of storage. This dam will be completed by June
80, 1927. Its construction is being done on a cooperative basis with
irrigation districts and canal companies whose lands aggregate 700,000
acres in the Spake River Valley. These districts and canal companies
have contributed $4,335,775 toward the construction of the reservoir,
The capacity of the reservoir is allotted at present as follows:

n November 23,
on Appropria-

Acre-feet
Minidoka north side pumping division 522, 000
Irrigation districts, ete_____ 790, 000
Idabo Power Co., power rights 45, 000
Unallotted 343, 000

Future operations.—Of the storage in American Falls Reservoir 522,
000 acre-feet are allotted to the development of the Minidoka north
gide pumping division for the development of 115,000 acres of land
lying north and above the gravity division of the Minidoka project.
If the United States is to build the necessary works for the irrigation
of these lands, additional power will be needed and an appropriation is
requested for power development at American Falls Dam:

{a) To provide a reserve power supply for the Minidoka project.

{b) Provide power for the increase in the capacity of the south side
pumping plants, which is contemplated in the contract with the Burley
frrigation distriet.

(¢} Permit saving part of the water which is now required for de-
velopment of winter power at Minidoka Dam.

(d) If the surplus power can be disposed of to the Utah Power &
Light Co., as seems probable, the profits could be applied on the con-
gtruction cost of the plant. In this way part of the investment in
power development at American Falls would be Ilijuidated by the
time the Minidoka north side extension project requires the power for
pumping.

(e) Provide power for construction of either the Gooding or the Mini-
doka north side extension project.

The Minidoka north =side extension project will when completed
require practically all of the power which the Government is permitted
to develop under its contract with the Idaho Power Co. There are at
present 543,000 acre-feet of unsold and unallotted storage in the
American Falls Reservoir. Application for water has been made by
farmers in the vicinity of Wood River. Approximately 46,664 acres
require a partial water supply and 86,500 acres require a full water
supply. Engineering and economic reconnaissance surveys of the project
are being made,
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From examining the foregoing it is clearly apparent that
two alternate programs are in the minds of the officers of the
Reclamation Service, namely: (1) The construction of the
Minidoka north-side pumping unit; or (2) the development of
the Minidoka extension unit, which has been referred to as
the Gooding unit, This latter I shall refer to a little later on.

ALTERNATE PROGRAM NO. 1

Consider, first, the development of the Minidoka north-side
pumping unit. This division includes 115,000 acres of land lying
north and above the gravity division of the Minidoka project.
Accurate costs for pumping and for the reclamation of these
lands are not now available. The department has allocated
522,000 acre-feet for these lands over and above the unallotted
343,000 acre-feet within the reservoir,

Unquestionably as desirable as it will ultimately be to de-
velop this pumping unit, the members of your Subcommittee
on Appropriations were impressed with the higher costs for
reclamation of these lands than will be the costs in following
the program for reclamation of lands recommended by your
committee, Yet in the 10-year program tenfatively suggested
by the Interior Department the ineclination of the department
is for the pumping unit instead of the gravity unit. More than
that, this is new land, public land, this area of 115,000 acres.
The members of your committee know full well that at this
time this House does not desire to appropriate money for the
reclamation of new land unless these lands have been acquired
by settlers through the encouragement of the Government in
contemplation of reclamation,

ALTERNATE PROGERAM NO, 2

The possible program No. 2 refers to the Minidoka Gravity
Extension Unit, the commencement of which is recommended by
your committee. This means the allocation to this unit of
$400.000 instead of including a like amount in further develop-
ment of the pumping system and power plant at the American
Falls Dam. This extension unit, as I said a bit ago, is not
recommended at this time by the Bureau of the Budget or by
the Interior Department. But you must not understand by
that that your committee and the Interior Department have no
information on the subject.

This is the unit referred to by Doctor Mead, a quotation from
him I cited a few moments ago. This is the unit to which he
refers in item (e) in his statement. This is the unit to which
he referred when he stated:

Approximately 46,664 acres require a partial water supply and 56,500
acres require a full water supply. HEngineering and economic recon-
naissance surveys of the project are being nrade,

Not only that, but already partially under appropriations
made by the Congress, examination has been had of the unit,
and reports have been made to the Reclamation Service by
the reclamation engineers under date of November 25, 1925,
and signed by Homer J. Gault, engineer, United States Bureau
of Reclamation, and by T. H. Morrell and R. B. Greenwood, the
latter making a preliminary report on the economic and agricul-
tural phases of the proposition.

While it is frue the economic report is not final, the conclud-
ing paragraph by Morrell and Greenwood says:

It is our opinion that farming operations on the proposed Gooding
project would meet with success except In the roughest area. The
soil and climate are good, and with plenty of water there is nothing,
from an agricultural or economic point of view, that would cause
failure.

Then, with even the preliminary report so favorable and
with the well-known and favorable economie conditions attach-
ing to these lands that attach to other irrigated lands in the
immediate section, the situation looks favorable for the unit
providing the engineering features and costs per acre of supply-
ing water are reasonable.

I can take time to include only the essential features of
Engineer Gault's report. In the Gault report to the Reclama-
tion Service the engineer points out that “about 46,640 acres
have a partial water supply from Big Wood and Little Wood
Rivers, but the present supply is insufficient for successful
farming every year.” The report then refers to some 36,500
acres of new land, which we do not need to consider specifically
at this time other than to see what the acre costs will be for
these lands. The report indicates that for the lands that are in
need of supplemental water the costs per acre will be $34.27, and
that for the new lands the costs will be, for 30,724 acres, $85.16
per acre, and for 5,776 acres $77.19 per acre.

The total costs over a period of years for old lands and
new lands is estimated at §5,963,207, but, as I said, within the
present program we are not providing moneys for the new
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lands, The main canal that will need to be built and that will
serve the lands that are partially reclaimed and later on the
new lands the engineer estimates will cost $3,052,159.

Probably I should say that the estimated costs per acre that
1 have referred to include moneys that will need to be paid
by the settlers for their share in the use of the Milner and the
American Falls Dams, which have already been constructed or
for which appropriations have been made.

Another feature that could not be avoided in considering the
question was the present indebtedness of those who have lands
under the extension unit for which they require supplemental
water. I do not refer to municipal indebtedness for schools,
highways, and so forth; I refer merely to the indebfedness of
the irrigation district.

On the unit that receives water from the Big Wood Canal Co.
the bonded indebtedness is $163,500, or $2.16 per acre of irri-
gable land. On this unit that is receiving partial water supply
there are 1,027 stockholders plus 97 farms with decreed water
rights, or a total number of owners of 1,124. The number of
record owners of real estate in the distriet is 1,819. The
average amount of land owned by each owner is approximately
756 acres, and approximately 85 per cent of the cultivated land
of the district is owned by persons residing within the district.
Within the district, including the residents of towns, is a popu-
Jation of 9,000 people.

Now, just a word as to why the people on this tract need
supplemental water and why the supplemental water should
be furnished from the American Falls Reservoir. The Magic
Reservoir that supplies the water that is now used in recla-
mation was completed some 15 years ago by a Carey Act com-
pany known as the Idaho Irrigation Co.

This reservoir has a capacity of 192,000 acre-feet and cer-
tain decreed rights to waters of Big and Little Wood Rivers.
The country where the lands are located is in an arid belt,
and the experience during the last 15 years has demonstrated
that the rainfall is not sufficient to insure an adequate water
supply. Between 1911 and 1928, inclusive, there have been but
geven years when the reservoir has been filled to capacity;
there have been three years when the accumulated storage
wis less than one-half, and four other years when the storage
was approximately three-fourths of what it should have been.

But farmers can not succeed when interspersed with success-
ful years are the uncertain years of water shortage., Because
of this we must obtain supplemental water. There is no avail-
able supplemental water source from which water can be ob-
tained at a reasonable cost other than the American Falls
Reservoir. This reservoir was built for the purpose of con-
serving waters for reclamation. Three hundred and forty-
three thousand acre-feet remain unallotted, exclusive of 522,000
acre-feet allotted to a pumping unit for new lands that at best
can not be reclaimed short of several years, unless the pumping
unit be preferred over the gravity extension unit.

So, then, the Committee on Appropriations was called upon
to choose in the allocation of $1,500,000 recommended by the
Interior Department and the Bureau of the Budget. These two
agencies of our Government recommended that the entire
amount be expended in the development of a power plant at
the American Falls Dam. Your committee believes that a dif-
ferent allocation will meet the situation far better. Your com-
mittee recommends $700,000 for continuation of construction
work on the power plant at American Falls Dam for 1928, the
postponement of the tentative allocation of more than $6,000,000
that the Secretary of the Interior in carrying out a 10-year
program proposes be expended within the next 10 years for
power development and for construction of the Minidoka pump-
ing unit, and in lieu of the department program the committee
recommends $400,000 for the commencement of the main canal
for the Minidoka extension gravity unit.

To sum up, the committee’'s program rejects immediate recla-
mation of new lands that are unsettled in harmony with the
overwhelming sentiment of the Congress at this time. The com-
mittee's program provides supplemental water for lands that
are now being inadequately served. The committee's program
provides for reclaiming land under a gravity system where the
supplemental water will cost approximately $35 per acre and
where the water for new lands will cost approximately from
$77 to $86 per acre against the department's recommendation
leading to a project within the 10-year program where under
the pumping system the acre cost will be probably not less than
‘twice that ameunt and where the annual cost of maintenance
will forever be vastly higher than the average cost of mainte-
nance per acre upon the gravity unit lands. More than that,
. the committee has not sought to be arbitrary in imposing a
.program upon the department that may not be feasible, and
while unquestionably the program is feasible, nevertheless the
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language carrying the appropriation provides that it shall be
available not for construction alone but for investigation and
construction. _

THE PAYETTE DIVISION (BLACK CANYON UNIT)

Now, consider for a moment the Payette division of the
Boise project. On yesterday there was some uncertainty as to
whether or not this was not a new project because the name
Payette division attached to it for the first time. I explained
then that the name was one that appears in the bill for the
first time, but has reference to the Black Canyon unit, which
name was used last year and which name has been used in
committee hearings for a number of years.

The Payette unit is not recommended in Budget estimates
for 1928, and here, again, your committee, upon the basis of
all the facts before it, felt that $400,000 had better be expended
toward continuation of construction under this unit rather than
for continuation of more extensive construction work in con-
nection with the American Falls power-development program,
which the department had recommended,

The Payette unit is not a new proposition. Some 20 years
ago the lands within this unit were included within the Boise
project. They were thrown open to settlement, and for the
most part were acquired under the homestead laws. Many,
and possibly most of the owners of the land, are within the
immediate section of the country where the lands are located,
though after undergoing failures through attempting to dry
farm the lands they have realized that farming can be sue-
cessfully carried on only through irrigation. Twenty years
ago, and after the lands were entered upon by homesteaders,
it was found that the water supply from the Boise River was
not adequate for their reclamation. Even so, a tremendous
moral obligation had been placed upon the Government through
its having permitted the lands to be acquired by homesteaders
with the prospective reclamation program within the then ap-
parently near future. Some five years ago, recognizing this ob-
ligation and availing itself of an opportunity to join with a
Carey Act project, whose lands were in high state of cultivation,
but which project found itself compelled to renew its water
storage, the Government undertook the construction of the Black
Canyon Dam. ™7This program was the subject of intensive study
by the Reclamation Service five years ago.

Based upon this program, estimates came to the Congress
from the Bureaun of the Budget for moneys for the building
of the Black Canyon Dam. For this purpose you have appro-
priated more than two millions of dollars in items of approxi-
mately one-half million each. The last considerable expenditure
was for the development of electric power to be used in pump-
ing water ultimately upon part of the Black Canyon lands,
thongh immediately the opportunity presented itself of utiliz-
ing the water power for lands that within a few years will
be under the Owyhee project which has been approved by the
Congress.

This unit has been the subject of close examination by
engineers of the Reclamation Service. It embraces an irrigable
area of from 47,669 acres to 63,000 acres, the difference in
the figures depending upon the final determination of whether
some of the lands are too rolling to be sunecessfully irrigated
at this time.

At the highest cost per acre for the reclamation of these
lands which has been estimated, the cost is $155.86, or in
other words, less than the acre cost on project lands approved
for reclamation in the Owyhee project across the line in
Oregon and within the same immediate section of country,
involving similar soil, similar climate, and similar conditions
generally.

The program of reclamation will include the construction of
storage reservoir, diversion canals, and possibly additional
power development. If there can be any justification for
the Government having expended more than $2,000,000 under
a program recommended by the department and the Bureau of
the Budget during the last five years in the construction of
the Black Canyon Dam, we can not fail to justify appropria-
tion for the continuation of the program that your committee
has recommended. The only guestion is: Shall we continue
with the program now, apply $400,000 to an unexpended bal-
ance of more than $100,000 from last year, a total of slightly
more than $500,000 during the next fiscal year, or shall we
stop on this project and permit $400,000 to be expended for
continued power development at American Falls?

Again your committee was compelled to choose. I believe
that not only the equities in the case touching those who were
permitted to homestead the Black Canyon lands demand that
their claims be recognized first, but that this policy is more
nearly in line with the sentiment of the House touching lands
that have been acquired under the homestead laws with the
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understanding that they were to be reclaimed within the near
future. Furthermore, I have not the slightest doubt that the
unit cost for the construction program per acre and the main-
tenance cost will both be less than the construction cost and
maintenance cost upon the lands that will come under the
Minidoka pumping unit to which I have referred.

ISSUANCE OF PATENTS TO THOSE WHO SERVED IN WORLD WAR

The SPEAKER. The Chair lays before the House the fol-
lowing message from the Senate.
The Clerk read as follows:

Senate Resolution 293

I¥ THE SENATE 0¥ THE UXITED STATES,
December 13, 1928,
Resolved, That the Secretary of the Senate be, and he is hereby,
directed to return to the House of Representatives the enrolled bill
(8. 4480) providing for the extension of the time limitations under
which patents were issued in the case of persons who served in the
armed forces of the United States during the World War, together
with the engrossed bill, with the request that the Speaker of the
House be authorized to rescind his action in signing the enrolled
bill; that in the event such authority is granted, the House be, and
it is hereby, respectfully requested to Teconsider its vote on the
passage of the bill and return the engrossed bill to the Senate.

Mr. VESTAL, Mr, Speaker, I ask that the resolution be
taken from the Speaker’s table and be considered immediately.

The SPEAKHR. The gentleman from Indiana asks unani-
mous consent to take the resolution which has just been re-
ported from the Clerk’s desk from the Speaker's table and that
it be considered immediately. Is there objection?

Mr. JACOBSTEIN. Mr. Speaker, I object.

Mr, VESTAL. Mr. Speaker, I present the following order
which I send to the desk.

Mr. GARNER of Texas. Mr. Speaker, let me ask the gentle-
man from Indiana a question. Has the minority member of
this committee been consulted?

Mr. VESTAL. The ranking member, Mr. Laxsaym, I have
consulted, and this action is satisfactory to him.

Mr. GARRETT of Tennessee. Is the gentleman asking
unanimous consent for the consideration of this order, or is he
presenting it as a matter of privilege?

Mr. VESTAL. I am offering the following order.

Mr. GARRETT of Tennessee. Is it being offered as a privi-
leged matter?

The SPEAKER. It is a question of unanimous consent.

Mr. GARRETT of Tennessee. Let it be reported.

The SPEAKER. The Clerk will report the order.

The Clerk read as follows:

Ordered, That the Speaker be, and he hereby is, empowered and di-
rected to strike his signature from the enrolled bill 8. 4480, that the
proceedings whereby said bill was passed be, and the same are hereby,
vacated, and the engrossed bill be returned to the Senate, in accordance
with the request of the Senate.

The SPEAKER. Is there objection to the present considera-
tion of the order?

Mr. GARRETT of Tennessee. Mr. Speaker, reserving the
right to object, which I do not suppose I shall do, because I do
not know the reasons, I do not recall a request ever having
come to the House just like this from the Senate. Of course,
where a matter of legislation has not been completed and the
Senate requests a return, we always do that as a matter of
form and of courtesy. In this instance, however, the legislation
seems to have been completed, even to the extent of the sig-
nature of the Speaker to the engrossed bill. I think perhaps
it would be well for the gentleman from Indiana, under the
reservation of the right to object, to explain to us just why this
return is desired.

Mr, VESTAL. Mr. Speaker, the bill was passed by the Sen-
ate and passed by the House, but was not signed by either the
Speaker or the President of the Senate and never has been
signed by the President of the Senate. The Speaker of the
House did sign the bill some few days ago. This is a Senate
bill which was passed by the Senate and then passed by the
House. Upon close investigation of the bill it seems as though
the provisions of the bill are entirely too broad; that they are
s0 broad that it might let in a lot of legislation that wounld not
be proper legislation, and it was for that reason that the Sen-
ag-.i committee held hearings and decided upon this course of
action. -

Mr. GARRETT of Tennessee Has the House committee as
a4 committee considered it? -

Mr. VESTAL. The House committee as a committee has not
considered the bill—that is, since this session opened.
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Mr. GARRETT of Tennessee. Of course, Mr. Speaker, I rec-
ognize that there is a certain eourtesy which must prevail
between the two bodies in requests for return of uncompleted
legislation, and always and without question as a rule it is
responded to. This is quite unnspal, it seems to me. I have
never known of a piece of leglslaﬁon advanced to this stage
where such a request was made. I know nothing of the merits,
but it seems to me this is a matter of legislation passed upon
by both bodies. If it is because some one has merely changed
his mind——

Mr. VESTAL. I will say to the gentleman from Tennessee
the matter was not thoroughly considered by the Committee on
Patents before the bill was passed. It was hurried legislation.
It came over from the Senate and was really not given the
consideration which ought to have been given. I want to be
truthful about it, and after examining the bill I am sure the
gentleman would say that this is legislation that ought not to
be completed and passed.

Mr. GARRETT of Tennessee., The gentleman says the Com-
mittee on Patents, as a committee, has not considered this re-
quest, and the gentleman has conferred with the ranking
minority member,

Mr. VESTAL. Yes.

Mr. GARNER of Texas. In view of the statement the gen-
tleman has made, it does seem to me that the Committee on
Patents ought to give this consideration. The statement has
been made that they have never given that consideration, and
in view of that fact it does seem to me this committee ought to
have the opportunity at some time to view this piece of
legislation and pass on it.

Mr. VESTAL. I do not mean to say the Committee on Pat-
ents did not give it some consideration. We did have a hearing,
and I think the majority of the members of the committee were
present at that time, but the hearing was a very short hearing,
and it was right at the last days of the session when the
matter came over here and was passed upon hurriedly.

Mr. CHINDBLOM. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. VESTAL. 1 will

Mr. CHINDBLOM. The bill originates in the Senate?

Mr, VESTAL. Yes, The bill has not been signed by the
President or by the President of the Senate,

Mr. JACOBSTEIN. Will the gentleman yleld. I happen to
be interested in the bill.

Mr, VESTAL. Yes.

Mr. JACOBSTEIN. What will be the effect of the adoption
of this resolution now?

Mr. VESTAL. It would be to withdraw the bill from both
Houses.

Mr. JACOBSTEIN. It is the intention of the committee,
then, to proceed on the merits?

Mr. VESTAL. And have the bill come before the committee
again for further hearing.

Mr. GARNER of Texas. If I understand the situation of
this legislation, if this order iz passed the bill goes back to the
Senate. It then goes back to the Senate committee just like
it was, de novo, and begun all over again. The Senate com-
mittee will consider the bill and if the Senate passes the bill
and sends it over here, it will be considered all over again.
The House will have no further jurisdiction if this order is
passed.

Mr, BLANTON. Mr. Speaker, reserving the right to objeet,
this order which the gentleman proposes authorizes and directs
the Speaker to do so-and-so. I wanted to Suggest to the gentle-
man that that would be a bad precedent to establish; that this
should be done after the Speaker is authorized and empowered
to sign the bill, because the Speaker has signed this bill, an
engrossed copy. I do not think this House should ever estab-
lish a precedent to compel the Speaker to recall a signature to
a bill unless it is done with the approval of the Speaker. Of
course, it may meet with the approval of this Speaker in this
instance, but that is a bad precedent.

Mr. JACOBSTEIN. Mr. Speaker, will the gentleman permit
me to ask him a question?

Mr. BLANTON. Yes.

Mr. JACOBSTEIN. As I understand it, this bill confers
upon ex-service men a certain privilege with regard to the use
of patents which otherwise they would not enjoy. What is it
that has been discovered that is wrong in this bill?

Mr. VESTAL. There are no safegnards around certain pro-
visions. ~ It might open up-an extension of patents to 50,000
men, and ‘it makes 'a class that ought not to be given 'this spe-
cial privilege without some safeguards s€urrounding it. :

‘Mr. JACOBSTEIN. ‘But it has reference to ex-service men
who lost the right to the enjoyment of that patent while in the
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Mr., VESTAL. The bill is all right if it had been more care-
fully drawn; but I am sure it ought not to pass in its present
ghape. I do not think any Member of this House would be in
favor of passing this bill without proper safeguards.

Mr. BANKHEAD. Mr. Speaker, will the gentleman yield?

Mr. VESTAL. Yes

Mr. BANKHEAD. It is asserted now by the gentleman that
this is a very unwise bill in that it allows the gate to be thrown
open to certain unfair advantages. Was it the Senate com-
mittee or the Senate or the House committee or the gentleman
who discovered this defect? If it was not, who did?

Mr. VESTAL. It was discovered when it was too late,

Mr, GARNER of Texas. Who discovered it?

Mr, VESTAL. I am one of those who discovered it.

Mr. BLANTON. The purpose of this bill is to protect ex-
service men in their rights?

Mr, VESTAL. Giving them advantage over others.

Mr. BLANTON, The gentleman is in favor of doing that?

Mr, VESTAL. Absolutely to an extent; but I do not think
the gates ought to be thrown open to the extent that this bill
throws them open,

Mr. BLANTON. The gentleman knows that if the Speaker
withdraws his signature and the bill goes back to the Senate,
as if it had never been passed, it will never pass, will it?

Mr. VESTAL. 1 would not say that.

Mr. BLANTON. But if obhjection is made here now this bill
will go before the gentleman’s committee for consideration or
will it go to the President?

Mr. VESTAL. I think it will.

Mr. BLANTON. I am going to object and let it go to the
President.

Mr. TILSON. I do not think the gentleman would be justified
in saying this bill would go to the President withont the signa-
ture of the President of the Senate. It must have the signa-
ture of the President of the Senate. =

Mr. BLANTON. Can the President of the Senate refuse to
put his signatare to it when it has passed both Houses and
has been engrossed and has the Speaker's signature to it? Let
it go to the President and let him assume the responsibility
for this bill which the Committee on Patents has not considered.

Mr. JACOBSTEIN. Will the gentleman permit another ques-
tion? Would it not be easier later to amend this same bill than
it would be for the ex-service men to get the thing through?

Mr. BLANTON. I object.

The SPEAKER. Objection is heard.

ALIEN PROPERTY

Mr. TILSON. Mr. Speaker, I ask unanimous consent that on
Thursday, immediately after the reading of the Journal, it shall
be in order to consider under the general rules of the House
the bill H. R. 15009, being a settlement under the war claims
act of 1917, generally known as the alien property bill.

The SPEAKER. The gentleman from Connecticut asks
unanimous consent that on Thursday, immediately after the
reading of the Journal, it shall be in ordey to consider under
the general rules of the House the bill H. R. 15009. Is there
ohjection?

Mr. FISH. I reserve the right to object.

Mr. GARRETT of Tennessee. Mr. Speaker, reserving the
right to object, I would like to ask the gentleman from Iowa
| Mr. Greex] just what the status of the bill is now?

Mr. GREEN of Iowa. The report is not yet in. A unani-
mons report of the committee will be presented to-morrow.

Mr. GARRETT of Tennessee. 1 understood it was unaui-
mons. The purpose of my question to the gentleman from Iowa
is that notice may be had by Members, so that they can get hold
of the bill and the report upon it as soon as possible.

1 myself suggested to the gentleman from Connecticut the
possibility of securing consideration by unanimous consent.
To-day I have talked with some Members about it, and there
seems to be no disposition to object, provided they can have
long enough before the time for its consideration to make a
study of the bill, and if it will be reported to-morrow, then that
would make it available Wednesday morning.

Mr. GREEN of Iowa. There will -be copies of the bill to-
morrow and the report will be ready Wednesday morning.

Mr. GARRETT of Tennessee. Will the report be very long?

Mr. GREEN of Iowa. Of necessity it will be rather long;
yes.

Mr. GARRETT of Tennessee. This is, of course, a pretty
technical proposition and Members want time to study it. I
assume that Thursday will give sufficient time, however, and I
shadll not object.

. Mr. TILSON, If the gentleman from Tennessee will permit,
that is really the purpose of asking this unanimous consent
now, in order that the membership of the House may be ad-
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vised as to just when this bill will be considered and also fo
set the time far enough away so we may be quite sure that
the report will be printed and available for the use of the
Members of the House. What I am asking is only what would
be granted by the Committee on Rules, probably without ques-
tion, upon a unanimous report from the Committee on Ways
and Means.

Mr. BANKHEAD. I would like to ask a question. Has there
been any tentative agreement between the chairman of the
Ways and Means Committee and the ranking member on our
side as to the time for debate and consideration of the bill?

Mr. GREEN of Iowa. I have taken up that subject, I will
say to the gentleman, and have tentatively agreed, but not abso-
lutely. I do not think there will be any trouble about that.

Mr. GARNER of Texas. I will say to the gentleman from
Alabama that I have talked about the matter with the geuntle-
man from Mississippi [Mr. CoLuier]. I do not expect to be
here during the consideration of this bill. T have talked with
the gentleman from Mississippi [Mr. Corvier] and with the
gentleman from Iowa [Mr, Greex] abount it and have sug-
gested that we have at least four hours of general debate,
two hours on a side.

Mr. BANKHEAD. That is probably as much as a rule wonld
provide for.

Mr. GREEN of Towa. It is

Mr. FISH. Mr. Speaker, reserving the right to object, if
this bill is to come up on Thursday, you can not tell in advance
whether four hours will be sufficient. Shall we have an oppor-
tunity on Thursday to find out how much time will be
required by those who want to oppose the bill?

Mr. GARNER of Texas. If the bill is taken up on Thurs-
day under the general rules of the House and the gentleman
from New York decides that four hours is not sufficient, he
can object to four hours and ask that it be made five hours,
six hours, or seven hours as the case may be. I understand
that the gentleman from Connecticut is not now trying to set
the time for general debate?

Mr. TILSON. I am not including that in my request.

Mr. GARNER of Texas. The gentleman from Connecticut
is merely asking that this bill be considered under the general
riules of the House and is giving notice that the bill will be
taken up next Thursday morning.

Mr. FISH. I understand the situation, but I just wanted
to bring out that point that there might be those in opposition
to this bill who will require more time than could be given
to them in four hours. I appreciate the fact that there is a
unanimons report from the Committee on Ways and Means,
but I want to say that I would like at least half an hour in
opposition to the bill, and there may be others. If there are
others, four hours would not be enough, and that is the point
I wanted to develop in advance, so that when the bill is con-
sidered we shall have plenty of opportunity to discnss the bill,

Mr, TILSON. If my request is granted, before the House
goes into the Committee of the Whole on Thursday it can then
be determined what amount of debate is required.

Mr. BLANTON. And if the gentleman were to demand too
much time, he might be confronted with a rule that would
reduce it very much lower than what is being offered now.

Mr. FISH. I understand that very well, and I would much
rather have it come up in this way, but at the same time I want
the gentlemen to realize that this is important and there are
some of us who are opposed to it.

The SPEAKER. Is there objection to the request of the
gentleman from Connecticut?

There was no objection.

MESSBAGE FROM THE SENATE

A message from the Senate, by Mr. Craven, one of its clerks,
announced that the Senate had passed the following resolution
and bills of the following titles:

Senate Resolution 203

Resolved, That the Secretary of the Senate be, and he is hereby,
directed to return to the House of Representatives the enrolled bill
(8. 4480) providing for the extension of the time limitations under
which patents were issued In the case of persons who served in the
armed forces of the United States during the World War, together with
the engrossed bill, with the request that the Speaker of the House be
authorized to rescind his action in signing the enrolled bill; that in the
event such authority be granted, the House be, and it is hereby, respect-
fully requested to reconsider its vote on the passage of the bill and
return the engrossed bill to the Benate.

8. 452, An act for the relief of Richard Riggles; and

S.88%04. An act granting the consent of Congress to W. D.
Comer and Wesley Vandercook to construct, maintain, and
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operate a bridge across the Columbia River between Longview,
Wash., and Rainier, Oreg., in which the concurrence of th
House of Representatives was requested. :

BENATE BILL REFERRED

Senate bill of the following title was taken from the Speaker's
table and referred to the Commitfee on Claims:
8.452. An act for the relief of Richard Riggles,

ENROLLED BILLS SIGNED

Mr. CAMPRELL, from the Committee on Enrolled Bills,
reported that this day they presented to the President of the
United States, for his approval, the following bills:

H. 1. Res. 256. Relieving posts or camps of organizations com-
posed of honorably discharged soldiers, sailors, or marines from
liability on account of loss or destruction of obsolete rifles
loaned by the War Department ;

H. R.7930. For the relief of the Broad Brook Bank &
Trust Co.;

H. R.9232. For the relief of Isaae A. Chandler; and

H. R. 12393, To amend paragraphs 1 and 2 of section 26 of
the act of June 30, 1919, entitled “An act making appropria-
tions for the current and contingent expenses of the Bureau of
Indian Affairs, for fulfilling treaty stipulations with various
Indian tribes, and for other purposes, for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1920.”

ADJOURNMENT

Mr. CRAMTON. Mr. Speaker, I move that the House do now
adjourm.

The motion was agreed to; accordingly (at 5 o'clock and 19
minutes p, m.) the House adjourned until to-morrow, Tuesday,

December 14, 1926, at 12 o'clock noon.

COMMITTEE HEARINGS

Mr. TILSON submitted the following tentative list of com-
mittee hearings Tuesday, December 14, 1926, as reported to the
floor leader by clerks of the several committees:

COMMITTEE ON APPROPRIATIONS
(10.30 a. m.)

Independent offices: State, Justice, Commerce, and Labor
Departments appropriation bills.

(2 p. m.)
War Department appropriation bill,
COMMITTEE ON NAVAL AFFAIRS
(10.30 a. m.)
Comparative strength of the navies.

#,

REPORTS

OF COMMITTEES ON PUBLIC BILLS

RESOLUTIONR

Under clause 2 of Rule XIIL

Mr. MAGEE of New York: Committee on Appropriations.
H. R. 15008. A bill making appropriations for the Depart-
ment of Agriculture for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1928,
and for other purposes; without amendment (Rept. No. 1619).
Referred to the Committee of the Whole House on the state of
the Union,

AND

REPORTS OF COMMITTEES ON PRIVATE BILLS AND
RESOLUTIONS

Under clause 2 of Rule XIII.

Mr. WALTERS : Committee on Claims. H. R. 9063. A bill
for the relief of Marie Yvonne Gueguinou:; without amend-
ment (Rept, No. 1620). Referred to the Committee of the
Whole House.

CHANGE OF REFERENCE

Under clause 2 of Rule XXII, committees were discharged
from the consideration of the following bills, which were
referred as follows:

A bill (H. R. 4343) granting an increase of pension to
Harriett H. Rickenbacher; Committee on Invalid Pensions
discharged, and referred to the Committee on Pensions,

A bill (H. R. 4678) for the relief of Elizabeth Wooten ; Com-
mittee on War Claims discharged, and referred to the Com-
mittee on Claims.

A bill (H. R. 8558) granting a pension to Mary L. Thatch:
Committee on Invalid Pensions discharged, and referred to the
Commiftee on Pensions,

A Dbill (H. R. 11444) granting an Increase of pension to
Jennie I. Aldridge; Committee on Invalid Pensions discharged,
and referred to the Committee on Pensions.
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PUBLIC BILLS AND RESOLUTIONS

Under clause 3 of Rule XXII, public bills and resolutions
were introduced and severally referred as follows:

By Mr. MAGEE of New York: A bill (H. R. 15008) making
appropriations for the Department of Agriculture for the
fiscal year ending June 30, 1928, and for other purposes: com-
mitted to the Committee of the Whole House on the state of
the Union.

By Mr. GREEN of Towa: A hill (H. R. 15009) to provide for
the settlement of certain claims of American nationals against
Germany and of German nationals against the United States,
for the ultimate return of all property of German nationals
held by the Alien Property Custodian, and for the equitable
apportionment among all claimants of certain available funds;
to the Committee on Ways and Means.

By Mr. BYRNS: A bill (H. R. 15010) granting the consent
of Congress to the highway department of Davidson County,
Tenn., to construct a bridge across the Cumberland River; to
the Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce.

By Mr. DRIVER: A bill (H. R. 15011) granting the consent
of Congress to the Paragould-Hopkins Bridge Road improve-
ment district of Greene County, Ark.,, to construct a bridge
across the St. Francis River; to the Committee on Interstate
and Foreign Commerce.

By Mr. DYER: A bill (H. R. 15012) to amend the act entitled
“An act to extend the time for the completion of the municipal
bridge approaches, and extensions or additions thereto, by the
city of St. Louis, within the States of Illinois and Missouri,”
approved February 13, 1924; to the Committee on Interstate
and Foreign Commerce,

By Mr. ROY G. FITZGERALD: A bill (H. R. 15013) to
amend the act of July 3, 1926, granting pensions and increase
of pensions fo certain soldiers, sailors, and marines of the Civil
and Mexican Wars, and to certain widows of said soldiers,
sailors, and marines, and to widows of the War of 1812, and
Army nurses, and for other purposes; to the Committee on
Invalid Pensions.

By Mr. KING: A bill (H. R. 15014) granting the consent of
Congress to the city of Quincy, State of Illinois, its successors
and assigns, to construet and maintain and operate a bridge
across the Mississippi River; to the Committee on Interstate
ahd Foreign Commerce,

By Mrs. NORTON: A bill (H. R. 15015) granting pensions
and increase of pensions to widows and former widows of cer-
tain soldiers, sailors, and marines of the Civil War, and for
other purposes; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

By Mr. BRUMM : A bill (H. R. 15016) to authorize the pur-
chase of a post-office site at Tamaqua, Schuylkill County, Pa,,
subject to mineral reservations; to the Committee on Publie
Buildings and Grounds.

By Mr. McDUFFIE: A bill (H. R. 15017) granting the con-
sent of Congress to the St. Louis-San Franeisco Railway Co. to
construct, maintain, and operate a railroad bridge across the
Warrior River at or near Demopolis, Ala. ; to the Committee on
Interstate and Foreign Commerce,

By Mr. SINNOTT (departmental request): A bill (H. R.
15018) validating certain applications for and entries of public
lands; to the Committee on the Public Lands.

By Mr. SUMMERS of Washington: A bill (H. R. 15019)
authorizing and providing for the construeting of the Columbia
Basin irrigation project; to the Committee on Irrigation and
Reclamation.

By Mr. COCHRAN : A bill (H. R. 15020) to amend paragraph
1674 of the tariff act of 1922; to the Committee on Ways and
Means.

By Mr, HAYDEN: A bill (H, R. 15021) to authorize oil and
gas mining leases upon unallotted lands within Executive-order
Indian reservations; to the Committee on Indian Affairs.

By Mr. LAGUARDIA : Joint resolution (H. J, Res. 302) pro-
posing an amendment to the Constitution of the United States;
to the Committee on the Judiciary.

By Mr. O'CONNOR of Louisiana: Resolution (H. Res. 333)
providing for the consideration of H. R. 12931, to provide for the
malntaining, promoting, and advertising the International Trade
Exhibition ; to the Committee on Rules.

By Mr. LAGUARDIA : Resolution (H. Res. 334) requesting
the Department of State for certain information; to the Com-
mittee on Foreign Affairs.

PRIVATE BILLS AND RESOLUTIONS

Under clause 1 of Rule XXII, private bills and resolutions
were introduced and severally referred as follows:

By Mr. ALDRICH: A bill (H. R. 15022) granting an increase
of pension to Catherine McGovern; to the Committee on Invalid
Pensions,
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By Mr. ALLEN: A bill (. R. 15023) granting an increase of
pension to Jennie P', MeClanahan ; to the Committee on Invalid
Pensions.

By Mr. BEERS: A bill (H. R. 15024) granting an increase of
pension to Nancy Rohrback; to the Committee on Invalid
Pensions,

By Mr. BOWLES: A bill (H. R. 15025) granting an increase
of pension to Bridget M. Bolton; to the Committee on Invalid
Pensions.

By Mr, BRAND of Ohio: A bill (H. R. 15026) granting an
fncrease of pension to Lena Saxton; to the Committee on
Invalid Pensions,

Also, o bill (H. R. 15027) granting an increase of pension to
Maggie Morris; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15028) granting an increase of penslon to
Mary F. Robinson; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15028) granting an increase of pension to
Mary B. Bradeen; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Alse, a bill (H. R. 15030) granting an increase of pension to
Amanda J. Worrell; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H, R. 15031) granting an increase of pension to
Elizabeth Walters: to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15032) granting a pension to Mary Rus-
gell ; to the Committee on I'ensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15033) granting an increase of pension to
Sciota Barry; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions,

Also, a bill (H. R. 15034) granting an increase of pension to
Sarah B. Howard; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15035) granting an increase of pension to
Mand Hanna: to the Committee on Invalid Pensions,

Also, a bill (H. R. 15036) granting an increase of pension to
Martha Witt: to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15037) granting an increase of pension to
Jennie P. Alexander; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15038) granting an increase of pension to
Mary Jane Ream; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

By Mr. SWEET: A bill (H. R. 15030) granting an increase
of pension to Margaret S. Thayer; to the Committee on
Invalid Pensions.

By Mr. BRUMM: A bill (H. B. 15040) granting a pension to
Haitie @. Dickey: to the Committee on Pensions.

By Mr. CANFIELD: A bill (H. R. 15041) granting a pe
sion to Alexander Stevenson; to the Committee on Invall
I'ensions.

By Mr. COCHRAN: A bill (H. R. 15042) granting an in-
crease of pension to Mary Anderson; to the Committee on
Invalid Penslons,

By Mr. COOPER of Wisconsin: A bill (H. R. 15043) grant-
ing an increase of pension to Catherine L. Viney; to the Com-
mittee on Invalid Pensions. "

By Mr. DAVILA: A bill (H. R, 15044) for the relief of
Fernando Montilla; to the Committee on the Post Office and
Tost Roads.

By Mr. DAVENPORT: A bill (H. R. 15045) granting a pen-
gion to Eva Leotta Prime; to the Committee on Pensions.

By Mr. DICKINSON of Missouri: A bill (H. R. 15046)
granting an increase of pension to Cynthia Jane Currier; to
the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15047) granting a pension to Sarah M.
Dickinson : to the Committee on Invalid Pensions,

By Mr. DREWRY: A bill (H. R. 15048) providing for the
promotion of Lieut. Commander Richard E. Byrd, United States
Navy, retired, and awarding to him a congressional medal of
honor; to the Committee on Naval Affairs.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15049) providing for the promotion of
Floyd Bennett, aviation' pilot, the United States Navy, and
awarding to him a congressional medal of honor; to the Com-
mittee on Naval Affairs.

By Mr. FAUST: A bill (H. R. 15050) granting an increase
of pension to Sarah E. Malott; to the Committee on Invalid
Pensions.

By Mr. FLETCHER: A bill (H. R. 15051) granting a pen-
sion to Daisy A. Barnhart; to the Committee on Pensions.

By Mr, FUNK: A bill (H. R. 15052) for the relief of Frank
H. Little; to the Committee on Naval Affairs.

By Mr. FAIRCHILD: A bill (H. R. 15053) granting a pen-
gion to Harriet M. Lester; to the Committee on Invalid
Pensions.

By Mr. GIFFORD: A bill (H. R. 15054) granting a pension
to George 1. Luce; to the Commitiee on Pensions.

By Mr. GLYNN: A bill (H. R. 15055) granting an increase of
pension to Margaret A, Gaynor; to the Committee on Invalid
Pensions,

By Mr. HAUGEN: A bill (H. R. 15056) granting an increase
of pension to Hannah M. Bellows; to the Committee on Invalid
Pensions,
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Also, a hill (H. R. 15057) granting an increase of pension to
Lucy E. Kenyon ; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15058) granting an increase of pension to
Lounisa M, Peeper; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions,

Also, a bill (H. R. 15059) granting an increase of pension to
Carrie Sagen; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions,

By Mr. JOHNSON of Illinois: A bill (H. R. 15060) granting
an increase of pension to Elizabeth Close; to the Committee on
Invalid Penslons.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15061) granting an Increase of pension to
Elizabeth Graff; to the Committee on Invalid l'ensiong? i

Also, a bill (H. R. 15062) granting a pension to Jennie Buck:
to ;‘hehfonﬁtrgttee on Invalid Pensions, ’

¥ Mr. KEARNS: A bill (H. R. 15063) granting an increase
of pension to Lewvina Hoffer; to the Cnmm.ltteg on Invalid
Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15064) granting an increase of pension to
Mary Johnson ; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15065) granting an increase of pension to
Edward D. Warner; to the Committee on Pengions.

By Mr. KIEFNER: A bill (H. R. 15068) granting a peusion
to Jolm Shelton; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15067) granting a pension to Jacob Mas-
ters; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions. .

Also, a bill (H. R. 15068) granting a pension to Anthony
Shell ; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15069) granting a pension to Eli Lutes; to
the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15070) granting a pension to Neheniiah R.
Ray; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions,

fxlao- a bill (H. R. 15071) granting a pension to Benjamin F,
Winters ; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions,

Also, a bill (H. R. 15072) granting a pension to Thomas
Kinder; to the Commtitee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R, 15073) granting a pension fo Claiborn D,
Richards; to the Committee on Invalid Pensious.

By Mr. KNUTSON: A bill (H, R. 15074) granting a pension
to Mary Fenske; to the Committee on Pensions.

'By Mr. LONGWORTH: A bill (H. R. 15075) granting a pen-
s;on to Carrie P. Spencer; to the Committee on Invalid Pen-
sions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15076) granting an increase of pension to
Hannah Schuler ; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions,

By Mr. LUCE: A bill (H. R. 15077) for the relief of James
Henry Payne; to the Committee on Military Affairs.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15078) to refund to Harold R. Keller
income tax erroneously and illegally collected; to the Com-
mittee on Claimns.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15079) for the relief of William Mark
ﬁt&bl.e, jr.; to the Committee on World War Velerans' Legis-

on.

By Mr. CHALMERS: A bill (H, R. 15080) granting a pen-
sion to Aristeen Arnold; to the Commitiee on Invalid Pensions.

By Mr. MONTAGUE: A bill (H. R. 15081) to extend the
benefits of the World War veterans’ act, 1924, and acts amenda-
tory therecf, to Thomas Beverly Campbell; to the Committee
on World War Veterans' Legislation.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15082) granting an increase of pen-
s!on to Laura H. Marshall; to the Committee on Invalid Pen-
sions.

By Mr. MOREHEAD: A bill (H. R. 15083) granting an in-
crease of pension to Francis H, P. Showalter; to the Commit-
tee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15084) granting a pension to Rosa E.
Postel ; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

By Mr. MORGAN: A bill (H. R, 15085) granting a peusion
to Clifton E. Lime ; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

By Mr. MURPHY: A bill (H. R. 15086) granting an in-
erease of pension to Harriet J. Cale; to the Committee on
Invalid Pensions,

By Mr. NELSON of Maine: A bill (H. R. 15087) granting an
increase of pension to Catherine M. Brown; to the Committee
on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15088) granting an increase of pension to
Alice M, Hassell; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15089) granting an increase of pension to
Lizzie Meader; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15090) granting an increase of pension to
Lottie L. Noble; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions,

Also, a bill (H. R. 15091) granting an increase of pension to
Abbie J. Over: to the Committee on Invalid Pensions,

Also, a bill (H. R. 15092) granting an increase of pension to
Wallace W. Stewart; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, & bill (H. R. 15093) granting an increase of pension to
Alice M, Whitten; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.
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Also, a bill (H. R. 15094) granting an increase of pension to
Lounise M. Wood ; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

By Mr. PATTERSON: A bill (H. R. 15095) granting an
increase of pension to Mary E. Breyer; to the Committee on
Invalid Pensions.

By Mr. PHILLIPS: A bill (H, R. 15006) for the relief of
Albert Power; to the Committee on Claims.

By Mr. RAMSEYER: A bill (H., R. 15097) granting an in-
crease of pension to Naney E. Hazlewood ; to the Committee on
Invalid Pensions.

By Mr. SEARS of Florida: A hill (I, R. 15098) granting an |

increase of pension to Nancy A, Shields; to the Committee on
Invalid Pensions.

By Mr. SNELL: A bill (H. R. 15009) granting an increase
of pension to Isabelle D. Vrooman ; to the Committee on Invalid
Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15100) granting an increase of pension to |

Jane A. Shampine: to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15101) granting an increase of pension to
Mary J. Langlois; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

By Mr., SUMMERS of Washington: A bill (H. R. 15102)

granting an increase of pension to Alice Jones:; to the Com- |

mittee on Invalid Pensions.
By Mr. TAYLOR of Colorado: A bill (H. R. 15103) granting

an increase of pension to Mary Miller; to the Committee on |

Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15104) granting an increase of pension to
Belle Cannen ; to the Committee on Pensions.

By Mr. THOMASN: A bill (. R. 15105) granting an increase
of peusion to Eliza 1. Hastings; to the Committee on Invalid
Pensions,

By Mr. TIMBERLAKE: A bill (H, R. 15106) granting a pen-
sion to Anna M. E. Spotts; to the Committee on Invalid
’ensions,

By Mr. TREADWAY: A bill (H. R. 15107) granting an in-
crease of pension to Mary J, Curtin; to the Committee on In-
valid Pensions.

By Mr. UNDERHILL: A bill (H. R. 15108) for the relief of
Capt. Eilis E. Haring and E. F. Batchelor; to the Committee
on Claims.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15109) granting an increase of pension to
Mary E. Learned ; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions,

By Mr. VINCENT of Michigan: A bill (H. R. 15110) grant-
ing a pension to Leona Secott; to the Committee on Invalid
Pensions,

By Mr. WELCH of California: A bill (H. R. 15111) for the
relief of Rawley Clay Allen; to the Committee on Naval
Affairs.

By Mr. WILLIAMSON: A bill (H. R. 15112) granting an in-
crease of pension to Nora Furey; to the Committee on Pensions,

By Mr. WOLVERTON: A bill (H. R. 15113) granting an
increase of pension to Mary P. Crawford; to the Committee on
Invalid Pensions,

By Mr. WOODRUFF: A bill (H. R. 15114) granting a pen-
gion to Bert E. Corbett; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15115) granting an increase of pension to
Niuney E. Davis; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

Also, a bill (H. R. 15116) granting an increase of pension to

Annie Kehoe ; to the Committee on Invalid Pensions.

By Mr. WRIGHT : A bill (H. R. 15117) granting a pension to
Monroe €, Burdeshaw ; to the Committee on Pensions.

By Mr. JOHNSON of Illinois: Resolution (H. Res. 330) an-
thorizing payment of six months’ salary and funeral expenses
to Josephine Antoine, on account of the death of Julius Antoine,
late employee of the House of Representatives; to the Com-
mittee on Accounts.

By Mr. BEEDY : Resolution (H. Res. 331) appointing a clerk
to the Committee on Mileage: to the Committee on Accounts.

By Mr. CAMPBELL: Resolution (H. Res. 332) appointing
an sssistant clerk to the Enrolled Bills Committee; to the Com-
mittee on Accounts.

PETITIONS, ETC.

TUnder clause 1 of Rule XXII, petitions and papers were laid
on the Clerk’s desk and referred as follows:

4328, By Mr. DICKINSON of Missouri: Petition against com-
pulsory Sunday observance bills (H. R. 7179 and 7822) ; to the
Committee on the District of Columbia.

4320, By Mr. W. T. FITZGERALD : Memorial of 300 mem-
bers of the Alturian Club, Troy, Ohio, indorsing the Sheppard-
Towner bill, and requesting that the new appropriation be
passed ; to the Committee on Appropriations,

4330. By Mr, GALLIVAN : Petition of American Federation |

of Labor, William Green, president, American Federation of
LXVITI—27
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| Labor Building, Washington, D, C.,, recommending early and
| favorable consideration of House hill 9408, which provides eom-
pensation for employees injured and dependents of employees
killed in eertain maritime employment, and that such compen-
sation shall be paid by the United States Employees’ Compen-
sation Commission ; to the Committee on the Judiciary.
4331. By Mr. KEARNS: Petition against ecompulsory Sunday
| observance ; to the Committee on the District of Columbia,

4332, By AMr. O'CONNELL of Rhode Island (by request) :
Petition of certain bond owners, stockholders, and creditors of
the Alabama & New Orleans Transportation Co., requesting a
| hearing and other relief in the case of Harriet H. Gallagher,
petitioner, . Alabama & New Orleans Transportation Co., a
corporation, defendant, now pending in the United States Dis-
trict Court for the District of Massachusetts; to the Committee
on the Judiciary.

4333. By Mr. O'CONNELL of New York: Pelition of Lient.
i Col. Fred M. Waterbury. State ordnance officer, New York Na-

tional Guard, favoring marksmanship matches for 1927, and

al=o an appropriation of not less than $200,000 for the United
| States to carry en with their support of civilian rifle clubs
thronghout the United States made necessary now that the war
| stock ammunition is exhansted:; to the Committee on Military
| Affairs.

4334. Also, petition of Hon, John C. McKenzie, of Elizabeth,
I1L, expressing his earnest hope that the present Congress will
enact proper legislation for the leasing of Muscle Shoals; to
the Committee on Military Affairs.

4335, Also, petition of the National Committee of One Hun-
dred, favoring the passage of House bill 10433 and Senate bill
3580 ; to the Committee on Agriculture.

4336. Also, petition of the American Drug Manufacturers'
Association, favoring the passage of House bill 8997, parcel post
with Cuba ; to the Committee on Ways and Means.

4337. Also, petition of the American Drug Manufacturers'
Assoeiation, that the Congress of the United States be urged
to reduce at the forthecoming session the increased burden of
taxation placed upon corporations by the revenue act of 1926;
to the Committee on Ways and Means.

4338. Also, petition of Sons of Norway, District Lodge No. 2,
Tacoma, Wash., that Congress rescind the portion of section 11
of the immigration law providing for the revision of quotas to
take effect July 1, 1927, and that the present quota distribu-
tion, based on the census of 1890, be retained ; to the Committee
on Immigration and Naturalization.

4339. By Mr. TINCHER : Petition of sundry citizens of St
John, Kans., urging the enactment of legislation granting in-
creased pensions to Indian wars veterans, their widows, and de-
pendents: to the Committee on Pensions.

SENATE ¢
Tuorspay, December 14, 1926

The Chaplain, Rev. J. J. Muir, D. D., offered the following
prayer:

Our Father, we thank Thee for the sunlight of the morning,
and we do ask Thee that we mnay realize the brightness of Thy
presence in each heart to-day. May we not look upon life as

- a disappointment, but look upon it rather as a grand.oppor-
| tunity for service. So help uns, we beseech of Thee, to live
and love and serve, and always with an eye single to Thy glory
and the advancement of human good. We ask in Jesus' name,
Amen,

The Chief Clerk proceeded to read the Journal of yes-
terday’'s proceedings when, on request of Mr, Curtis and by
unanimons consent, the further reading was dispensed with
and the Journal was approved.

MESSAGE FROM THE HOUSE

A message from the Honse of Representatives, by Mr. Chaf-
fee, one of its clerks, announced that the House had disagreed
to the amendments of the Senate to the bill (H. R. 12316) to
amend the Panama Canal act and other laws applicable to
the Canal Zone, and for other purposes, requested a confer-
ence with the Senate on the disagreeing votes of the two
Houses thereon, and that Mr. Pagxer, Mr. Denisoy, and Mr,
BARKLEY were appointed managers on the part of the House at
the conference.

CALL OF THE ROLL

Mr. CURTIS. Mr. President, I suggest the absence of a
(quornin.
The VICE PRESIDENT. The clerk will eall the roll.
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